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DAY 4 – 21 January 20`6 

 

  [9.32 am] 

 

SJH:   Yes, thank you, good morning. 5 

 

 Just one matter I omitted to mention at the close yesterday is that there 

is an awful lot of pressure on the second week of this hearing so we 

have brought some matters forward to Friday afternoon and Monday 

afternoon.  That schedule I think has been discussed with the Council, 10 

Mr Conway, and we are grateful for your cooperation in relation to that 

and the Council’s cooperation and it is posted on the website. 

 

MR CONWAY:   Thank you, sir. 

 15 

SJH:   Thank you.  Now, Ms Harnett, come forward to a microphone.  You are 

wishing to speak to your submission? 

 

MS HARNETT:   Yes, that is right, thank you. 

 20 

SJH:   Yes, all right, well, just when you are ready you start, just stand for me 

please, and just speak into the microphone so we get it all on the 

transcript please. 
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<SARAH HARNETT [9.33 am] 
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MS HARNETT:   My name is Sarah Harnett and my family live at 173 Pound 

Road adjoining the Templeton Golf Course.  I was a submitter on the 

previous hearing relating to Fulton Hogan’s proposal for a land swap 

with the TGC.  That evidence is also relevant to this hearing. 

 5 

 The provisions sought by Fulton Hogan are another step on the path 

towards the golf course becoming a quarry.  If the rezoning of the golf 

course and quarry is approved it seems inevitable that the protected 

trees and ecological biodiversity will have to be removed because their 

ongoing retention is inconsistent with the objective of quarrying the 10 

land. On that basis restricted discretionary activity status is 

meaningless.   

 

  [9.35 am] 

 15 

 The reasons why vegetation clearance within an SES is a non-

complying activity is to reflect the values and status of those sites.  

There are no other SES sites anywhere near the Templeton Golf Course 

because of the adverse effects of other activities such as quarrying, 

farming and development.  It has been described by the various 20 

ecologists as an island or lifeboat for the indigenous vegetation within 

the low plains ecological district, an acutely threatened land 

environment where far less than 10 percent of indigenous land cover 

remains.  This is because of the distance between McLeans Island and 

the Templeton Golf Club in the event of any natural disaster. 25 

 

 The Templeton Golf has been a recreational reserve since about 1915 

and it is no doubt because the land has been used in this way that the 

biodiversity values now present have been allowed to flourish despite 

the lack of knowledge of the various greenkeepers. 30 

 

 The inclusion of net loss into policy 9.1.1.1.2 facilitates the potential 

loss of SES values by introducing the concept of offsetting into the 

management provisions.  Because the land adjoining our property has a 

recreational reserve status we have a higher expectation of amenity 35 

than if we were adjoining another rural zone land parcel and the 

existence of the golf club reserve was one of the attributes that led to us 

securing the land. 

 

 The contrast between a golf course and a quarry with all the associated 40 

activities could not be more extreme.  One involves a passive 

recreational activity on land that has high visual appeal in terms of 

openness and green planting and the other can only be described as an 

industrial like nuisance.  We seek these provisions are rejected, thank 

you. 45 
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SJH:   Thank you.  Well, as you will appreciate, Ms Dawson and myself at 

least heard a number of your other concerns in the rural hearing but I 

will just see if the Panel have any questions of you.  Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   No, thank you and I appreciate that you have spoken to us 5 

before, thank you very much, Ms Harnett. 

 

SJH:   Dr Mitchell? 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Just one question of clarification, your property, well, it on 10 

the map here, it is immediately to the south of the golf course, isn’t it, 

they are your northern neighbour. 

 

MS HARNETT:   Yes, that is right. 

 15 

DR MITCHELL:   Thank you.  That is all, sir. 

 

SJH:   Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   No, thank you, sir. 20 

 

SJH:   Judge? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, thank you, sir. 

 25 

SJH:   Thank you very much, Ms Harnett.  Mr Conway? 

 

<SARAH HARNETT WITHDREW [9.38 am] 

 

MR CONWAY:   Thank you, sir.  Now we are moving onto topic 9.2 and we 30 

are going to start with Ms Hogan’s evidence so I call Ms Hogan in 

relation to the rural provisions that are being heard with this chapter. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 

35 
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<DEBORAH JANE HOGAN, affirmed [9.38 am] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR CONWAY [9.39 am] 

 

MR CONWAY:    Would you please confirm for the Panel your full name is 

Deborah Jane Hogan? 

 5 

MS HOGAN:   Yes, it is. 

 

MR CONWAY:   And in relation to this aspect of the hearing you have 

prepared two statements of evidence, one dated 2 December 2015 and 

the other 18 December 2015? 10 

 

MS HOGAN:   Yes, I have. 

 

MR CONWAY:   And those refer to your previous evidence about your 

experience and qualifications? 15 

 

MS HOGAN:   Yes, they do. 

 

MR CONWAY:   And can you please confirm that the evidence is true and 

correct? 20 

 

MS HOGAN:   Yes, it is. 

 

MR CONWAY:   And you have prepared a highlights package? 

 25 

MS HOGAN:   I have a very brief one, yes. 

 

  [9.40 am] 

 

MR CONWAY:  Would you please read that out. 30 

 

MS HOGAN:   Good morning.  I have been rural chapter lead since February 

2014.  My evidence outlines that stage 3 of the rural proposal is 

focused firstly on the Rural Banks Peninsula zone and its links with 

proposal 9 and, secondly, on the links between the relevant rural zones 35 

and the coastal environment in proposal 19.   

 

 The rural proposal involves the inclusion of three new built form 

standards and relevant matters of discretion for the Rural Banks 

Peninsula zone relating to the proximity of buildings and structures, to 40 

identified important ridgelines and to landscape buffers and also 

includes rules relating to building reflectivity.  These provisions are 

related to the identification of landscapes and features through 

proposal 9.  It also involves the inclusion of relevant matters of 

discretion for assessing consents within the coastal environment.  This 45 
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is reliant on the identification of the coastal environment through 

proposal 19. 

 

 The provisions within the stage 3 rural proposal reflect those currently 

within the operative Banks Peninsula District Plan and provide for 5 

management of the effects of buildings on the landscape and visual 

amenity values of Banks Peninsula rural area where they occur within 

the rural amenity landscape. These provisions along with those 

considered in stage 2 will achieve the rural policy framework, 

particularly policy 6 which relates to Rural Banks Peninsula, and the 10 

rural objective. 

 

 My evidence outlines that the majority of submission points have been 

resolved.  Changes made to the revised proposal include replacement of 

the matters of discretion within chapter 17 with cross-referencing to 15 

those relevant matters in proposal 9; the inclusion of Ngāi Tahu sites of 

cultural significance within the landscape buffer rule and any relevant 

matters of discretion; clarification that any building in an identified 

building area approved through subdivision does not need to meet the 

landscape buffer rule within the rural chapter and, finally, inclusion of 20 

a built form standard for a minimum building setback from mean high 

water springs. 

 

 In response to the relief sought by the Crown relevant matters of 

discretion have been removed from the rural proposal and replaced 25 

with cross-referencing to those relevant matters in proposal 9 to 

improve usability of the plan and reduce duplication.  A similar 

approach is recommended in relation to the matters of discretion for 

Ngāi Tahu sites of cultural significance and the coastal environment.   

 30 

 At this stage placeholders have been included for these two matters as 

they are dependent on the outcomes for proposals 9 and 19 as to the 

final rule references and the relevance of these matters of discretion.  It 

may be necessary to revisit the cross-referencing depending on the final 

format of those proposals. 35 

 

 Overall I consider that the stage 3 revised rural proposal is appropriate 

to achieve the rural objective strategic directions and meet the relevant 

statutory tests.  

 40 

 In terms of the statement of expectation there has been a reduction in 

duplication resulting in further improvements to plan integration, thank 

you. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Ms Hogan. 45 
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MR CONWAY:   Sorry, sir, I just want to raise one quick matter just by way of 

completeness. 

 

SJH:   Yes. 

 5 

MR CONWAY:   I have realised that there is one change to or one additional 

built form standard that is raised in Ms Hogan’s evidence for which the 

issue in the statement of issues was originally assigned to the 

chapter 19 hearing and, as referred to in Ms Hogan’s highlight package, 

that has been added to this proposal through the mediation on this 10 

proposal. 

 

SJH:   Right. 

 

MR CONWAY:   I just want to raise that in case it was a matter that you - - - 15 

 

SJH:   Okay, well, that it has got it on the record and clarifies the position, 

thank you, Mr Conway. 

 

MR CONWAY:   Thank you, sir. 20 

 

SJH:   Mr Radich? 

 

MR RADICH:   Thank you, sir, the matters between the Crown and the 

Council are fully resolved now in this proposal and so I have no 25 

questions, thank you. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Mr Radich.  Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   No, I have no questions for you this time, Ms Hogan, thank 30 

you. 

 

SJH:   Dr Mitchell? 

 

DR MITCHELL:   No, I have no questions either, thank you. 35 

 

SJH:   Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   No, thank you, sir. 

 40 

SJH:   Judge? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Neither me, thank you. 

 

SJH:   Clean slate, a bit easier than the last time around.  Thank you, you may 45 

stand down. 
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MS HOGAN:   Thank you. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [9.44 am] 

 5 

SJH:   Yes, Mr Conway? 

 

MR CONWAY:   Thank you, sir, I call Ms Pfluger. 
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<YVONNE PFLUGER, sworn [9.45 am] 



 Page 548 

  

Ch9: Natural and Cultural Heritage Commenced 18.01.16 

<EXAMINATION BY MR CONWAY [9.45 am] 

 

MR CONWAY:   Good morning, Ms Pfluger. 

 

MS PFLUGER:   Good morning. 5 

 

MR CONWAY:   Could you please confirm for the record your full name is 

Yvonne Pfluger? 

 

MS PFLUGER:   That is correct. 10 

 

MR CONWAY:   And you have prepared two statements of evidence 

2 December 2015 and 18 December 2015? 

 

MS PFLUGER:   That is correct. 15 

 

MR CONWAY:   And those set out your qualifications and experience? 

 

MS PFLUGER:   Yes. 

 20 

MR CONWAY:   Do you have any corrections to make to that evidence? 

 

MS PFLUGER:   No, I don’t, thank you. 

 

MR CONWAY:   Could you please confirm it is true and correct? 25 

 

MS PFLUGER:   Yes, it is. 

 

MR CONWAY:   Now could you please read out your highlights package and 

then remain for any questions. 30 

 

MS PFLUGER:   Yes.  In 2006/2007 I was engaged as part of a Boffa Miskell 

team by Christchurch City Council to prepare the Banks Peninsula 

Landscape Study.  I have also provided expert evidence at the 

Environment Court hearing on site specific issues in relation to this 35 

landscape study. 

 

 In 2014 the Council commissioned Boffa Miskell to prepare a 

landscape study for Christchurch City in an addendum report for Banks 

Peninsula for which I am the key author with cultural input from my 40 

colleague Craig Pauling.  

 

 After the preparation of the landscape studies I was engaged by the 

Council to respond to landowners’ requests relating to landscape 

overlays during the notification period, review of submissions and to 45 

provide independent expert landscape evidence.  In this role I am 
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primarily responsible for assessing and identifying the landscapes that 

warrant landscape overlays within the Christchurch district which 

includes the city and Banks Peninsula.  This has involved undertaking 

site specific evaluations to supplement my earlier analysis and to 

analyse the particular issues raised in submissions.  In terms of issues 5 

addressed in my evidence I was focusing on those relating to the 

mapping of overlays.   

 

 Firstly my evidence sets out briefly the methodology applied in the 

relevant Boffa Miskell landscape studies followed by some rare (ph 10 

2.29) findings.  The key sections of the RMA that have been addressed 

in the landscape studies relate to the natural character of the coastal 

environment section 6A, outstanding natural features and landscapes 

section 6B and landscapes which contribute to visual amenity section 

7C. 15 

 

 Section 6B regarding outstanding natural features and landscapes was 

the main focus of the assessment at a district scale while section 6A 

and the New Zealand Coastal Policy Statement guided the assessment 

of natural character in the coastal environment. 20 

 

 For Banks Peninsula I undertook as part of the CRDP process a review 

of the 2007 study and the findings of this review are outlined in the 

Banks Peninsula addendum report.  The same methodology was 

applied for assessment of these areas as in the original study and the 25 

review of areas that were outside the 2007 Environment Court appeal 

was undertaken.  None of the changes to ONLs were major, generally 

reflecting changes to the landscape which have occurred since 2007, 

mostly in relation to land use and developments such as residential 

subdivision or changes to vegetation, such as the expansion or 30 

reduction of indigenous vegetation or changes to forestry areas for 

example. 

 

 As required by the NZCPS the coastal natural character landscapes 

from the 2007 study were categorised into areas of at least high natural 35 

character which included those of high or very high natural character 

and those of outstanding natural character for areas with the highest 

levels of natural character.    

 

 Parts of the coastal environment that provide lower than high natural 40 

character are referred to as areas of natural character in the coastal 

environment.  This identification does not apply to urban and 

settlement areas as it was recognised this would be inconsistent with 

the zoning of those areas and policies enabling development.   

 45 
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 In the Christchurch landscape study the assessment of these landscape 

and natural character areas was undertaken as a completely new 

process as these areas were not identified for the city in the past.  The 

factors that were considered under the landscape and natural character 

assessment are however the same as for Banks Peninsula and results 5 

are therefore comparable. 

 

 Landscape related issues.  A number of landscape related issues were 

identified in the statement of issues.  I have worked with planner, 

Mrs Ferguson, to resolve the majority of these issues through informal 10 

mediation with submitters.   

 

  [9.50 am] 

 

 I was not responsible for drafting of these provisions, only for 15 

providing the necessary advice as to the impact on the landscape values 

identified in the landscape studies Boffa Miskell prepared. 

 

 Finally, I address site specific submissions in my evidence.  I continue 

to stand by the findings relating to the landscapes and features 20 

recommended for protection under RMA section 6(c) and 7(c) and 

under the Coastal Policy Statement as identified in the records.  I can 

confirm that only very limited small scale amendments have been made 

to these areas in response to site specific submissions.  The 

recommendations I have made for amendments in relation to the site 25 

specific reliefs are generally based on onsite findings and in some 

instances review of aerial photography.   

 

 The majority of site specific requests related to amendments of 

landscape or coastal and natural character overlays on submitters’ 30 

properties, apart from two submissions where community groups 

requested additional overlays on properties outside the ownership.  

Within Christchurch, a number of submissions related to the REL and 

ONL overlays on the Port Hills where eight requests could be resolved 

with small mapping amendments based on onsite findings. 35 

 

 For the remaining three properties on the Port Hills I recommend no 

changes to the notified overlays. 

 

 For the remainder of Christchurch only three submissions were 40 

received with two resulting in minor amendments to overlays as 

requested following site visits and one recommendation to maintain the 

overlay.  For Banks Peninsula, I divided submissions spatially into 

those concerning Lyttelton Harbour and the remainder of the Peninsula.   

 45 
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 Within Lyttelton Harbour, the two abovementioned community group 

submissions requested identification of a number of additional areas 

with coastal natural character overlays.  Out of these requests I consider 

the addition of the coastal edge of Purau Headland as appropriate due 

to the high ecological value and relative intactness but did not consider 5 

the other areas to reach necessary threshold in terms of natural 

character.   

 

 Three other submissions within the harbour could be resolved with 

small amendments based on site investigations and zoning boundary 10 

reviews, while the recommended maintaining the ONL overlay for one 

property as notified. 

 

 For the remainder of Banks Peninsula, some submissions related to 

clarifications relating to overlays.  In addition, two submissions could 15 

be resolved while the recommended maintaining the overlays on two 

submitters’ properties based on previous onsite findings 

 

 I note that general agreement was reached with landscape architects 

representing site specifics of matters and expert conferencing as 20 

documented in the full relevant conferencing statements.  Further 

agreement was reached on some site specific requests in mediation 

subsequently as outlined in my rebuttal.  Thank you. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Nichol? 25 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS NICHOL [9.53 am] 

 

MS NICHOL:   Ms Pfluger, you have confirmed in your rebuttal evidence at 

paragraph 3.1.8 that you accept that smaller scale electricity 30 

distribution lines are a common and accepted element or rural 

landscapes, is that correct? 

 

MS PFLUGER:   That is correct. 

 35 

MS NICHOL:   However, in your rebuttal evidence you did not recommend 

permitted activity status for new distribution lines and support 

structures.  Have you changed this view in light of further discussions 

with Orion? 

 40 

MS PFLUGER:   I want to update the Panel that we are still in discussions at 

the moment.  We have had emails till late last night but I will give my 

opinion on it based on what we have discussed so far. 

 

 So, in my opinion, and it is possibly worth looking at my rebuttal 45 

evidence, figure 2, which is a photograph that shows two types of 
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distribution lines, I guess, at different heights so I consider that the 

distribution lines shown on the left which are the small monopole 

wooden structures, a totally expected element of the rural landscape 

and I have no problem with those being permitted activities. 

 5 

 So I guess the discussions that I have had with Orion subsequently to 

preparing my rebuttal was what would be an appropriate maximum 

height that would still appear in character with the rural environment 

and be at kind of human scale but people would not necessarily even 

notice them so we had a meeting with Orion and it was very helpful 10 

because they outlined a) the requirements and the kind of risk 

associated and I understand that Bank Peninsula is, at the moment, 

fully provided with the power that they need and it is mainly 

connections to private houses that are needed and he described in 

which instances they would require higher poles. 15 

 

  [9.55 am] 

 

 And just for the Panel, to explain, especially where there is terrain 

variation. It is only on high points that would require shorter poles 20 

because it is quite easy to clear those high points but if there is a dip in 

the terrain, they often require a higher pole and that would enable them 

to have fewer poles rather than following the terrain with a lot of little 

poles to connect one taller pole and have a longer span width across 

that terrain.  So I can see the benefit of having the occasional higher 25 

pole where that is needed to reduce the number of poles, to have the 

wider span width. 

 

 So we have emailed back and forth regarding the requirements and my 

initial request was to have poles of about 15 metres height so they have 30 

proposed  a rule and I do not know if you have got there if you want to 

discuss this in any detail and so I have received this as an email from 

Ms Lemon from the Resource Management Group, on 

Tuesday,19 January at 10.26 am, and it provides as a maximum height 

a 22 metre structure but they are proposing to have an average height 35 

over 10 consecutive distribution poles which would be 60 metres. 

 

 So, from my perspective, I did question why it would be a 22 metre 

maximum height, which seems quite high, but they explained that that 

is one of their standard pole heights that they would use.  That is the 40 

maximum pole height and they would only need to use that as a kind of 

one off in that sequence of 10. 

 

 In summary, I am supportive of that rule; that would be acceptable. 

 45 

SJH:   So after all of that, your answer is yes? 
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MS PFLUGER:   Yes. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 5 

MS NICHOL:   No further questions. 

 

SJH:   Ms Dawson. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, Ms Pfluger.  I have a few questions.  Sorry, I just 10 

have to gather my thoughts here. 

 

 When looking back at the 2007 Banks Peninsula process and the Court 

initiated process that ended up with the Court outcomes that went into 

the plan, apart from the natural character classification, do you consider 15 

that there are generally no surprises, in other words, no major changes 

that the community would see between the outcomes for 

Banks Peninsula in terms of your mapping to now? 

 

 In other words; would the community still see the attempt of the 20 

previous process being incorporated? 

 

MS PFLUGER:   Yes, absolutely. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And does that also include the identification of the RAL, the 25 

Rural Amenity Landscape, which some of the submitters have sought 

be reinstated? 

 

MS PFLUGER:   Yes, that is correct. 

 30 

MS DAWSON:  Yes, all right, now just turning to the natural character areas 

and the NCCE, I think the Natural Character of the Coastal 

Environment areas. 

 

 I am interested in the naming of this area because I find it confusing 35 

because given natural character is a continuum, I think you have said, 

from very extremely high pristine, to just some elements of natural 

character remaining; does natural character in the coastal environment 

also apply to the outstanding and high natural character areas? 

 40 

 In other words, are really the NCCE areas low to moderate, I think you 

have said in your evidence.  In other words, they have all got natural 

character? 

 

MS PFLUGER:   Probably less than high would be the most. 45 
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MS DAWSON:   Less than high, yes. 

 

MS PFLUGER:   Yes, would be the most precise description because it could 

be moderate to highest then. 

 5 

MS DAWSON:   Highest, yes.  So less than high are the ones that are called 

NCCE? 

 

MS PFLUGER:   That is correct. 

 10 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, because sometimes it is used more generically, the areas 

of natural character on the coastal environment so if that word was used 

generically and with other words instead of being with the overlay, it 

would also apply to the very high and outstanding areas. 

 15 

  [10.00 am] 

 

MS PFLUGER:   I acknowledge it could be confusing, yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes.  Now the next thing is, when we are looking at 20 

particularly natural character and the coastal environment but also the 

implications for outstanding landscapes and significant ecological 

areas, the question of what is the coastal environment seems to be 

important and we need to look at those both together. 

 25 

 Can you tell me, or tell the Panel, about the mapping of the coastal 

environment line and how we that inter-relates with the mapping of the 

natural character areas for example? 

 

MS PFLUGER:   Yes, so you want me to talk about the process, how it was 30 

identified? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Well just, can we be satisfied that there is good coincidence 

between the mapping of the coastal environment and those areas of, 

say, natural character or outstanding or landscapes that we need to 35 

consider as being within the coastal environment. 

 

MS PFLUGER:   Yes, so I have not undertaken that mapping of the coastal 

environment myself, that was done as a workshop process.  I have 

previously identified coastal environment on the regional level and it is 40 

quite similar.  If you look in detail there are small differences but in 

general it is quite similar, in general, I think the coastal environment is 

identified in about the right area.  I think it could be done more 

precisely on a site to site basis but I think in general it is about the right 

area and I can also confirm that the previous coastal natural character 45 

areas from the 2007 study were all within that coastal environment so 
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we did not have to reduce them to fit the coastal environment.  So in 

that sense I think it can be supported as it is where it is. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, so you have not had to reduce those old natural 

areas to meet - - - 5 

 

MS PFLUGER:   No. 

 

MS DAWSON:  - - - and similarly, are there gaps where the coastal 

environment line has been mapped but the overlays do not assess the 10 

natural character of those areas?  I mean other than in urban areas, of 

course? 

 

MS PFLUGER:   Those are the areas that now fall into what is called the 

NCCEs. 15 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right. 

 

MS PFLUGER:   Yes. 

 20 

MS DAWSON:   So it has been mapped but at that lower, less than high level? 

 

MS PFLUGER:   That is right, because when we undertook the mapping of the 

coastal natural character landscapes in 2007 we did not have an upper 

limit as a coastal environment, so the existence of the coastal 25 

environment line now in the plan has not influenced that mapping of 

those areas so I still consider them to be in the right place in the upper 

limit as well. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you.  Just three specific, site specific matters.  30 

You have talked to us in your highlights about your response to the 

community board proposals relating to Lyttelton Harbour and Quail 

Island and we have had submissions from those community boards 

about how the technical assessment of natural character does not appear 

to align with the community’s values of natural character. 35 

 

 So can you explain to us how in terms of natural character and also 

landscape, because I think you have said some of those areas are 

considered to be outstanding or significant landscapes but you have not 

put them into the natural character overlay.  Can you explain to us how 40 

you take into account or do not take into account the community’s 

values in those assessments? 

 

MS PFLUGER:   So I consider, and I have attended a workshop that DOC has 

run recently about the NCCEs implementation and natural character 45 

assessment and there were a number of experts, both ecologists and 
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landscape architects there, and I think our conclusion was that natural 

character assessment requires a certain level of knowledge about 

natural elements, patterns and processes. 

 

 There are various aspects to natural character and I think, so there is 5 

abiotic, biotic and the experiential attributes and I think a layperson 

would be most suited to understand the experiential attributes but in my 

opinion it is necessary to know about those abiotic and biotic processes 

in order to assess them correctly. 

 10 

  [10.05 am] 

 

 So I think this may be where there is potentially a difference between a 

layperson – which I assume would be the community – and an expert, 

and I have also taken into account ecologists’ opinions on those natural 15 

character assessments because they did not form my biotic assessment, 

for example. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So I think you have given a diagram in your rebuttal about, 

so where a community’s perceptions of naturalness is one aspect to be 20 

considered and when you have laid that alongside the experts’, overall 

your opinion has been for some of these areas that did not reach the 

threshold, I think you said? 

 

MS PFLUGER:   Yes, that is correct. 25 

 

MS DAWSON:   Is that how you have gone about it? 

 

MS PFLUGER:   Yes, I would say that we did not take specifically community 

opinion into account but experiential attributes I would assume that the 30 

community can assess those quite accurately. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes.  Now could you inform us with any progress about 

Mrs Clinton’s property?  Because we have heard from Mrs Clinton in 

other hearings and it would be interesting to hear where you have got to 35 

because I understand you are still having dialogue with her? 

 

MS PFLUGER:   Yes, that is correct.  Mrs Ferguson might talk about that a 

little bit more but I can give my view, story so far. 

 40 

MS DAWSON:   From your assessment, yes. 

 

MS PFLUGER:   So I went out on site together with Mrs Clinton and Ms 

Hogan and another planner from the Council and we reviewed those 

sites that she had in mind for establishing a building, which are all 45 

within that ONL overlay and my opinion was still that the ONL overlay 



 Page 557 

  

Ch9: Natural and Cultural Heritage Commenced 18.01.16 

is appropriate for those areas, they are on top of a very prominent spur 

that very clearly displays the natural signs and natural processes of how 

it was formed, with its rock outcrops which is part of Mrs Clinton’s 

problem.  Those rocky outcrops have been a danger in the earthquakes 

and that lead to the rock fall areas that are on her site now.   5 

 

 So from my perspective I did not recommend removal of the ONL in 

terms of landscape effects.  I did not think that any of those four sites 

that she had in mind have particularly high ability to absorb change 

because they are quite visible from a variety of viewpoints, so I think 10 

Mrs Ferguson will be able to give you more from looking at how they 

are going to deal with that from a planning point of view. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, well that is fine.  And then my last question relates 

to the Craw’s property out on - - - 15 

 

MS PFLUGER:   Long Lookout Point? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes.  Can you give us a brief summary of where you got to in 

exploring the extent of the high natural character or outstanding natural 20 

character, I cannot remember what it is, on their property, please? 

 

MS PFLUGER:   Yes, so there has been no change on that property in terms of 

the outstanding natural landscape or high natural character areas.  They 

are as they currently are. 25 

 

MS DAWSON:   In the Banks Peninsula? 

 

MS PFLUGER:   In the current plan, yes.  I visited that property in 2007 as 

part of the Environment Court process and so I felt quite comfortable 30 

and still do with the extent of those areas.  What is new in the property 

is the coastal environment identification and with that the NCCE 

identification on that property, but the extent of the other areas has not 

changed as such.  So yes, that is probably all I was going to say about 

that. 35 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you.  Thank you very much, Ms Pfluger, that 

is all from me. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Dr Mitchell? 40 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Thank you, sir.  Good morning, Ms Pfluger.  I have just got 

one question.  You have said in your evidence, and I think 

Mrs Ferguson will expand on this, but section 7(c) which deals with 

amenity values, is the driver for the rural amenity landscapes as I 45 

understand it. 
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MS PFLUGER:   That is correct. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   It seems to me that section 7(c) deals with a range of factors 

of which landscape is but a component part.  Given that, what is the 5 

driver for having overlays that relate to quite a confined aspect of what 

might be seen in the broad about being amenity values? 

 

MS PFLUGER:   Well they have been addressed as a kind of second tier 

landscape so while the outstanding natural landscapes would be the 10 

best of the best, those landscapes that have been identified as rural 

amenity landscapes, they still provide higher amenity values than rural 

general, the rule landscapes, whatever you want to refer those as. 

 

  [10.10 am] 15 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Well, it is not amenity values though, is it? 

 

MS PFLUGER:   It is focused on visual amenity values. 

 20 

DR MITCHELL:   So why is an overlay necessary in order to protect those 

values, and why is that extra degree of regulation that the Plan imposes 

necessary given that Section 6(a) refers to landscapes specifically, and 

Section 7(c) only deals with the much broader context of amenity 

values of which landscape is part of subset? 25 

 

MS PFLUGER:   I guess this has been dealt with differently within different 

districts.  So there are districts that do have – and generally they are 

called visual amenity landscapes like Queenstown Lakes for example, 

there are other districts that do not have that. 30 

 

 For Banks Peninsula, I think there is a strong case to have those rule 

amenity landscapes, as they are called there, because I also undertook 

the regional landscape study for Canterbury a few years back, and the 

entire Banks Peninsula on the regional level was identified as an 35 

outstanding natural landscape.  That is looking at a much larger scale, 

looking within the district, the ONLs are actually within quite confined 

areas and they are generally on the most expressive parts of the 

formative processes which would be the crater rims, the spurs, the 

rocky outcrops, those sort of things. 40 

 

 So it was an acknowledgement that the matrix of those ONLs, the 

remainder of the landscape still has higher than normal landscape 

values that relate specifically also to visual amenity. 

 45 
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DR MITCHELL:   Understanding that, but what is it that the additional 

regulation that these overlays introduce, what will they achieve, what is 

the purpose of them above and beyond what the rural rules seek to 

achieve.  Because it imposes a number of extra limitations, and I want 

to understand why they are considered to be necessary from a 5 

landscape point of view?  

 

MS PFLUGER:   Well in my view, the small scale mosaic of landscapes on the 

Banks Peninsula is quite different to the other rural landscapes within 

the district which would be for example, on the plains; Darfield, 10 

Templeton, those sort of areas, and I guess it is to protect those values 

that the landscape provides over and above to what is achieved in other 

rural landscapes. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   All right, I might have to ask Ms Ferguson some more 15 

specific questions about that, but thank you.  Thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   No thank you, sir. 20 

 

SJH:   Judge? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just following up on that, those values you referred to, my 

interest is in the role of the Plan and identifying values, so those values 25 

you refer to, you would say have authority because they are community 

held values? 

 

MS PFLUGER:   That is correct, that was part of the 2007 community 

consultation, there was quite a strong view on that. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Because on this topic of landscape – and I see your 

response to Ms Cameron in this regard is relevant, in terms of the 

question of enhancement where you counter that and say, “that would 

be unduly onerous for private landowners to improve the existing 35 

landscape”, do you remember that in your rebuttal? 

 

MS PFLUGER:   Yes, I do. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So that is acknowledging that in this equation, a trade-off 40 

is being made for community values over private property rights, in 

essence, a balance has been struck?  

 

MS PFLUGER:   Yes I think you can look at it that way because in reality, it 

could be actually more onerous on the landowner to enhance the values 45 

than to protect under 6(b), but then enhancing would make better under 
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7(c) which could potentially require them to plant native plants or to 

make it better, which could actually require more effort than just to 

protect what is there at the moment. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, so whether it is an outstanding natural landscape or 5 

another landscape value of an amenity kind, do you agree with me that 

that reinforces the importance and role of the Plan in making that 

choice through identification? 

 

MS PFLUGER:   Yes. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Rather than leaving identification to a resource consent 

process? 

 

MS PFLUGER:   Yes, that is correct. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  

 

SJH:   Thank you, anything arising from the Panel’s questions, Ms Nichol. 

 20 

MS NICHOL:   No, sir. 

 

SJH:   Anything arising Mr Conway, or re-examination? 

 

MR CONWAY:   No thank you, sir. 25 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Ms Pfluger, you may stand down and you may be released. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [10.15 am] 

 30 

SJH:   Yes, Mr Conway? 

 

MR CONWAY:   Thank you, sir, I call Ms Ferguson. 
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<SHIRLEY FERGUSON, sworn [10.15 am] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR CONWAY [10.16 am] 

 

MR CONWAY:   Could you please confirm for the Panel your full name is 

Shirley Ferguson. 

 5 

MS FERGUSON:   Yes. 

 

MR CONWAY:   You have prepared two statements of evidence, 2 December 

2015, and 18 December 2015, which set out your qualifications and 

experience? 10 

 

MS FERGUSON:   That is correct. 

 

MR CONWAY:   And I understand your position is updated since those were 

prepared.  Would you just confirm that? 15 

 

MS FERGUSON:   I am no longer employed with NWH, I am now just 

operating under Ferguson Planning Limited. 

 

MR CONWAY:   Thank you, and do you have any corrections to make to your 20 

evidence? 

 

MS FERGUSON:   No. 

 

MR CONWAY:   Is that a no – are you going to cover those in your highlights 25 

package, thank you. 

 

 Subject to the corrections, you will confirm in your highlights package, 

do you know confirm your evidence is true and correct? 

 30 

MS FERGUSON:   Yes. 

 

MR CONWAY:   Thank you, would you please read out your highlights 

package and also provide an update to the Panel on any discussions you 

have had with submitters as a result of your evidence. 35 

 

MS FERGUSON:   Good morning.  Chapter 9.2 addresses the issues associated 

with the landscaping natural character in the coastal environment. 

 

 In conjunction with Ms Pfluger I have worked through informal 40 

mediation to narrow and resolve submitter issues.  This has resulted in 

a large number of submission points being resolved prior to this 

Hearing. 

 

My evidence addressed the following: the objectives, policies, rules and 45 

overlays for outstanding natural features, landscapes, outstanding 

natural landscapes, significant features in rural amenity landscapes.   
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 You will note there that there is a change in terminology, I 

recommended the term “rural amenity landscape” replace “significant 

landscapes”, and the reason for that being that it better reflects the 

policies of these landscapes on Banks Peninsula and the western Port 

Hills. 5 

 

 The objectives, policies and rules and overlays for natural character in 

the coastal environment, high and very high natural character and 

outstanding natural character in the coastal environment.    

 10 

 The policy framework for natural character of wetlands and lakes and 

rivers and their margins, and a new section titled “Ngāi Tahu Values in 

the Natural Environment”, and the policy “Future Work on Cultural 

Landscapes”. 

 15 

 The Banks Peninsula Landscape Study 2007, and addendum report 

2015. 

 

The Christchurch Landscape Study 2015, has provided a sound basis 

for the proposal and forms the cornerstones of the Section 32.  And 20 

Ms Pfluger has addressed those in her evidence. 

 

 An overview of the proposal.  There is three objectives grouped as 

follows; Outstanding natural features in landscapes; significant features 

in rural amenity landscapes; and natural character. 25 

 

 I provided a table in my evidence-in-chief, pages 6 to 7, which provides 

a summary of the terms of the proposed overlays, relationship with the 

RMA Section 6 and 7, and the New Zealand Coastal Policy Statement 

2010. 30 

 

 Policies: the policies for each geographical area include a descriptive 

list of the qualities.  The qualities in the policies are not an exclusive 

list, rather an inclusive list, that I consider to be retained upfront in the 

policies as opposed to being moved to an appendix in the Plan. 35 

 

 Policy 9.2.27 addresses effects of specific activities, buildings, 

residential activities, earthworks, access tracks, new roads, plantation 

forestry and quarrying which provide the regulatory method of 

proposed rules in 9.2.3. 40 

 

 The policy also includes (f) relating to strategic infrastructure, utilities 

and natural hazard mitigation works with rules the located in the 

utilities chapter in respect of those. 

 45 

 The role of farming, conservation, recreation and rural tourism 

activities have been better recognised through amendments to the 

proposed policies. 
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  [10.20 am] 

 

 I support the addition of an objective in policy in relation to natural 

character of wetlands and lakes and rivers in their margins. 

 5 

 Rules and matters of discretion.  How to use the rules section provides 

the directions on which rules apply and also directions to other 

chapters.  The rules target the key activities that have the potential to 

adversely affect the landscape qualities.   

 10 

 Buildings, residential units, access tracks and new roads, plantation 

forestry and quarrying.  The rules for buildings provide provision for 

farm buildings and recreation facilities to implement the policies that 

recognise the role of farming, conservation, recreation and rural 

tourism activities.   15 

 

 Schedules and mapping: I recommend that the areas of natural 

character in the coastal environment are shown as an overlay on the 

planning maps.  I agree with the findings of Ms Pfluger that the rural 

amenity landscape should not be replaced by the natural character and 20 

the coastal environment overlay. 

 

 The landscape and natural character and the coastal environment 

overlay should be removed from sites zoned residential or specific 

purpose where urban development is the anticipated environmental 25 

outcome.   

 

 In respect of site specific submissions, I have accepted the conclusions 

of Ms Pfluger and recommended changes to overlay mapping based on 

her evidence. 30 

 

 Ngāi Tahu issues:  I support a new chapter 9 part A titled “Ngāi Tahu 

Values in the Natural Environment”, consisting of additional objectives 

and policies and a collation of existing provisions from chapter 9.2 and 

chapter 9.3, historic heritage.  This has been progressed as topic 9.4, 35 

sorry, 9.5 in week two of this hearing. 

 

 In respect of the Papakainga zone, I support the findings of Ms Pfluger 

that the landscape and natural character and the coastal environment 

overlays should not be removed.  I am working with Ngāi Tahu to 40 

address the issue of how chapter 9.2 rules apply to activities in the 

Papakainga zone and this will also now be addressed in week two of 

the hearing.  Thank you. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 45 
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MS FERGUSON:   And I had one correction and some updates in respect of 

site specific submissions. 

 

SJH:   Yes, thank you. 

 5 

MS FERGUSON:   So we have identified in respect of the rule in tables 1, 2 

and 3 that our access track rule should read greater than three metres, 

and greater than five metres, where at the moment it currently reads 

“less than”, and we have become aware of this because of our transfer 

of the rule to the utilities chapter.   10 

 

 So it actually means that the regulation is less restrictive rather than 

more onerous.  It has followed the sequence of the rules for building 

where you were trying to keep them to a certain scale and in this 

instance it should be around the other way.  So there is a greater than, 15 

less than, correction. 

 

 In terms of updates of site specific nature, the Purau headland, I note 

that we now have a late submission from Mrs Turner which has been 

accepted by the Chair.  The essence of that is that she is opposed.  20 

There is no change to the recommendation of Ms Pfluger in terms of 

the extent of high natural character around the headland there and on 

that basis my recommendation also is the same as in my evidence. 

 

 The Christchurch Gondola, I support the amendment as proposed and 25 

contained within the legal submissions of Mr Conway, and thirdly, the 

Rod Donald Trust and the Akaroa Civic Trust and Ms Cook.  We have 

been continuing with informal mediations with Ms Cook and we have 

agreed on a number of changes to the rules to address her concerns 

further.   30 

 

 These primarily relate to very small scale buildings of the 20 square 

metre for public amenities and small shelter type buildings.  So we are 

agreeing there that in table 1 that we add a row that in association with 

walkways and cycleway tracks, that 20 square metre buildings be listed 35 

specifically as a permitted activity, that in table 2 that we also add a 

row that the buildings for public amenities at 20 square metres be 

permitted.  And then in table 3 we had agreed in rebuttal evidence for 

that to be permitted in areas of natural character in the coastal 

environment and we have now agreed that that could also be the case in 40 

areas of high natural character but not outstanding natural character. 

 

 We have also had some discussions around the use of the “not 

applicable” in the tables and “permitted” symbol in the tables, and we 

agree that we need to replace the “not applicable” with “permitted” and 45 

only use “not applicable” where landscape overlay rule does not apply 
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and that there is the cross reference to the zone rules and other chapter 

rules as listed in 9.2.3.1.5.  Thank you. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Radich? 

 5 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR RADICH [10.25 am] 

 

MR RADICH:   Yes, thank you, sir.  Ms Ferguson, good morning. 

 

MS FERGUSON:   Good morning. 10 

 

MR RADICH:   I just want to talk to you on behalf of the Crown about mainly 

structural matters.  I think matters of substance have been resolved and 

thank you for that.  This is a relatively long set of rules by reason of the 

fact that it includes within the policies long lists of places and areas, 15 

does it not? 

 

MS FERGUSON:   Correct. 

 

MR RADICH:   And perhaps necessarily, by reason of the fact that the names 20 

of the overlays are long, we have a very long heading for it.  I might 

ask the secretariat please to bring up at this point as we go through 

some of these points, the proposal itself, 9.2, it is attached to the 

rebuttal evidence of Ms Ferguson. 

 25 

 That can just come up while we are asking a couple of other questions, 

Ms Ferguson, so as I say the heading outstanding natural features and 

landscapes, rural amenity landscapes, significant features and 

landscapes and areas of natural character in the coastal environment, it 

is a long mouthful. 30 

 

 In terms of our mandate to be clear and usable is there any way that 

you can see that we can actually provide a more succinct set of 

headings for people to navigate through? 

 35 

MS FERGUSON:   In my view the headings have been driven by our higher 

level policy documents and take for example, the natural character and 

the coastal environment component, that has been driven by the New 

Zealand Coastal Policy Statement 2010. 

 40 

MR RADICH:   Okay, thank you.  I just ask the Secretariat please, I am sorry, 

that this one was in fact the rebuttal evidence of Ms Ferguson herself 

and it is the proposal that is under consideration, 9.2, thank you. 

 

 Just while that is arriving on screen, one of the features of the way in 45 

which the policies are set out, as mentioned a moment ago, is that they 
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list, do they not, a range of places.  So if we are looking, you might 

have it in front of you perhaps, as it is coming on screen, 9.2.1.2, could 

I ask you to look at that please if you have it in front of you, it is your 

9.2.1.2, it is page 3 of this document.  There we are, thank you. 

 5 

 Now this tells us, if you look at (a), and I will just read the words, “The 

following features of the district are maintained”, and then there are 

some amendments so we go straight to the features. 

 

 Now what is there listed are not features really, are they?  They are not 10 

features in their own right but they are places and waterways that have 

features, would you agree with that? 

 

MS FERGUSON:   The policy there uses the same headings consistent with the 

schedule.  The schedule then contains the more detailed description of 15 

those places.  I think that the headings - - - 

 

SJH:   No, no, the question was, is it a list of places as opposed to a list of 

significant features?  Then if you want to qualify it that is fine but 

answer the question first. 20 

 

MS FERGUSON:   Yes. 

 

MR RADICH:   Okay. 

 25 

SJH:   Now do you want to qualify it?  Because you are quite at liberty, I am 

not cutting you off, I just want to get the answer to the question and 

then you can qualify, why. 

 

MS FERGUSON:   Those places, if you refer to the schedule are described in 30 

more detail. 

 

MR RADICH:   Yes, but they are places that have features rather than being 

features in their own right, are they not? 

 35 

MS FERGUSON:   Yes. 

 

MR RADICH:   Yes, and if we look over the page at page 4, and this is now 

under 9.2.1, Outstanding Natural Features, page 4 and we look at (a), 

thank you, which is coming up now, “Recognise the qualities of 40 

outstanding natural features and protect them from inappropriate 

subdivision use an development, these qualities include”, and then we 

have a list of things and would you agree with me, and I am not 

intending to be critical but there is a disconnect if you look at (b) 

because what the adjoining words are, “These qualities include (b), 45 

contains a large sand dune system”. 
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 We have just got a little bit of dis-connectivity, do you agree, between 

some of the introductory words and then some of the items in the lists 

that follow that could use some adjustment? 

 5 

MS FERGUSON:   The lists of words under those policies are meant as an 

inclusive list to give and overview of what the key aspects are that we 

are seeking to, in that instance, protect from inappropriate subdivision 

use and development.  They are not meant as an exhaustive, exclusive 

list. 10 

 

  [10.30 am] 

 

MR RADICH:   So, no I understand that, it was really more a grammatical 

thing if I can be so pedantic, because it says at the beginning in (a), 15 

“the qualities include…” and there is a colon, and you look at (b), the 

qualities might are not contained, are they, but the qualities may be the 

sand dune system itself? 

 

MS FERGUSON:   I guess you could take out the words “contains are” and 20 

just start with “large sand dunes”. 

 

MR RADICH:   Okay, so the quality was the sand dune, all right. 

 

 Again, if we look at page 5 please, and this is still part of the same list 25 

we are dealing with, the same heading, and just looking down there for 

example, (v), “Waimakariri River”, and there is then a list of A through 

to capital F, again looking generally; these are not policies themselves, 

are they, these are a description of attributes of places, but these 

themselves are not policies, would you agree? 30 

 

MS FERGUSON:   Yes. 

 

MR RADICH:   Yes.   

 35 

SJH:   Just to remind you, Mr Radich, we indicated at the start there may be a 

need to get all the planners in, the process we have adopted in 

subdivision and new neighbourhood, and this may well be a classic 

area for that sort of discussion after we have formulated our evidential 

findings and - - -  40 

 

MR RADICH:   Yes, sir, that is helpful 

 

SJH:   - - - moving along a bit. 

 45 

MR RADICH:   That is helpful. 
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SJH:   Because we take the point of your cross-examination. 

 

MR RADICH:   Yes, no that is helpful, I will not labour the point, but it was 

just that sort of point.  And then if I could ask you please – yes, no I 5 

think I will leave that particular aspect of it. 

 

 The rules tables, if you can look at that please and that is on page 26 of 

this document, these tables, do you agree perhaps of necessity, given 

the number of overlays we are dealing with, they are difficult to 10 

decipher at an easy glance by member of the public, do you agree? 

 

MS FERGUSON:   In the format in my rebuttal evidence it does not show it at 

its best, but I think if you were to drop that into an E plan that it would 

be easy for a member of the public to view it. 15 

 

MR RADICH:   All right.  Because the way in which its formulated, is it not, in 

relation to each set of overlays, for example on page 26 which is that, 

which you are looking at now, and I wonder if we could scroll down a 

little bit please – and a bit further to the next page please – this format 20 

is repeated, is it not, over the next number of pages for each of the 

overlay areas, and so if a member of the public was wanting then to 

understand the operation of it, it just takes a little while, does it not, to 

get ones head around this, and then to think about the matters of 

discretion that might apply to it, it just takes a little bit of finding, does 25 

it not? 

 

 So for example the matters of discretion that relate to those areas that 

are restricted discretionary in that table, are on page 29 – if we could 

just look at that quickly please – and they are simply stated, but it just 30 

takes a moment to join the dots, does it not, it is not terribly easy? 

 

MS FERGUSON:   The same could be said for the alternative format put up by 

the Crown as well. 

 35 

MR RADICH:   Okay, no, no – and we will have a look at that. 

 

 This particular set of policies and provisions does not distinguish 

directly, does it, between “natural character” in its own right and 

natural features and landscapes? 40 

 

MS FERGUSON:   I think, no.  We have provided separate objectives for each 

of those, so there is the objectives for “outstanding natural features and 

landscapes”, which are different to the objectives for “natural 

character”.  And then in the rule format, table 1 relates to the 45 

outstanding natural features and landscapes grouping and table 3 relates 
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to natural character and the coastal environment, so no they are 

separated. 

 

MR RADICH:   Okay, thank you.  Could you please put up now the document 

you had up first, AMC3, and you are familiar with this, Ms Ferguson, it 5 

is just a matter of structure as opposed to substance.  This was the 

structure recommended at the outset by the Crown in its initial 

submission with some adjustments now. 

 

 Do you see the way in which this breaks down under the relevant 10 

headings here which are 9.2, 9.3 and 9.4, this proposal into three 

distinct aspects, natural character first, secondly natural features and 

landscapes and thirdly coastal environment, do you see the logic in that 

breakdown? 

 15 

  [10.35 am] 

 

MS FERGUSON:   I see the logic in the coastal environment coming from 

chapter 19.  In respect of the 9.2 and 9.3 I have addressed it in my 

evidence-in-chief, and I have outlined in my evidence-in-chief where 20 

there is overlap with the policies, and as a result of say splitting them 

into a 9.2 and 9.3 you would need to go through and duplicate those 

policies.  So in that respect I do not see that this structure would 

actually reduce duplication but actually potentially increase it. 

 25 

MR RADICH:   So in the case, just to turn to the structure just so we can look 

at that of each of the sections in this proposal, do you agree that what it 

does if you look at the next page please, Mr Langman, page I think 81 

of this document itself – yes, thank you – that in each case, for example 

“natural character” there is an objective, there is a set of standalone 30 

policies, this is the point you make. 

 

 And then if we go to page 83, there is an activity status table that runs 

through to page 85, that is more in line with the structure that has been 

used through other proposals, not all of them, but a number of other 35 

proposals the Panels considering, would you agree with that? 

 

MS FERGUSON:   So the proposition in the Crown’s submission, they are to 

restructure the rules as per, say for example, most of the zone chapters, 

I see that there is advantages and disadvantages of both approaches, but 40 

in my view the current rule structure is preferable because in the tables 

you can see the entire column for each landscape and natural character 

in the coastal environment overlay, and a plain user can actually find 

the overlay rules in one location, and likewise all the rules are in one 

location. 45 
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 So I actually see the advantage of the table primarily being easy access 

in one location. 

 

MR RADICH:   Do you see the advantage in identifying the policies that relate 

particularly to natural character just in a page or so, and taking out the 5 

list of areas themselves and putting them into an appendix – and I 

would ask please for page 96 to come up just to show that.   

 

 Do you see the benefit in usability to pull out this long list of places 

and put it at the back? 10 

 

MS FERGUSON:   Yes, it does have the advantages of being a lot simpler, but 

I also see that there are some advantages in having it retained up front.   

 

 I see part of that being almost an educational component that people 15 

can actually find with the policies and those geographic areas, some of 

that descriptive material that actually gives a better understanding of 

the qualities that we are seeking to either protect or maintain. 

 

MR RADICH:   Do you see the benefit of having in relation to each of the 20 

three areas identified in this alternative proposal, the matters of 

discretion identified distinctly and in words, rather than through the 

need to look at the table, find the activity status, look at the matters of 

discretion which goes to another cross-reference, do you see the benefit 

of usability of having it in one place? 25 

 

MS FERGUSON:   Could you please refer to me in - - -  

 

MR RADICH:   Sure, that - - -  

 30 

MS FERGUSON:   - - - the submission nearest to which part of the structure –

you are referring to. 

 

MR RADICH:   That was a long question, let us look at an example, if you 

please at page 93 of this document, and there listed in the suggested 35 

format are the matters of discretion for the propose natural features and 

landscapes section, and there are a list of them in a bunch of 

subparagraphs that follow, the particular matters of discretion, in – and 

I will not try and get another document on the screen at the moment – 

but for example in the proposal the Council has, the way in which 40 

matters of discretion are handled, is that there is a cross-reference to 

another set of provisions, page 29 for example of your proposal, do you 

see there 9.2.3.2.3? 

 

 To find a matter of discretion you need first of all to find your relevant 45 

box in the activity status table, you then need to find this heading, you 
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then need to go to a third place and look at the matter itself which here 

is 9.2.4.1, do you just see that that is a lot of navigation for people to 

manage? 

 

MS FERGUSON:   I think that when the form of E plan use, where you simply 5 

click on that button, it provides you the hyperlink - - -  

 

MR RADICH:   That will help? 

 

MS FERGUSON:   - - - that will assist. 10 

 

MR RADICH:   All right.  Size is not everything, but reducing this down, if 

you take the appendices out, from out 40 pages down to about 15, it has 

got to be a good thing for people to get their heads around, does it not? 

 15 

  [10.40 am] 

 

MS FERGUSON:   I think you will find that people will use it selectively in 

terms of finding the material that they need to reference with respect to 

a particular geographic area.  I do not think you will need to find that 20 

people need to go through the whole thing. 

 

 So take for example, Kaitorete Spit; you would access the document 

and you would be able to work through that succinctly because you 

would not need to be going through the other tables necessarily, you 25 

would just be looking for that geographic area. 

 

 The example that I have referred to in my rebuttal evidence is the 

assessment and I may actually reference this.  I have given the 

examples there of two examples in my rebuttal evidence, I am just 30 

trying to find the exact reference, whereby I refer to the evidence of Ms 

(INDISTINCT 1.29) on the Christchurch Gondola who actually took 

this proposal and applied it in a landscape assessment context and that 

was the example that I have referred to in there to show how it could 

work in practice. 35 

 

MR RADICH:   All right, thank you for that. 

 

 The final matter to raise with you is a matter that I think maybe has 

been resolved and that is the linkage to the rules in proposal 7, now, 40 

one of the things sought by the Crown was an advice note in this 

proposal to clarify the way in which the rules in proposal 7 and those in 

topic 9.2 are intended to work together, are you familiar with that 

request on the part of the Crown? 

 45 
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MS FERGUSON:   Is that relating to the transport component that is at the 

back of my revised proposal? 

 

MR RADICH:  The suggestion was that in 9.2.3.1 which is how to use the 

rules there be included an advice note to provide a linkage with the 5 

Transport chapter because the transport zone provisions provide, for 

example, for the maintenance of roads as a permitted activity, do they 

not, and it was a matter of ensuring that that was not lost.  Can you see 

a way in which it might be improved to achieve that? 

 10 

MS FERGUSON:   Yes. 

 

MR RADICH:   Thank you. 

 

MS FERGUSON:   That cross-reference would be fine. 15 

 

MR RADICH:   Thank you very much.  No further questions, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Ms Dawson? 

 20 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, Ms Ferguson.  I just have a few questions.  

Mr Radich has asked you about why have you suggested putting all this 

information into the policies particularly and that is a bit different than, 

say, some of the other chapters on ecological areas or the heritage areas 

where each site does not have all that information in the policy. 25 

 

 So – now, I am not passing any judgement on whether that is a good or 

a bad thing – what I want to know is, could you give us a brief 

explanation of the rationale behind providing the identification of the 

qualities for each of the map sites and then stating what is sought to be 30 

achieved for various types of activities or potential outcomes.  What is 

the driver for that and what, in a planning sense, what do you think 

would be better achieved by doing that? 

 

MS FERGUSON:   So when I was assisting with the drafting of the proposal, 35 

we had some feedback from resource consent planners that they would 

like to be able to see upfront in the policies what the values or the 

qualities were that we were seeking to protect or maintain.  So the 

starting point was actually from the administration team of the Council 

that they wanted to see that quite clearly in the Plan so that they were 40 

not referring back into the depths of, for example, a full landscape 

study, that it had a quick reference source.   

 

 Secondly, we also thought that it had an education component whereby 

that people, if it is upfront, would be more aware of it and actually read 45 

through that rather than tucked it in an appendices such as the 
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schedules which are of most more of a technical nature.  So those were 

the two starting points on it. 

 

 Now, with respect to the – if we work through I think it may be helpful 

to have a look through the plan. 5 

 

  [10.45 am] 

 

 Attached in my evidence-in-chief is a plan that we have suggested that 

actually is included in the revised policy.  It is a map showing the 10 

location of the areas described in the policy for the coastal environment 

areas and this was slightly different to the groupings from the 

landscape studies which were much finer grained so we identified there 

five areas: Lyttelton Harbour, the northern bays, the eastern bays, 

Akaroa Harbour and the southern bays and that grouping provided us 15 

with the basis to then describe the qualities within those and that map is 

now a recommendation to include it in the proposal.  So you could 

quite clearly see once you did that that the qualities were similar within 

those areas and that they could be generically described. 

 20 

 Where the schedules break it down to a much more fine-grained level 

and you can also see that in there that they are referenced as the 

landscape character areas and are much smaller.  So you can see there, 

you will have numbers 1, 2, 3, 4, 5 etcetera, where we have included 

for our descriptive purposes 1 – 5 as Lyttelton Harbour so it just takes 25 

back up a level and describes it for that geographic area. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And that is for natural character? 

 

MS FERGUSON:   Yes. 30 

 

MS DAWSON:   So when it comes to describing the qualities of the natural 

character groupings in the policy, it would relate to that map? 

 

MS FERGUSON:   Yes. 35 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, and is it deliberate that each policy says 

“recognise the qualities of the…” say, in this case, “…outstanding 

natural features” and then it lists them for each outstanding natural 

feature and “protect them”, presumably meaning protecting the 40 

qualities “from inappropriate subdivision use and development” so is 

that deliberately to distinguish the management is of those qualities 

rather than the area per se? 

 

MS FERGUSON:   Yes. 45 
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MS DAWSON:   Thank you for that.  Did you want to say anything more to us 

about the Orion agreement? 

 

MS FERGUSON:   Ms Jenkins is specifically dealing with chapter 11.  The 

only point of clarification I had on that was around the access tracks 5 

and we now that have consistently dealt with in chapter 11 with how it 

should be being access greater than three metres and greater than - - - 

 

MS DAWSON:   The particular rules for poles will come through Ms Jenkins’ 

evidence? 10 

 

MS FERGUSON:   Correct. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, and did you want to explain anything more about 

Ms Clinton’s property? 15 

 

MS FERGUSON:   Ms Clinton’s property is rather complex because it has 

natural hazards, landscape overlays, rural and residential zonings and 

we are working on a multidisciplinary solution within Council.  

Ms Pfluger’s advice has been that she does not recommend any 20 

changes to the identification of the outstanding natural landscape in that 

location. 

 

 I am looking at the possibility of a site-specific exemption to provide 

Ms Clinton with one additional residential unit on that property as a 25 

restricted discretionary activity, but we are yet to finalise that 

agreement in terms of the hazard overlays and the rural residential zone 

boundary. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, and I just have two more quick questions and 30 

hopefully you will be able to answer them easily.  Rule 9.2.3.5 which 

are the built form standards - - - 

 

MS FERGUSON:   Do you have the page reference please? 

 35 

MS DAWSON:   35 in your rebuttal evidence version. 

 

MS FERGUSON:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   The rural amenity landscape aspect, what zones does that 40 

apply in terms of where you have got to? 

 

MS FERGUSON:   So the rural amenity landscape overlays the rural 

Banks Peninsula zone, the Papakainga zone and open space, natural 

and some community park open space zones. 45 
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MS DAWSON:  And including, say, the central city Avon zone? 

 

MS FERGUSON:   That is identified as a significant feature not a significant 

landscape or rural amenity landscape. 

 5 

MS DAWSON:  So it is not identified here? 

 

MS FERGUSON:   No. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right.  10 

 

MS FERGUSON:   And so the Avon River has its own exemption under “How 

to Use the Rules”, for the part in Central City. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And that is completely excluded? 15 

 

MS FERGUSON:   In Central City, yes. 

 

  [10.50 am] 

 20 

MS DAWSON:   In the central city, yes.  Thank you.  And in that same 

heading it says, “…and areas of natural character in the coastal 

environment”, does that mean the NCCE areas only, or does it include 

the ONCs and the high, very high? 

 25 

MS FERGUSON:   In that context of that heading, I would take it as applying 

to all three. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, and that comes back to the comment I made with Ms 

Pfluger, and I think the same confusion could be in policy 9.2.27, and 30 

do not go to that, it is just an observation, but there could be potential 

to clarify, not just for the rules but for general understanding about how 

the NCCE references relate to all the natural character areas because 

sometimes I think there is a blurring. 

 35 

MS FERGUSON:   A comparable one would be with respect to if you referred 

to landscapes, so landscapes would then include outstanding natural 

landscapes and rural amenity landscapes, so the same principle. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, let’s just be clear about that.  Thank you, I think that is 40 

all my questions. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Dr Mitchell? 
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DR MITCHELL:   Good morning Ms Ferguson.  Just to explore a matter that I 

addressed earlier with Ms Pfluger, do you know how many hectares 

give or take, the rural amenity landscape covers on Banks Peninsula? 

 

MS FERGUSON:   No. 5 

 

DR MITCHELL:   We understand from earlier evidence that the area of the 

Peninsula as a whole is approximately 100,000 hectares, depending on 

whether the spit is included or not, but assume for the purposes of the 

question that it is 100,000 hectares; can you give me a ball park 10 

estimate of what percentage of that might be rural amenity landscape? 

 

MS FERGUSON:   No. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Would you call it a significant proportion or a minor 15 

proportion of the rural zoned land on the Peninsula? 

 

MS FERGUSON:   The majority of the rural Banks Peninsula zone is within 

the rural amenity landscape with a very small portion, a much smaller 

portion identified as outstanding natural landscape. 20 

 

DR MITCHELL:   That is helpful, that gives me the context.  Given that the 

policy framework, well not the policy framework, policy 9.2.2.4 

specifies that in relation to Banks Peninsula the purpose of it is a 

predominantly farming rural working landscape, and I think the rules in 25 

the rural chapter make that pretty clear as well. 

 

 Given that as a background, why do you need additional rules to 

protect a rural amenity landscape when the purpose of it is to protect, as 

I understand it, ridge lines, which does not include all the rural area.  It 30 

also specifies significant vegetation which is part of another section of 

the Plan. 

 

 It just seems to me that this potentially is using a sledgehammer to 

crack a nut, and I just welcome your comment on that please. 35 

 

MS FERGUSON:   So the reference to protect really relates to the outstanding 

natural landscapes, where with respect to the rural amenity landscape 

we have based our policies around maintain, so there is quite a 

difference there in terms of what we are providing as the direction.  40 

That would be my first point. 

 

 And then in terms of the framework – our starting point with this was 

the Operative Banks Peninsula Plan and we have tried to keep as close 

as possible to rolling that in in respect of the rural amenity landscape. 45 
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DR MITCHELL:   I understand that, and if we go to policy 9.2.2.4B which is 

the direction about what it is you are seeking to maintain, it is on the 

bottom of page 11, but the actual provisions are on the top of page 12, 

“Avoiding development that breaks the skyline including crater rims”, I 

would have thought that is a fairly isolated area that can be singled out.   5 

“Visually prominent uses in development” which I would have thought 

that is covered largely by the rural rules anyway.  “Ensuring 

subdivision use and development does not result in over domestication 

of the landscape.”  Well that is again, what a rural zone is intended to 

achieve.  4 deals with ridgelines, “Enabling farming conservation and 10 

recreation”, well that is a rural land use management issue as well.  

 

 And then “Managing or avoiding specific activities and adverse effects 

set out in policy 9.2.2.7.” 

 15 

 All that flows into a whole lot of extra rules, and other than avoiding 

ridgelines, I do not want to over simplify this, what is the purpose of all 

this, above and beyond what the rural zone would achieve, because you 

cannot go and do a whole bunch of development in the rural zone, and 

all you would need, would you not, would be a policy that says, 20 

‘Recognise the importance of crater rims’ and all those other things as 

assessment matters are already addressed within the rural zone. 

 

  [10.55 am] 

 25 

MS FERGUSON:   I think that probably the answer to your question is yes, we 

are actually probably quite close in agreement with you on that point 

because that is why we have used the Chapter 17 provisions to drop in 

one or two quite specific landscape related rules as part of phase 3 in 

the evidence of Ms Hogan this morning, as opposed to including rules 30 

in Chapter 9.2 relating to that. 

 

 So we have not created an extra column in the table for the rural 

amenity landscape with the Rural Banks Peninsula zone in these 

provisions. 35 

 

DR MITCHELL:   But why do you need a rural amenity landscape section at 

all is my point; why can you not address it with a line or several lines in 

the rural chapter?   

 40 

 It just seems to me that you are turning what is a general issue around 

amenity, into a whole landscape setting that is unwarranted? 

 

MS FERGUSON:   I think that the basis for that is the Banks Peninsula 

Landscape Study, and if you look back to that analysis that is contained 45 

within the Section 32, that it provides a very good foundation for what 
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is being put forward here, and we have tried to keep any rules very 

targeted and very close to what is in the Operative Banks Peninsula 

Plan. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Well can you tell me what is a permitted activity by virtue 5 

of Chapter 9 provisions relating to the rural amenity landscape in 

Banks Peninsula.  What could a landowner do as a permitted activity 

leaving aside what they might be able to do in the rural zone 

provisions, what is permitted within the rural amenity landscape? 

 10 

MS FERGUSON:   That was the evidence of Ms Hogan this morning, so she 

has outlined for you there - - -  

 

DR MITCHELL:   No, no, by virtue of this chapter? 

 15 

MS FERGUSON:   There is no rules in this chapter relating to the rural 

amenity landscape where it has an underlying rural Banks Peninsula 

zone. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Maybe that comes back to Mr Radich’s point about the 20 

difficulty in following the table because if we just turn, for example, to 

page 30 – maybe that is not the best example - - - 

 

MS FERGUSON:   If I could provide - - - 

 25 

DR MITCHELL:   Just explain them? 

 

MS FERGUSON:   Yes, so the reference there on page 22 is when you first 

start out on this under how to use the rules under 9.2.3.1.1, you will see 

there that the rules apply to the following landscape and natural 30 

character overlay areas and we have listed them. 

 

 So under (iv) you will see there that it is the rural amenity landscapes 

other than RAL on Banks Peninsula with a rural zoning.  So that falls 

back to being in Chapter 17. 35 

 

DR MITCHELL:   That is a helpful clarification I think, thank you for 

clarifying that. 

 

MS FERGUSON:   And it is quite consistent with the approach that was taken 40 

in the Operative Banks Peninsula Plan where one of the key 

components of that was that they wanted to keep that package intact 

with the rural zone. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   And the rural overlay table then, when refers to Banks 45 

Peninsula, is only things like the open space zone? 
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MS FERGUSON:   Correct. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   All right, thank you, that is helpful, thank you.  Thank you, 

sir, that is it. 5 

 

SJH:   Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   Thank you, good morning, Ms Ferguson.  I have just got a 

couple of linked questions with regard to the discussions with 10 

(INDISTINCT 4.10); in your view, are they clear about the evidence 

that you seek in relation to their proposed maps and rules, and that is 

that evidence actually able to be provided, so I am aware of limitations 

around silent files, for example? 

 15 

MS FERGUSON:   As I understand, we are now going to be dealing with this 

in week two of the Hearing, Mr Conway may be able to assist with that. 

 

MR CONWAY:   We do have a further statement of evidence from Ms 

Ferguson relating to those matters more broadly, and that is our 20 

intention if that assists, to deal with those matters in the second week 

when we deal with the Ngāi Tahu topic, in case that assists.  But if 

there is anything that Ms Ferguson can assist now, I have no issue with 

the questions being put, but I just thought it is worth noting that. 

 25 

  [11.00 am] 

 

MS HURIA:   Yes, I did note that it is for next week but I am just conscious 

the process is probably being undergone now, the discussions. 

 30 

MR CONWAY:   Yes, we’ll obviously put the questions, thanks. 

 

MS HURIA:   Yes, so in terms of what is actually happening now, so I guess it 

is in parallel to the questions about Ms Clinton’s land et cetera, do you, 

is it your view that they are clear about what they need to come up 35 

with? 

 

MS FERGUSON:   We have been undertaking ongoing informal mediation.  I 

think there will come a point where we will have to agree to disagree. 

 40 

MS HURIA:   Okay. 

 

MS FERGUSON:   We are taking it as far as we can. 

 

MS HURIA:   Okay, thank you, thank you, sir. 45 
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SJH:   Thank you.  Judge? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just a couple of matters, thank, sir.  Ms Ferguson, you 

would have heard my questions to Ms Pfluger on the matter of 

identification in a plan of landscape values in terms of it being a trade-5 

off between private property rights and community identified values.  

Do you take issue with Ms Pfluger’s answers on that at all? 

 

MS FERGUSON:  I concur with Ms Pfluger’s opinion in respect of the 

methodology and how that has been applied. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, and just building from that, part of the context for 

my question, as you would know as a planner, debates on whether or 

not particular pieces of the world are outstanding natural landscapes or 

somewhat lesser forms of landscapes, have been an expensive and 15 

uncertain preoccupation in many Environment Court process, do you 

agree with that? 

 

MS FERGUSON:   Yes. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So the role of the plan becomes important in terms of 

making that identification clear, in terms of identifying what the 

community values as outstanding, do you agree with that? 

 

MS FERGUSON:   Yes. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now obviously there are higher order policy directions 

from policy documents such as the New Zealand Coastal Policy 

Statement but even bearing those in mind, it seems attractive to me for 

the plan to make it quite explicit that what has been identified through 30 

community engagement processes are the identified and defined 

outstanding natural landscapes for the purposes of the plan? 

 

MS FERGUSON:   Yes. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   You agree with that being a good idea? 

 

MS FERGUSON:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And there are various policies and provisions that use the 40 

phrases of outstanding natural features and landscapes and so forth.  I 

take it you would not have issue with those provisions being made 

quite explicit to be the ones that are identified and the only ones, for the 

purposes of those matters? 

 45 
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 In other words to shut down the potential resource consent processes to 

open up debates that the plan has already addressed? 

 

MS FERGUSON:   Could you give me the list of exactly which landscape 

overlays? 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, I will not do that because I do not have them in front 

of me, but just as a basic example I think 9.3.4.1A of your set of 

provisions was that I saw the phrase in there and you may be able to 

help me with that.  I just asked you as a matter of general principle 10 

about the concept of using “identified” as the intended process.  In 

other words, if it is identified in a plan by the planning process it is 

therefore an outstanding natural landscape.  If it is not identified then 

the plan effectively has made the election not to identify it and 

therefore it is not of interest to the community in that sense. 15 

 

MS FERGUSON:   I agree. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 20 

SJH:   Ms Ferguson, who do you see is the readership of this plan? 

 

MS FERGUSON:  The community.  It sets their directions in terms of 

objectives and policies and then the rules are primarily read by people 

when they wish to undertake subdivision use and development. 25 

 

SJH:   And you list as a key document the order in Council so you would be 

well aware of our need to comply with that and have clarity of 

language in this plan? 

 30 

MS FERGUSON:   Yes. 

 

SJH:   Now I do not want to get into the wording because there is obviously a 

great deal of room for improvement, but just as an example, if we take 

Mr Radich’s, the one that he particularly mentioned where it talked 35 

about features and then simply listed a series of sites, that is hardly 

clear, is it? 

 

MS FERGUSON:   I think that it makes it usable for the plan to be able - - - 

 40 

SJH:   Is that clear to a lay reader, to the community that you say “features” 

and then you simply list sites? 



 Page 583 

  

Ch9: Natural and Cultural Heritage Commenced 18.01.16 

  [11.05 am] 

 

MS FERGUSON:   If you are not on that list of sites then you do not need to 

continue reading the plan. 

 5 

SJH:   How can a list of sites be features? 

 

MS FERGUSON:   I think that you have to read that list and then if you were 

not on it then you would not need to continue reading. 

 10 

SJH:   That was not my question; how can a list of sites be features? 

 

MS FERGUSON:   The features are - - - 

 

SJH:   Plain English language please.  How can it be? 15 

 

MS FERGUSON:   The schedules are where the features are - - - 

 

SJH:   Please answer the question.  In plain language, how can a list of sites be 

features?  The sites are the source of the features are they not?  That is 20 

where the features are? 

 

MS FERGUSON:   Correct. 

 

SJH:   Right, would you accept then, there is scope for you to talk further with 25 

the Crown, in particular, or any other parties, to get greater clarity into 

some of this? 

 

MS FERGUSON:   Yes, I am more than happy to continue that dialogue. 

 30 

SJH:   Thank you and maybe that can be reflected in the document that is filed 

with closings.  Sorry, Mr Radich, anything arising from the panel’s 

questions? 

 

MR RADICH:   Thank you, sir, no. 35 

 

SJH:   Mr Conway, anything arising or re-examination? 

 

<RE-EXAMINATION BY MR CONWAY [11.06 am] 

 40 

MR CONWAY:   Sir, just one point arising out of a question by Judge Hassan 

in relation to the question of whether ONLs for example that are not 

listed in the plan might somehow be captured.  Ms Ferguson, in terms 

of the wording of the objectives and if we jump to the first objective, 

are you able to provide any comment on that question with reference to 45 

the way the objective has been amended?  Objective 9.2.1.1. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Could that be brought up on the screen? 

 

MR CONWAY:   This is page 2 of the revised proposal.   

 5 

MS FERGUSON:   So in response to submissions there we have crossed out 

the word “identified”. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And the word “including” I suppose, Mr Conway. 

 10 

MR CONWAY:   Well yes, and the word “including” and if you could describe 

the reason for that change? 

 

MS FERGUSON:   That was in response to the submission from Transpower 

and I think there that it was just clearer wording to say that “the 15 

following”, as in the list below, “outstanding natural features are 

protected”.  So those are the ones that then correspond to what is 

identified on the planning maps and in the schedule. 

 

MR CONWAY:   Thank you.  Nothing further, sir. 20 

 

SJH:   Thank you, you may stand down.  We will take the morning 

adjournment. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Can I ask, yes, sorry Mr Conway.  Mr Conway, thank you 25 

for that question.  Can I just get an understanding from it?  So as a 

matter of principle effectively the Council’s approach is one of clarity 

around what is identified in these lists, chosen in these lists effectively 

as outstanding natural landscapes, in effect to make that election 

through the plan for what will be protected, as opposed to leaving it to 30 

consent processes to make another judgement.  Is that where the 

Council sees it? 

 

MR CONWAY:   That is my understanding of the reason for deleting the word 

“including” but I do not know whether Ms Ferguson can assist further 35 

with that.  She would have been more closely involved in those 

particular discussions. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 40 

MR CONWAY:   But with the deletion of that word, “including”, I read that as 

an exhaustive list. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes.  No, that is sort of effectively the purpose of my 

question, in order to elicit whether or not that could be made clear in 45 

the plan.  Thank you. 
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SJH:   Yes, thank you, Ms Ferguson, you may stand down, we will take the 

morning adjournment for 15 minutes. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [11.09 am] 5 

 

ADJOURNED [11.09 am] 

 

RESUMED [11.35 am] 

 10 

SJH:   Yes, thank you, just come forward, Ms Cook, and be sworn please. 
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<JAN COOK, affirmed [11.35 am] 
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SJH:   Just for the record you are Jan Cook, you have filed briefs of evidence 

and confirm they are true and correct? 

 

MS COOK:   Yes, sir, with one correction. I will just find my piece of paper. 

 5 

SJH:   Yes. 

 

MS COOK:   A fairly important one really. 

 

SJH:   That is all right. 10 

 

MS COOK:   That I have noted in the paper. 

 

SJH:   Are you going to cover it off in your highlights’ package? 

 15 

MS COOK:   Well, I can cover it now if you wish. 

 

SJH:  No, just mention it specifically as a correction in your highlights 

package. 

 20 

MS COOK:   Yes. 

 

SJH:   It is all right.  And I think the easiest way is you give your highlights 

package for both the Rod Donald Trust and the Akaroa Civic Trust and 

we will go to cross-examination and then the Panel. 25 

 

MS COOK:   Yes, that is my intention. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 30 

MS COOK:  I notice I have been allowed rather a lot of time and I don’t expect 

to use anywhere near that much time. 

 

SJH:   Well, after the earlier part of the week we would be quite glad for an 

early finish today I think. 35 

 

MS COOK:   Thank you. 

 

SJH:   Counsel will too by the nods I am seeing. 

 40 

MS COOK:   So first of all, just by way of introduction, the Rod Donald Banks 

Peninsula Trust, the Trust itself doesn’t really have a particular focus 

on landscape or coastal protection apart from its general objective to 

promote sustainable management and conservation. Its particular 

interests are the promotion of public access and recreation and enabling 45 

that in various ways and also biodiversity protection.  So in that regard 
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the Trust is interested in activities that promote walkways, cycle ways 

and associated huts and amenities.   

 

 And I just note that the difficulty that the Trust had when it wanted to 

convert an existing building on land that it had purchased to link up 5 

with the Summit Walkway and create a tramping hut, that that was 

actually a non-complying activity under the Banks Peninsula District 

Plan.  And that was just for an existing building so the Trust is 

particularly interested in rectifying that sort of situation for the future. 

 10 

 The Civic Trust has a slightly I guess a different priority which is the 

history and beauty of Akaroa and its surrounding area and surrounding 

countryside, but also the public appreciation and enjoyment of that so 

that extends to assisting with to do with public recreation and access 

et cetera.  And of course the Civic Trust’s area of interest is limited to 15 

the Akaroa area of Banks Peninsula. The Rod Donald Trust is the 

whole of the Peninsula.   

 

 And myself I am a long-standing board member of the Akaroa Civic 

Trust and that reflects my own interests in conservation generally and 20 

looking after the attractions of the area but in relation to my own 

property interests my property is in the RAL in the rural zone and also 

our family land is in the area of high natural character in the coastal 

environment and I think that is entirely justified and the provisions are 

appropriate so I don’t have a conflict in terms of what I might be 25 

wanting to achieve in my own interests.  I am here in the interests of 

the two Trusts. 

 

 So firstly there is just the one correction to my evidence and that is on 

the paragraph 35, the second bullet point, it should say “The listed 30 

activities in rule 9.3.3.1” not “2.1” and that is the rule that relates to the 

rural amenity landscape. 

 

  [11.40 am] 

 35 

 So as you have heard some of this from Ms Ferguson, and she has 

addressed quite a number of the Trust’s concerns about the status of 

activities in the overlays with further discussions and we have got 

agreement regarding almost everything that we were seeking in relation 

to activities.   40 

 

 I have just outlined those there, particularly tramping huts of course 

have a functional need to locate in those areas that people want to visit 

and walk to and we think they should be a permitted activity wherever 

possible.  We accept that in the coastal areas of high natural character 45 

and outstanding natural character or at least rather in the outstanding 
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natural character area at least there ought to be some restrictions and 

that should be a discretionary activity not a non-complying one as it 

would be under the proposed rules. 

 

 In relation to the areas of high natural character we do think that 5 

tramping huts could still be a permitted activity in the high natural 

character area.  And in that regard I think that the amendments that 

Ms Ferguson had recommended I think that it would be or we would 

recommend that the addition of the word “public” before “walking and 

cycling tracks” to make it clear that we are talking about public 10 

recreation here otherwise you might have a situation where, I mean a 

walking track could be for private use.  I think it just may create a 

loophole for someone actually creating an accommodation unit rather 

than a tramping hut.  So we think that the word “public” in there would 

really help to address the potential for that problem that such a building 15 

could actually be a de facto holiday home or a seaside bach.   

 

 And also if it was considered necessary the permitted size could be 

more limited in that area but we would like to have a permitted activity 

status for tramping huts in the high natural character coastal areas.  I 20 

mean they are areas that we would like to see more public recreation 

opportunities in the way of walkways and we can’t see that there would 

be serious adverse effects or any significant adverse effects from such 

an activity in those areas. 

 25 

 Now, in terms of public amenities, what we are particularly thinking of 

there is toilets and shelters.  The Summit Walkway is a very exposed 

area subject to very sudden change in weather, snow even, high winds 

and if people are waiting for a pickup or simply get into a bit of trouble 

it would be good to be able to provide very small shelters.  But I think 30 

Harry Ell had to get resource consents and having to get a consent for 

something like that would actually probably cost more than the cost of 

the building.  The same for toilets, it is becoming increasingly 

important that we provide more public toilets for the visitors to our 

area. 35 

 

 And I know, from all my community involvement over the years, 

whenever the community asks for something as soon as the Council, 

whether it is a siren or a toilet or whatever, as soon as the Council 

thinks that they might need a resource consent the whole thing gets put 40 

aside and considered to be too hard, so even the Council doesn’t want 

to have to get resource consents. 

 

 In relation to a residential unit for caretaker and site management 

purposes, this is a permitted activity in the various Open Space zones 45 

but I am particularly thinking of the Open Space Natural zone and I 
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think that, if you look at those Open Space zones, they are most 

overlaid with an outstanding natural landscape or high natural character 

coastal area.  But parts of them are not within those areas and they are 

the areas where I think that the RAL should not further limit what can 

be done in those areas.  And in fact the RAL in the Banks Peninsula 5 

Plan only applies to the Rural zone, it didn’t apply to those Open Space 

zones before now. 

 

  [11.45 am] 

 10 

 But the amendment as drafted by Ms Ferguson it does really require 

clarification that it applies to the Open Space zones only and not for the 

rural RAL because anyone could say they need a residential unit for 

caretaker purposes on their land. 

 15 

 So as I say in 3 the Trust supports tramping huts and public amenities 

being specifically provided for in the overlay rules so as to avoid any 

doubt about their status and that is really just because in other chapters 

there has been some doubt as to whether the definitions of recreation 

activity or rural tourism facility or whatever actually do provide for 20 

tramping huts and we just want to avoid that by specifically mentioning 

them on those areas. 

 

 Now I do want to say that we do remain concerned about the 

application of an RAL overlay to the open space zone.  If you have got 25 

buildings that are permitted in the underlying zone I do not think it is 

necessary or justified to restrict those further in the RAL within those 

zones, and it actually has the effect that some buildings that are 

permitted in those zones cannot in fact be established anywhere within 

those zones. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Could you speak up? 

 

MS COOK:   I beg your pardon.  They would be either within the ONL or the 

RAL or one of the coastal overlays.  So if you have an activity that is 35 

permitted in the zoning you cannot actually build any - - - 

 

SJH:   Just bring the microphone a little closer, I think Ms McMillan is having 

a difficulty hearing. 

 40 

MS COOK:   I will move myself over a little bit. 

 

SJH:   Well you can bend the microphone over further. 

 

MS COOK:   Is that better? 45 
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 Yes, so the purpose of the RAL we think is to recognise that all of 

Banks Peninsula actually has high amenity and landscape values and to 

take those into account when setting the rules and standards for the 

various zones and also as a matter for discretion when considering 

activities that do require consent. 5 

 

 We do not think the RAL should bring with it additional restrictions 

and that should apply for the open space zone as well, so hence the 

request in my evidence to actually delete all those provisions in 

9.2.3.3.1 for buildings.  I do not have an opinion on whether those other 10 

activities like quarrying and tracks need to be further restricted. 

 

 The same idea really applies to – we support the identification, the 

coastal environment on the maps, but we consider that the rules for the 

areas of natural character in the coastal environment introduce a whole 15 

raft of new restrictions for Banks Peninsula that I do not consider are 

really necessary or justified.  We have a plan that seems to be working 

quite well for us now and we are not aware of consultation with the 

community or with landowners about the effects of those new rules 

which restrict farm buildings, well, all buildings in fact, in that area. 20 

 

 We prefer the provision that is in the Banks Peninsula plan at present 

for a general 40 metre coastal setback for buildings and the Council has 

agreed to that for the rural zone and that is sufficient.  

 25 

 So I suppose, to summarise that, it is about the process that I referred to 

before that we went through for the Banks Peninsula plan and the 

agreements that were reached there and the resulting Environment 

Court decision and I guess the other question, is it working for us now 

and I think that it is by and large. 30 

 

  [11.50 am] 

 

 Another matter in the Civic Trust’s submission, which I refer to in my 

evidence and I have not made any further note for you is regarding 35 

subdivision, and the Banks Peninsula plan currently requires that it is a 

discretionary activity where there is no dwelling site being proposed 

within the ONLs or coastal natural character areas.  If a dwelling site is 

being planned for those areas then it is a non-complying activity and 

that provision is not being carried over, it would be a restricted 40 

discretionary activity and we are concerned that or do not want to 

create an expectation of dwelling development resulting from 

subdivision in those areas. 

 

 Would you like me to read out the Banks Peninsula provisions 45 

currently? 
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SJH:   Yes, you may do if you can do it briefly please. 

 

MS COOK:   So essentially it is a discretionary activity, the creation of a new 

site where the site is partly or wholly located within a coastal natural 5 

character or outstanding natural landscape and there is a commitment 

that there shall be no dwellings established on that part of the new site 

located within those coastal natural character or outstanding natural 

landscapes and otherwise, if it is intended, if there is a building site, or 

a building platform as it is called in this plan, proposed for those areas 10 

it would be a non-complying activity, the subdivision, so what that 

does is really say you build your dwellings on the parts of your 

property that are not within those identified areas. 

 

 And I have just noted Mr Long’s evidence for the Council.  In relation 15 

to our request there he says that there is a range of activities that could 

occur with an identified building platform, or building area, some of 

which would be a permitted activity. 

 

 “It is my view that it is not appropriate to have a non-complying 20 

activity status for a subdivision in order to manage effects on the likely 

future land use when some of those land uses are permitted activities,” 

And, therefore, he does not agree with our request. 

 

 And I think that, perhaps, our request needs to be clarified to say that 25 

what we are concerned about here is dwellings or residential units 

within those areas and that is what ought to be considered at the time of 

subdivision and for identified building areas for the purpose of 

residential units to not be allowed within the outstanding natural 

landscape or the areas of outstanding natural character in the coastal 30 

environment were the high natural character areas and I am really not 

quite sure how that gets worked out but that is the situation we have at 

present. 

 

 There was a case; the Akaroa Civic Trust took a case to the 35 

Environment Court involving a proposed dwelling on the headland 

opposite Akaroa.  It appealed against the Council’s decision to allow 

that and the Court found for the Akaroa Civic Trust and that was in an 

area of coastal natural character within the Plan so there is some case 

law in relation to that and I do refer to that decision in my rebuttal 40 

evidence, in relation to the Papakainga zone.  Thank you. 

 

SJH:    All right, thank you. 

 

MS COOK:   Sorry, I hope that was not too disjointed. 45 
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SJH:   No, that is fine, thank you, Ms Cook.  Mr Conway? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR CONWAY [11.54 am] 

 

MR CONWAY:   Thank you, sir, good morning, Ms Cook.  Now, if the 5 

Secretariat to just be aware I am planning up Ms Ferguson’s appendix 

A, her rebuttal appendix A, pages 34 and 35.   

 

 Ms Cook, as you have indicated, there have been further discussions 

with Ms Ferguson and agreement has been reached on a lot of matters. 10 

 

MS COOK:   Yes. 

 

MR CONWAY:   And so I just want to focus on the question of building 

restrictions in areas of natural character in a coastal environment.   15 

 

  [11.55 am] 

 

MS COOK:  Thank you. 

 20 

MR CONWAY:   And that is one area where you would like fewer restrictions 

essentially, is that a good summary of your concern? 

 

MS COOK:   Yes. 

 25 

MR CONWAY:   And you have referred to the Akaroa Civic Trust case, was 

that the 2008 decision you referred to - - - 

 

MS COOK:   Yes. 

 30 

MR CONWAY:   - - - in your evidence, I think, paragraph 40 of your evidence 

you refer to that and I just wanted to clarify that you aware that the 

current New Zealand Coastal Policy Statement came in in 2010 and 

that has policy 13, it talks about the preservation of natural character in 

the coastal environment, are you broadly familiar with that? 35 

 

MS COOK:   Yes, I am, yes. 

 

MR CONWAY:   Good.  And that comes back to the question of what is 

appropriate development, does it not? 40 

 

MS COOK:   Yes, it does. 

 

MR CONWAY:   So, essentially the question here is about what type of 

development might be appropriate in areas of natural character in the 45 

coastal environment, do you agree with that? 
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MS COOK:   Yes. 

 

MR CONWAY:   And further to discussions with Ms Ferguson, you have now 

reached agreement, I think, that there is a permitted activity rule which 5 

is – let’s see, if we scroll down – actually, before we scroll down on 

that screen we can see the four columns, the second one headed “Areas 

of Natural Character in a Coastal Environment”, that is the one where 

when we go down over the page I want to focus on. 

 10 

 So if we scroll down that column and we have the line M which talks 

about a tramping hut and that is shown there as RD9.  My 

understanding is you now reached agreement with Ms Ferguson, or she 

has agreed that that could be a permitted activity as well? 

 15 

MS COOK:   Yes. 

 

MR CONWAY:   And then, obviously, N which is Public Amenity Buildings 

is the one you referred to earlier, that is permitted in that rebuttal 

version of hers? 20 

 

MS COOK:   Yes and we have also agreed that the next column where it is 

currently RD10, that would be permitted as well. That is my 

understanding. 

 25 

MR CONWAY:   And that is in relation to areas of least high natural character 

- - - 

 

MS COOK:   Yes. 

 30 

MR CONWAY:   - - - in the coastal environment and just as a general 

principle, you would accept that there is a need to have restrictions on 

the types of buildings that could be established in areas of natural 

character in a coastal environment, bearing in mind the New Zealand 

Coastal Policy Statement which we talked about just before? 35 

 

MS COOK:   Yes, I guess my concern was more with the identification of that 

area.  It is a blanket area right around the entire coastline of 

Banks Peninsula as far as I can see and I do not understand the process 

or how it has been established that they are areas of natural character.  I 40 

think some of them are not.   

 

MR CONWAY:   If the Panel was satisfied in terms of the evidence of the 

establishment of those areas, you would accept that it is appropriate to 

have some restrictions on buildings in that area? 45 
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MS COOK:   Yes, it would be.  I think that a general coastal setback would be 

more appropriate.  I am just concerned that buildings such as 

recreational facilities, etcetera, are going to be very restricted and farm 

buildings for that matter in that area, unnecessarily so.   

 5 

MR CONWAY:   You would see these changes here as being a step in the right 

direction? 

 

MS COOK:   Yes.  I mean, it satisfies the Trust’s concerns about those 

recreation activities but I am not sure, I mean, I cannot really speak for 10 

farmers.  I imagine they are not too pleased about it really. 

 

MR CONWAY:   In terms of who you are speaking for, it covers that concern? 

 

MS COOK:   Yes it does, yes. 15 

 

MR CONWAY:   Thank you, sir, thank you, Ms Cook. 

 

SJH: Thank you.  Ms Dawson? 

 20 

MS DAWSON:   No, thank you very much, Ms Cook, one question.  The 

matter you were talking about right at the end that you said was 

difficult to understand or resolve, is that addressed in Mr Long’s 

evidence, his response to you? 

 25 

MS COOK:   His response says they think it should be a restricted 

discretionary activity. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, so I go to his evidence to find that out. 

 30 

MS COOK:  Yes, yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Right, thank you very much.  I think I understood what you 

were talking about and I just wanted to know where to find the 

Council’s response and that is Mr Long. 35 

 

  [12.00 pm] 

 

MS COOK:  I am really highlighting to you that that is a very significant 

change from what is in the agreed package which is in the current 40 

Banks Peninsula Plan. 

 

MS DAWSON:  Yes, and I think you might have talked about this at the rural- 

- - 

 45 
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MS COOK:  Yes, and I refer you back to that in my evidence, my earlier 

evidence. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, thank you very much, thank you. 

 5 

SJH:   Dr Mitchell. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   No, I have no questions thank you. 

 

SJH:   Mr Huria. 10 

 

MS HURIA:   No thanks. 

 

SJH:   Judge. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, Ms Dawson’s questions have dealt with it thank you. 

 

SJH:   Anything arising, Mr Conway. 

 

MR CONWAY:   No thank you, sir. 20 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Ms Cook, you may stand down. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [12.00 pm] 

 25 

SJH:   Mr Davis, you wish to speak to your submission? 

 

MR DAVIS:   Yes, I do. 

 

SJH:   If you would come forward to this microphone here and just speak into 30 

the microphone so it all goes on the record, just when you are ready. 

 

MR DAVIS:   My apologies if read from my sheet - - - 

 

SJH:   That’s all right. 35 

 

MR DAVIS: - - - I was originally intending to do this in February, I was 

notified late yesterday afternoon it was today and then I had a phone 

call about 10 minutes ago to tell me I should be down here 

immediately, and I wasn’t quite finished printing out my words. 40 

 

SJH:   Well you just – you can add to whatever you like, to tell us your 

concerns. 
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<LEWELYN DAVIS [12.01 pm] 
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MR DAVIS:  Okay, my name is Lew Davis, my family has a 50 acre farm 

above Lyttelton, we have repaired the dying bush and had some pretty 

huge events there in the last 20 years, we have family ties with the area 

going back several generations and we consider ourselves to be joint 

custodians of that piece of land. 5 

 

 In 2007 Outstanding Natural Landscape status was forced on the land 

in dubious circumstances.   I have made a submission to have that ONL 

designation removed. We see no benefit in debating the legality of what 

was done or the definition of outstanding. 10 

 

 In 2009 the Council explained that they had a bottomless pot of money 

to pay lawyers, to make the RMA mean anything they wanted to, and 

to pay consultants to make outstanding mean anything they wanted. 

 15 

SJH:   I am sorry, the Council, who did this? 

 

MR DAVIS:  I can give you an email afterwards which is by innuendo 

confirms that. 

 20 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 

MR DAVIS:  The RMA is a well-intentioned document but it has spawned an 

extremely profitable, absurdly complicated bureaucratic industry.  

Within that, it is open to misuse by people often with no sincere care 25 

for the land to use the excuse of the environment primarily to ensure 

continuation of the Government or consultant salaries. 

 

 A lot of sincere people have also been brought on board the gravy train 

by flattery or funding. In our case, the people driving and following the 30 

earlier district plan were very willing to use self-righteous excuse of the 

environment to ridicule the true concept of guardianship and 

fundamental land rights and to make way for the culturally poisonous 

theft of the land itself. 

 35 

 In the overall scale of things the RMA process, our personal case is just 

a very small abusive power easily ignored, but if this is not put right, it 

will either form a persistent stain on the district plan and all the people 

involved. 

 40 

 The belief in rights and obligations of guardianship of the land that is 

natural law and the belief in the land as a living cultural entity has been 

around everywhere in the world since the dawn of time, and in most 

parts of the world, Europe included, people are still extremely 

uncomfortable about disrespecting this concept. 45 
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 The RMA is based on British law. All British law comes from the 

magna carta.  The magna carta happened specifically because of Crown 

abuse and natural cultural land rights.  Of course, as soon as there was 

law, there was misuse of it for personal profit.  English land rights were 

abused leading to corruption and violence, the poisonous stains of 5 

which still remain. 

 

 Centuries later in Scotland abusive land rights became institutionalised, 

go to Scotland and people still talk about dishonourable plans and 

about the land never forgiving. 10 

 

 Colonisation used the glamorous excuse of empire. Natives were 

considered to have no land rights, soldiers and natives died for the land 

but in this country in the end it was the British bureaucrats that stole the 

land away with the stroke of a pen. 15 

 

 We are only talking about British culture because while Christchurch 

City Council shows mercenary regard for Māori culture, in a corporate 

manner it shows no sincere respect for the concept of land 

guardianship.  I should comment here at local level Māori have proven 20 

their sincere respect for the concept. 

 

 Our experience along these lines started in 2002 when we were fully 

consulted that the original Banks Peninsula District Plan did not 

include our land in any punitive way.  That district plan went badly 25 

wrong for the Council and they made a devious fix, quietly adding lots 

of land as outstanding natural landscape to satisfy interest groups. 

 

  [12.05 pm] 

 30 

 We were threatened with prosecution if we planted trees or continued 

restraining dangerous rocks and we found we had crippling restrictions 

on us when we wanted to build a new farmhouse in 2008.  It looked 

okay to start with because some people in the Council made it clear that 

if we did not mount an unwinnable legal challenge on the process, they 35 

would assure our resource consent got through. 

 

 Sadly, others in the Council already had plans for our land.  In 2009 

they put in a massive effort into organising what amounted to an 

environmental interest group lynch mob and rigged resource consent 40 

hearing where they said nothing about their own plans for using the 

land and it cost us a huge amount. 

 

 During 2010, we heard that the Council had for some time been 

researching means to take our land and had made substantial plans for 45 
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owning and using it, walking tracks, mountain bike tracks, buildings 

and incorporation to the high value plans for Lyttelton. 

 

 Later following an official Information Act request, the Councillor’s 

lawyer denied in writing existence of any documentation but enough 5 

leaked out to confirm at least some of those facts. I will give you Police 

one sheet with respect to that, sir. 

 

 If the Council wish to dispute these facts, please have the people 

involved front up and publicly state that no such intentions, plans or 10 

intentions, were researched.  I think that is quite important. 

 

 Right now in 2016, Lyttelton’s geology has given the people driving 

the district plan a second opportunity to make amends for this 

culturally poisonous assault on the land, remove the ONL designation.  15 

This is the document supporting information. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 

MR DAVIS:  Sir, there are more items with respect to the Council’s intentions, 20 

but I believe the ones showing traps and talking about purchase or 

obtaining the land is probably sufficient. But as I say, really, the 

Council denied the existence of any documents which we know to be a 

blatant lie and I suggest you get somebody from that time to front up 

and say publicly that they had no intentions on the land. 25 

 

SJH:   All right, thank you very much for your submission.  I will just see if 

there is any Panel questions Mr Davis.  Ms Dawson. 

 

MS DAWSON:   No thank you, Mr Davis, thank you for explaining that to us. 30 

 

SJH:   Dr Mitchell. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   No questions thank you. 

 35 

SJH:   Ms Huria. 

 

MS HURIA:   No thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Judge. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No thanks. 

 

SJH:   Thank you very much, Mr Davis. 

 45 

MR DAVIS:   Thank you, thank you. 
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<LEWELYN DAVIS WITHDREW [12.07 pm] 

 

SJH:   Can you make copies of that please for all Panel members and all 

counsel, at a quick glance there is nothing to respond to I do not think, 

Mr Conway, but you can consider that? 5 

 

 Yes, Mr Radich. 

 

MR RADICH:  Thank you, sir, was there one more, a Mr Taper. 

 10 

SJH:   No, he indicated that the Trust is not appearing and I think for Mr 

Tanner actually. 

 

MR RADICH:   Right, thank you very much, I call Nicholas John Head. 

15 
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<NICHOLAS JOHN HEAD, affirmed [12.08 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR RADICH [12.09 pm] 

 

MR RADICH:   Your name is Nicholas John Head? 

 

MR HEAD:   Yes. 5 

 

MR RADICH:   And you are employed by the Department of Conservation as 

the Plant Ecologist for the department’s southern service centre? 

 

MR HEAD:   I am. 10 

 

MR RADICH: And you have given a primary brief of evidence dated 

10 December 2015? 

 

MR HEAD:   Yes. 15 

 

MR RADICH:   And a rebuttal brief of evidence dated 18 December 2015 

 

MR HEAD:   Yes. 

 20 

MR RADICH:   And you have some corrections to make to that evidence? 

 

MR HEAD:   Yes, I do.  In my evidence-in-chief at page 10 - - - 

 

MR RADICH:   Just pause for a minute, page 10, yes. 25 

 

MR HEAD:   Paragraph 8.6. 

 

MR RADICH:   Yes. 

 30 

MR HEAD:   The figures 9.1.2.3 in the bottom line should be 9.1.3.2. 

 

MR RADICH:   Thank you.  Are there any other changes? 

 

MR HEAD:   No. 35 

 

MR RADICH:   With that change made, do you confirm the evidence that you 

have given in both briefs to be true and correct? 

 

MR HEAD:   I do. 40 

 

MR RADICH: Thank you, Mr Head, now would you please provide a 

summary of your evidence for the Panel. 
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  [12.10 pm] 

 

MR HEAD:   The Christchurch district has lost the vast majority of its 

indigenous ecosystems or original indigenous ecosystems.  The 

Canterbury Plains in particular is the most severely affected with less 5 

than 1 percent remaining in indigenous cover.  Banks Peninsula fares a 

little better at about 16 percent cover of woody ecosystems today 

owing primarily to the regeneration of native vegetation over time on 

unproductive land, although less than 1 percent of the original forest 

ecosystems remain. 10 

 

 The very high level of ecosystem loss is reflected by the high rate of 

species extinction in the district and the high number of threatened 

plants species present. There is good knowledge of remnant indigenous 

vegetation in the district which has been determined from robust 15 

scientific surveys, but less knowledge about the fauna.   

 

 Most known sites are on private land.  All sites are modified to some 

extent and those on the Canterbury Plains are typically highly 

modified.  Some have been and are being subjected to ongoing losses, 20 

most are affected by land use practices such as stock grazing and only a 

small number are protected in perpetuity or are currently included in 

the Council’s schedule of significant ecological sites which remains 

incomplete. 

 25 

 Because of the very high levels of loss that has occurred in the 

Christchurch district the majority of remnant indigenous ecosystems 

would likely be significant when assessed using the Council’s 

ecological significance assessment criteria and would likely to meet 

one of the four national priorities for the protection of indigenous 30 

biodiversity on private land. 

 

 I am generally satisfied that the significance criteria used to identify 

SES are appropriate and being interpreted correctly.  However it is my 

view that some site boundaries have been convoluted and this can lead 35 

to reduced ecological resilience relating to edge effects and also can 

create practical difficulties such as fencing. 

 

 Mr Hooson in his rebuttal evidence for the Council suggests that 

improved boundaries could be achieved if negotiations with 40 

landowners are undertaken to formerly protect sites.  And I agree with 

this viewpoint although it is preferable that appropriate site boundaries 

are determined in the first instance to avoid the potential for later 

confusion and further negotiations. 

 45 
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 The high levels of loss of indigenous biodiversity within the district 

also provides important context to the appropriateness of biodiversity 

offsets and ecologists agreed that the proposed offsetting provisions 

need to be consistent with good practice.  I consider that the provisions 

in exhibit 5 are appropriate however I acknowledge the points raised by 5 

the Panel about these provisions during the hearing and I am happy to 

speak further and work to address these points. 

 

 The Council has agreed to amendment in point 7 in the offsetting 

framework to reflect the national guidance on good practice 10 

biodiversity offsetting.  The national guidance acknowledges out of 

kind exchanges can be appropriate in some circumstances but only 

when residual values lost are of low value and are very common and 

widespread.  Furthermore the guidance notes that it may not be possible 

to robustly demonstrate no net loss or net gain and a like for unlike 15 

basis, could not meet the good practice definition of no net loss which 

applies to like for like exchanges. 

 

 I consider it is appropriate to include the proposed explanation in the 

offsetting framework to address the abovementioned limitations and to 20 

avoid allowing out of kind exchanges to occur on an equal footing with 

the important like for like offsetting principle.   

 

 Regarding the revised provisions to attachment A in Ms Hogan’s 

rebuttal evidence I note that the inclusion of “no net loss” in 25 

policy 9.1.1.1.2, policy 2 land management where it relates to sites 

outside the coastal environment, could, in my view, allow for the loss 

of SESs to occur through an offsetting framework.  And the inclusion 

of the words ecosystem functions also under policy 2 could create 

further ambiguity. 30 

 

 Given the lack of remnant ecosystems in the district and the loss of 

SES values on a scale that exceeds the clearance thresholds provided 

for by the current exemptions must be treated with a high level of 

caution. 35 

 

 With regard to the definition of improved pasture, the rebuttal evidence 

of Ms Seaton for the Isaac Conservation of Wildlife Trust and 

Mr Hooson for the Council, I accept that the amendment proposed by 

the Crown to exclude indigenous vegetation from this definition could 40 

result in unintended restrictions on the legitimate clearance of non-

significant indigenous vegetation.   

 

 I support the current definition and consider that the change proposed 

by Ms Seaton would address my concerns about the protection of 45 

indigenous vegetation by providing that the area must have been 
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subjected to be routine pasture maintenance or improvement since 

2005, rather than 2000. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 5 

MR RADICH:   Thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Mr Conway?   

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR CONWAY [12.15 pm] 10 

 

MR CONWAY:   Thank you, sir, good afternoon, Mr Head.  Now I just 

wanted to cover one brief thing with you.  You were involved in the 

discussions earlier this week, weren’t you, about the policy framework 

for topic 9.1? 15 

 

MR HEAD:   Yes, I was. 

 

MR CONWAY:   And, in terms of those changes, I am not sure if you were 

here yesterday morning when some of the witnesses confirmed a 20 

couple of changes that had been made to the policies 2 and 5. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Conway, yes, I see it is up now, thank you. 

 

MR CONWAY:   Yes, the document you can see in front of you on the screen 25 

there is – I will let you read it for a moment.  You are familiar with 

that? 

 

MR HEAD:   Yes. 

 30 

MR CONWAY:   I just want your confirmation that you agree with those 

words, with those changes there? 

 

MR HEAD:   Yes, I do. 

 35 

MR CONWAY:   You do, thank you.  Thank you, sir, no further questions. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, Mr Head.  Now, I am going to ask you a few 40 

questions that I have asked others.  I know there is, in your evidence 

here and previously for the rural chapter, you have told us about 

various studies and surveys that have been done in Banks Peninsula in 

particular but also on the low plains.   

 45 
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 Can you tell us whether a professional ecologist would have an 

adequate quality and extent of scientific information from the previous 

work that has been done to adequately assess any particular area or 

vegetation or habitat against the assessment criteria in the RPS 

appendix 3 including using the guidelines?  Particularly things where 5 

representativeness requires comparisons, rarity needs an understanding 

of the wider district but given that only a few sites have been looked at 

in detail, is there really enough information to make that assessment? 

 

MR HEAD:   For the most part, yes.  The Banks Peninsula survey was very, 10 

very thorough.  It was undertaken by Hugh Wilson, you know, 

regarded as one of the country’s best botanists and, you know, the 

criteria he was using were consistent with for most the criteria they use 

today.  And the criteria provide, you know, for the most part a fairly 

consistent rigour, and they should provide a consistent rigorous 15 

framework for any competent ecologist to use and come up with much 

the same conclusions. 

 

 The RPS criteria though are probably more helpful than the original 

PNAP criteria, they are very prescribed.  So, you know, it takes away, 20 

you know, more opportunity for subjectivity which, you know, there is 

always an element of that, it is just the way it is.  

 

MS DAWSON:   So even though this work has been done in a staged manner 

and an SES is only going to be looked at in groups, there is enough 25 

background information to be able to make those judgements without 

having done all the SES work in order to decide? 

 

MR HEAD:   For the most part, yes.  I mean the original PNAP survey of 

Banks Peninsula provides, what it provides is a very, very good 30 

benchmark and baseline at that time, you know, for which comparisons 

can be made against today.  It is preferable of course that, you know, 

sites are, well, you reconcile what is there today with the original 

vegetation descriptions in the PNAP survey, I mean that is probably 

quite important.  But broadly speaking that original work provides a 35 

very, very good foundation for us to, you know, know roughly what is 

still there today. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So you tell us in your evidence that there are numerous other 

sites that are likely to be significant in both Banks Peninsula and the 40 

low plains.  So how are you as a scientist confident about that? 

 

MR HEAD:   Well, from that report I just mentioned it provides, you know, the 

descriptions are very thorough and since these original surveys were 

done there is a lot of modern tools around which really do assist us to 45 

determine, you know, broadly speaking whether, you know, what is on 



 Page 608 

  

Ch9: Natural and Cultural Heritage Commenced 18.01.16 

the land and that can be from satellite imagery or aerial photos and 

everything else. 

 

  [12.20 pm] 

 5 

 The clarity of those are quite good and you can use those tools to 

determine whether those sites, as they were originally described, are at 

least still present.  You will never be able to determine what sort of 

changes have happened to the composition or the finer attributes of that 

ecosystem but you can tell broadly whether they are still there. 10 

 

MS DAWSON:   So when a site of significance in a particular survey is done, 

and the actual analysis of an SES or a potential SES is done, do you 

consider that that work needs to be verified on the ground, the 

boundaries checked on the ground, the statements of significance 15 

checked with the owners of the land in order for a decision-making 

panel like us to be sure that the work is robust enough to include it in a 

district plan? 

 

MR HEAD:   Well it is absolutely fundamental that you verify things to that 20 

fine level of detail, and in particular working with the landowners.  But 

I think in the case of Banks Peninsula and these environments where 

we have lost so much you would be on reasonably safe ground to make 

a judgement using the original information and modern tools like 

satellite imagery to determine whether a site is going to meet the 25 

threshold, broadly speaking. 

 

 And it is interesting that one plan takes that approach.  It relies on, for 

the most part, a desktop exercise using satellite imagery to determine – 

it is not even based on, from my understanding, a high degree of 30 

previous survey information but it uses collectively satellite imagery 

and their photos et cetera, to determine remnant indigenous vegetation 

within threatened land environments and they consider that an adequate 

threshold to determine significance. 

 35 

 I do not agree with that approach, I think it is completely counter-

productive.  Without discussion with landowners is just getting a bit, 

you are going to make things worse for you, but that is the approach 

they have adopted, so the way they have determined it, they think that 

they can make adequate judgements on the significance of remnants 40 

simply because there are so few left. 

 

MS DAWSON:  So coming back to Banks Peninsula, am I correct in 

understanding you are saying that at a potentially significant level then 

there is information available including new modern tools that could 45 

identify that but for something to be accurately identified and put in 
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with a boundary around it and particular rules apply, then you consider 

that needs to be done on the ground to be verified and with a dialogue 

with, well in order to know that the information is as accurate as it can 

be? 

 5 

MR HEAD:   Well it depends how much money you want to spend, you know.  

You can determine – but given the quality of the previous work and the 

modern tools you can be quite confident that if forest remnants still 

exists it will be significant, you could do that and I would be confident 

in making that judgement for the most part. 10 

 

 That is a separate issue and working with the landowners - - - 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. 

 15 

MR HEAD:   - - - do discuss with them the issues relating to that.  But I think, 

yes, you could do that, for a number of those sites, which we have got a 

huge amount of information on in the past, I think if you can determine 

that they are still present, from either using satellite imagery or even 

just from driving up and seeing that that forest is still there, then I 20 

would be confident in making a judgement that it is more than likely 

going to meet the significant thresholds and the RPS criteria that they 

are using to determine the significance.   

 

 It will not tell you the finer, all the bits and pieces around what might 25 

be there, the rare species and everything else, it will not necessarily, 

you will not be able to determine whether they are still there from the 

previous surveys, but on some of those broader criteria especially 

representativeness, you will be able to, well you do not need to be part 

of the criteria in the RPS, you could make that assessment. 30 

 

MS DAWSON:   So just moving onto some other statements that you make.  

You talk about the decline in biodiversity over a long period of time 

and I do not think anyone is arguing that it has greatly declined from its 

original state.  But I am thinking about the period sort of in the past 20 35 

years when we have had the mediated agreement and we have had all 

this process that stopped and started and has not been completed. 

 

  [12.25 pm] 

 40 

 How, and you say there has been I think we have heard 15 to 18 

percent of increase in indigenous vegetation cover in that time, and you 

have said that that is mostly woody regrowth; do you consider that 

overall, despite the increase in vegetation cover, that scientists can be 

confident in saying that there has been a loss of biodiversity over that 45 

period?  How does anyone weigh that? 
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MR HEAD:   Well yes, it is a classic case of two steps forward, one step 

backwards.  I mean there is no doubt there has been recovery of what is 

called seral, woody vegetation on Banks Peninsula, there is no doubt 

about that.  And that has been happening ever since they cleared most 5 

of it back in the 1840s and 50s and in particular in the 1890s in the 

bush, the cocksfoot area, when they just burnt it all off, and then the 

subspecies would have come on which allowed it to be – the mid-20th 

century is when a lot of that seral vegetation really went, but since that 

point in time the subsidy has come off that, assisting to clear it, there 10 

has been no doubt a remarkable and substantial recovery to around 

about of combined woody, this combined woody system now is around 

about 16 percent.   

 

 But along the path of recovery we are gaining here and we have been 15 

losing other sites here and there and with that we are protecting sites as 

well so it is a sort of moving feast, if you know what I mean, and I 

would describe it as two steps forward and often one step backwards, 

and you can see I have presented some evidence of some of the losses 

that have been going on and they are substantial losses in the context of 20 

what those values represent.  So there is loss going on but at the same 

time we are gaining it elsewhere. 

 

 And we are trying to protect it; DCC has always identified Banks 

Peninsula as an important area to increase the percentage of protected 25 

land.  The reserves they have got are small and fragmented because of 

issues and it is one of those few places where if you protect land, 

especially the shady unproductive stuff, they call it unproductive but 

actually it is quite productive in terms of regeneration. 

 30 

 We have had a strategy to try and purchase a lot of that land and we 

have been very successful and in particular trying to join up our 

reserves, increase the connectivity, all those ecological attributes of 

ecological function and health. 

 35 

 And we have a number of applications in at the moment, willing seller, 

willing buyer concept, trying to purchase land from farmers.  When I 

say unproductive land, I probably should qualify - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Could you slow down a bit please? 40 

 

MR HEAD:   Sorry. 

 

SJH:   Could you slow down, and try to be as succinct as you possibly can. 

 45 

MS DAWSON:   I think you have answered my question. 
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MR HEAD:   Okay. 

 

MS DAWSON:   I think that is all my questions, thank you very much. 

 5 

SJH:   Thank you.  We will interpose Ms Limmer’s cross-examination now. 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS LIMMER 12.28 pm] 

 

MS LIMMER:   Thank you, sir.  Sorry, I only have three questions for you, 10 

Mr Head and I apologise if my first one was covered in your highlights 

package.  It relates to Exhibit 5 produced yesterday in the revised 

version of policy 2. 

 

 Now much of your evidence, particularly your rebuttal of Fulton 15 

Hogan’s evidence, related to the concept of no net loss and how SES 

sites should be managed with regard to offsetting.  Do I understand that 

policy 2 and Exhibit 5 is supported by you? 

 

MR HEAD:   Yes, it is. 20 

 

MS LIMMER:   Now I am not sure if you were here when Dr Roper-Lindsay 

gave her evidence yesterday but she said the phrase “values and 

ecosystem functions identifies the particular biodiversity attributes of 

the pieces of land and water that are to be protected”.  Do you agree 25 

with that? 

 

MR HEAD:   Yes but in the context of the wider sentence I think those words 

which talk about keeping the area significant values and then it went on 

to talk about protecting the ecological function, etcetera, well I think it 30 

is superfluous. 

 

MS LIMMER:   I was not asking you about the sentence, I was asking if you 

agreed with that statement, and the next one, “That active intervention 

acts on ecosystems and functions”, do you also agree with that? 35 

 

MR HEAD:   I agree that ecological functions are an inherent part of an SES 

boundary.  When they determine the boundary they should have 

accounted for the ecological functions as well so again I think 

separating out the words “ecological functions” is superfluous. 40 

 

  [12.30 pm] 

 

MS LIMMER:   My question, Mr Head, is just do you agree that active 

intervention acts on ecosystems and functions, that is what 45 

Dr Roper-Lindsay said yesterday; do you agree with that statement? 
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MR HEAD:   Yes, but I would also add that determining the full range of 

attributes or qualifying all the attributes that constitute ecological 

functioning, I would put it to you, is extremely difficult. 

 5 

MS LIMMER:   Yes, but you agree with that statement as a matter of fact? 

 

MR HEAD:   As far as you can determine how you measure the full range of 

attributes that, you know, are defined by ecological function. 

 10 

MS LIMMER:   Thank you, sir, those are my questions. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Dr Mitchell? 

 

DR MITCHELL:  Thank you, sir - - - 15 

 

SJH:   I am sorry; Ms Dawson, was there anything arising? 

 

MS DAWSON:   No, I am finished, thank you. 

 20 

DR MITCHELL:   Thank you, sir, good afternoon, Mr Head.  Ms Dawson 

asked you some questions about the status of biodiversity in more 

recent times; can I just ask you a very simple and direct question about 

that? 

 25 

 In relation to the primary objective of the Regional Policy Statement 

which is to halt the decline of the loss of biodiversity, over the period 

that Ms Dawson referred to, has that or has that not occurred in respect 

of Banks Peninsula? 

 30 

MR HEAD:   In a broad sense, yes, there is more indigenous vegetation on 

Banks Peninsula than there was, say, 10 years ago but again, I have to 

apply a qualifier, we have also lost some sites which are irreplaceable 

as well so we are gaining the common serial resilient vegetation but we 

have also lost some ecosystems which are far less common and quite 35 

distinctive. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   I understand that and that is the answer you gave to 

Ms Dawson but my question is more focused than that and it is has the 

decline on Bank Peninsula, when looked at in totality, been halted or 40 

not? 

 

MR HEAD:   In totality, no. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   And why do you say that? 45 
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MR HEAD:   I say that because there is a range of ways we can assess decline.  

There are more threatened plant species being determined on 

Banks Peninsula now than there was 10 years ago.  So the expert panel 

who determined the threatened status of these species have decided that 

they are in a more precarious state now and that is because the data is 5 

not high rated in Banks Peninsula, although there a number of species 

just found on Banks Peninsula – It supports the notion that habitats are 

being lost, been more invaded by weeds and are generally poorly 

protected. 

 10 

DR MITCHELL:   All right, thank you.  If we go forward in time and take a 

situation where there is a series of SES in place on Banks Peninsula 

and we then want to – or not within Banks Peninsula, sorry, within the 

Christchurch district – and we then wanted to look at a specific 

proposal and determine whether the use of that SES area constituted no 15 

net loss of biodiversity, at what scale would that no net loss be assessed 

at?   

 

 Would it be in relation to the property that was being looked at, would 

it be in the context of the site of significance or would it be looked at at 20 

a district scale or something else? 

 

MR HEAD:   The biodiversity offsetting framework provides quite a bit of 

information of how you determine, or burden of proof they call it, and 

the currency determines what constitutes net loss and they – again, 25 

there is a definition around what constitutes net loss in the RPS which I 

do not think is particularly helpful.  The easiest way to do it is based 

simply on area so if you had 50 hectares and you lose 50 hectares it is 

clearly a net loss but also they add a condition score to that as well. 

 30 

DR MITCHELL:   All right, I won’t take that any further. 

 

MR HEAD:   And for the most part it should be judged within the ecological 

district. 

 35 

DR MITCHELL:   No, I won’t take it any further.  Do you think there is a 

distinction to be made between, in relative terms, how significant an 

SES is and how it is to be managed? 

 

MR HEAD:   Yes I do. 40 

 

DR MITCHELL:   At the moment, this proposal relies on a resource consent 

process to determine that relativity and the degree of intervention.  

Would a better alternative be to have “tailor-made” the rules to the 

relative significance of the land in question or the area in question? 45 
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  [12.35 pm] 

 

MR HEAD:   Quite possibly.  Different SES, you will have different threats so 

you would tailor it depending on what is the best way to maintain it and 

enhance the biodiversity of that SES.   5 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Okay, thank you.  And just finally, you have mentioned a 

couple of times in your evidence about international best practice in 

terms of offsetting in particular.  Are you aware of anywhere else in the 

world other than New Zealand where a regulatory approach has been 10 

taken to that best practice approach or whether it is an approach that 

involves co-operation between landowners, interest groups, regulators 

and so forth, e.g. BBOP? 

 

MR HEAD:   I have to be a little careful in answering this question because I 15 

do not know if it is a necessarily ecological question but I think BBOP 

is interesting in that it seems to me in my maybe layperson’s 

understanding of legislation a default sort of RMA for countries where 

you have not got the same level of environmental regulation. 

 20 

DR MITCHELL:   Perhaps I will ask the question a different way.  BBOP, 

which I think is – when you are talking about best international practice 

or international best practice you are referring to the sort of approach 

that that adopts.  Is it not the fundamental tenant of BBOP, partnership 

between landowner, regulator and the community and it is not a system 25 

that imposes an outcome on either of those parties without that 

consensus existing.   

 

 In other words, it is not a regulatory intervention that says you must do 

this; it is a consensus agreement that says, “We will do this.”  30 

 

MR HEAD:   One of the principles of good offset is equity and collaboration 

and transparency and all those things, yes. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Thank you, thank you, sir. 35 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   No questions, thank you, sir. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Sir, just a few matters.  I wonder if that agreed statement 

could be put up again that Mr Conway tested please.  Yes, good 

afternoon, Mr Head.   

 

 Look, my first question relates to something I tested yesterday with 45 

others and I will just run it past you given that you have agreed to this 
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wording; (i), in that sentence there within the coastal environment.  I 

am right, am I, to understand that an indigenous ecosystem nowadays, 

for instance, on any Banks Peninsula rural land could encompass quite 

a lot of exotic plants and flora and fauna? 

 5 

MR HEAD:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So I am right also to understand, aren’t I, that it is open to 

at least argument that if a farmer did anything on their land they could 

run in conflict with those words? 10 

 

MR HEAD:   Quite likely. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So they are inappropriate, are they not in terms of your 

expertise in ecology? 15 

 

MR HEAD:  Well, I suppose that missing the word “significant” opens it up to 

a rather broad interpretation. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And that word “significant” involves judgement, does it 20 

not? 

 

MR HEAD:   It does. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:    And uncertainty. 25 

 

MR HEAD:   Not so much uncertainty given there is a rigorous protocol how 

we determine what is significant. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, no, I understand that, now, just coming through 30 

some other things. One of the witnesses yesterday, Mr Hutchison, 

spoke about his fears.  Have you had a chance to read the transcript in 

regard to the farming evidence? 

 

MR HEAD:   No, I have not. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:    Well, one of the things he said was his fear that at some 

stage and he used the healthy, robust language of a farmer, that an 

indigenous weed might pop up on his land and, therefore, he would be 

subject to restriction and then he said, “And I wouldn't know whether 40 

the area that I’d be restricted in would be one metre square,” I think he 

said, “or 100 metres square.” 
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  [12.40 pm] 

 

 Bearing that in mind, am I right to understand that the role that you 

have in this equation as an expert is one of identifying significant 

vegetation for the purpose that the policy maker has to identify 5 

significant areas? 

 

MR HEAD:   Yes, that is the area of my expertise. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN: Yes, that is the area of your expertise, so in the case of 10 

Mr Hutcheson, for instance, say you identify an indigenous weed 

popping up, whose judgement would it be most appropriate to make, 

yours or the Council’s, on whether that is a significant area? 

 

MR HEAD:  It would require an adequately qualified ecologist to determine 15 

the values of the particular site in question. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Yes, and not to harangue you on this, and so that is an 

input to the judgement is it not, a valuable input to the judgement but 

nevertheless an input rather than the judgement itself on significance? 20 

 

MR HEAD:   That is correct, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Am I right to understand this issue that effectively in your 

answer to Dr Mitchell on no net loss, for instance, that that is just one 25 

phrase that is capable of disputed meanings amongst ecologists as 

professionals?   

 

MR HEAD:   I think having that word there, yes, creates the potential for some 

rather protracted arguments as to what constitutes a net loss, and you 30 

know, as I said earlier, if you look at the definition of what constitutes a 

net loss, and there is a lot in that to try and tease out. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, so it is an area of argument.  So thinking about that, 

and another thing that occurs to me is the concept of halting 35 

biodiversity decline.  You have mentioned the practical topic of how 

much money you have got, but am I right to understand given where 

we are at, given that New Zealand’s been anthropocentrically 

influenced, if you like, since humans have been here, that there will 

never be a time where a bright line is crossed that policies, rules and 40 

other methods have actually done the halting, given for instance, your 

answers to Dr Mitchell about what is the nature of biodiversity loss.  

We will never know when we are there, will we? 

 

MR HEAD:   It depends on scale, I am sorry. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   So that is subjective and that comes back to judgement? 

 

MR HEAD:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  So do you agree that on matters such as how much is 5 

enough and the judgement on scale and significance, all of those again 

come back to the policy maker rather than the ecologist, the ecologist is 

there as an advisory input to that judgement. 

 

 Do you agree with that? 10 

 

MR HEAD:   To a point, but there is some very sour and ecological theory that 

determines what should be – you know, what constitutes a minimum 

threshold? 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And those are guiding the policy documents that we have 

to give effect to? 

 

MR HEAD:   They are. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   But inevitably, given that we do not have endless money 

and given that we have got a number of estates of private land, it is not 

all owned by the Crown, and the Crown cannot afford to do it and the 

evidence from the Council is they cannot certainly afford to do it, it is 

inevitable is it not, that to give effect to this direction, policy and even 25 

the Act, it is very important to prioritise what can realistically be 

achieved within budgets? 

 

MR HEAD:   Absolutely. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:  And that is missing at the moment isn’t it, in terms of what 

is being proposed and what the Council intends to next do, we do not 

have that, are you aware that we have that, a budget that indicates 

priorities for what will next be achieved? 

 35 

MR HEAD:   Oh, I think the Council is probably best answering that question.  

I am not familiar with what their budget is. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I will ask it another way.  If there are limited budgets, do 

you think that should influence the selection of areas of interest for 40 

future SES, in other words, do not bite off more than you can chew, 

identify what will be achieved and those are effectively the priorities 

for future SES for this Plan at this time. 

 

 From an ecologist’s point of view, do you think that is a good idea? 45 
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MR HEAD:   Yes, and that is how the original PNAP survey operated.  The 

original PNAP survey was about identifying – it was just about really 

the best sites, top shelf sites, and the way they prioritised that is, you 

know, which was distinctiveness, rarity and also probably threat as 

well. 5 

 

 I understand that Council has applied some of that thinking to their 

(INDISTINCT 0.21) to his evidence.  Whether it is actually the case, 

well I would have to look at the full schedule. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, and finally on the matter of stewardship, which is a 

principle which the Act endorses that we have particular regard to as an 

ethic, I take it you would strongly endorse the views of other experts 

finding a planning regime that incentivises stewardship behaviour 

effectively involving buy-in from landowners is essential to achieving 15 

the outcomes of the policy statement? 

 

MR HEAD:   Yes, I agree with that. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Have you had any familiarity with the use of the land 20 

management plan tool, ecological management tool, biodiversity 

management tool as a tool for this sort of exercise anywhere else in 

New Zealand? 

 

MR HEAD:   As a concept, yes, I mean you know, it is not too dissimilar I 25 

suppose to how DOC manages some of its own areas will have a plan, 

which you know, identifies how it should be managed. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And do you support that as a tool of stewardship? 

 30 

MR HEAD:   Yes, I have got no objections to management plans if you are 

managing biodiversity in a prescribed manner. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  What do you think it is worth – sorry, no objections to 

sounds a little bit of bannock praise, do you go further than that or do 35 

you just give them that? 

 

MR HEAD:   Well, there are qualifications to that, I mean, you know - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   What are your qualifications to that? 40 

 

MR HEAD:   It depends on how – the value of these plans often depend on the 

goodwill – they ultimately depend on the goodwill of the landowner, 

that is a given in my experience, and we have had examples – and it is 

not just with management plans, even covenants where, you know, they 45 

are set up by a willing landowner, an enthusiastic landowner, and the 
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property is sold and the new landowner has not adhered to the same 

degree of concern. 

 

 I suppose - - - 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:  So that can be resolved by identifying in the document 

those things that are obligations to be enforced in a clear way? 

 

MR HEAD:   Yes. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

SJH:   Mr Head, from what you say, you would accept what we have heard 

from earlier witnesses, for this regime to work it needs buy-in and 

cooperation from the landowners? 15 

 

MR HEAD:   Absolutely. 

 

SJH:   And it would appear, and we don’t know the exact number because 

some may have been done under the earlier Banks Peninsula consent 20 

regime, most of the SES’s that have been notified have not been a 

collaborative process? 

 

MR HEAD:   Well - - - 

 25 

SJH:   If you cannot answer that, don’t answer that question.  But you would 

accept it needs to be a collaborative process? 

 

MR HEAD:   Absolutely, yes. 

 30 

SJH:   Do you have any familiarity with the consent order that has been talked 

about quite a lot because I think DOC were a party to it? 

 

MR HEAD:   Yes, I was involved in some of those negotiations. 

 35 

SJH:   And that imposed a timeline of completing the SES’s for five years. 

 

MR HEAD:   Yes. 

 

SJH:   It would seem from the evidence of Dr Appleton and Dr Stapleton, that 40 

that simply was not resourced by the Council to allow it to happen.  

Can you comment on that? 

 

MR HEAD:   It is probably a little more complicated than that.  I think it is also 

the process they adopted. 45 
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SJH:   You referred to, I presume it is Dr Wilson’s study, the Council evidence 

was that that is out of date and it needs to be updated to be a solid base 

for an SES given that it is impacting on private property rights. 

 

MR HEAD:   I would not say it was out of date, it was done - - - 5 

 

SJH:   I am saying that is their evidence, do you agree or disagree with that? 

 

MR HEAD:   No, I disagree with that. 

 10 

SJH:   So you do not think it is necessary to go on a property to make an SES’s 

assessment on Banks Peninsula?  

 

MR HEAD:   Not when you have that level of background information, but I 

think it is important that you do. 15 

 

  [12.50 pm] 

 

SJH:   Could we just bring up RPS 9.3.1 please and I just want to tease out 

some questions that came from Judge Hassan.  The policy wording 20 

itself does not require any rules, does it? 

 

MR HEAD:   This is the policy in front of me? 

 

SJH:   Yes. 25 

 

MR HEAD:   9.3.1, is this the RPS? 

 

SJH:   Yes.  I thought you might have recognised it. 

 30 

MR HEAD:   Well I did.   

 

SJH:   The requirement for rules comes under methods, does it not?   

 

MR HEAD:   Not being a planner I will take your word for that. 35 

 

SJH:   Well can you see any reference to rules in the bold print, put it that way, 

which is wording I am sure you must be familiar with. 

 

MR HEAD:   Oh, absolutely.  No, there are no rules there, it is a separate issue. 40 

 

SJH:  But if we go across and Mr Langman will highlight the second 

paragraph, the District Plan provisions will include appropriate rules to 

manage clearance of indigenous vegetation et cetera.  And if you feel 

uncomfortable that we are getting into areas of interpretation and you 45 

do not want to answer, just say so. 
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MR HEAD:   Well I am, actually.  I am an ecologist, I am not a planner. 

 

SJH:   No, no, let me finish my question first.  Significance under 1 there is to 

be assessed under appendix 3 and 2.  And would you say that is the role 5 

of an ecologist to take appendix 3, to go through the various matters in 

the four categories, assess them and tick the various boxes under that? 

 

MR HEAD:   Yes. 

 10 

SJH:   Perhaps to be fair to you, to give you context, why I am exploring this, 

because I think there are two sorts of significance here that have been 

run together by some of the witnesses.  I just want to tease this out.  If 

we go across to the highlighted area, “The plan will include appropriate 

rules, a case by case assessment, whether areas of indigenous 15 

vegetation subject to the rule comprises significant area of indigenous 

vegetation and/or a significant habitat of indigenous fauna that warrants 

protection”.  Do you see that? 

 

MR HEAD:   Yes. 20 

 

SJH:   Would it be fair to say that the exercise of the judgement of 

“significance”, under 1 and 2 of the bold print, is the role of an 

ecologist? 

 25 

MR HEAD:   Yes. 

 

SJH:   And would it also be fair to say that it is for the territorial authority to 

make a judgement call about significance which would include the 

ecological information under the highlighted passage? 30 

 

MR HEAD:   Possibly.  I would hope the territorial authority would be relying 

on the ecologist’s judgement of what is significant. 

 

SJH:  So in your view that highlighted passage only requires ecological 35 

information, no other judgement at all? 

 

MR HEAD:   Determining significance is a rigorous scientific process.  I mean 

it is either significant or it is not, in terms of - - - 

 40 

SJH:   Within the word “significance” there is a range though, is there not? 

 

MR HEAD:   Some sites are more significant than others, that - - - 

 

SJH:   Within the word “significance” there is a range? 45 
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MR HEAD:   Some sites – maybe I will put it this way, within significance, 

some sites are more important than others.  Significance and 

importance are slightly different concepts and - - - 

 

SJH:   But does that not say it is the responsibility of the territorial authority, 5 

not the ecologist, to determine that the indigenous vegetation. or 

significant habitat, warrants protection?  The “warrants protection” is a 

judgement call for the territorial authority based on, I imagine in the 

main, ecological evidence, but other factors as well? 

 10 

  [12.55 pm] 

 

MR HEAD:   Perhaps they consider other factors. 

 

SJH:   You would accept that? 15 

 

MR HEAD:   I am not aware of any situations where authorities have said a 

site is not significant where the ecologists have said it is. 

 

SJH:   That is not the point, that is not the point; it is whether it warrants 20 

protection is the judgement call.  In other words, the writers of the RPS 

have not ceded all decision making to the ecologists.  They require the 

territorial authority to do this. 

 

MR HEAD:   Yes, I understand. 25 

 

SJH:   You would accept that? 

 

MR HEAD:   I do, yes. 

 30 

SJH:   All right.  Thank you.  Anything arising, Ms Limmer? 

 

MS LIMMER:   No, sir. 

 

SJH:   Mr Conway? 35 

 

MR CONWAY:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Anything arising or re-examination, Mr Radich? 

 40 

MR RADICH:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Mr Head, you may stand down and you may be released. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [12.56 pm] 45 
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SJH:   Given it is just on one, we will take the adjournment until 1.45. 

 

ADJOURNED [12.56 pm] 

 

RESUMED [1.45 pm] 5 

 

SJH:   Yes, thank you.  Yes, Mr Radich? 

 

MR RADICH:   Thank you, I call Anita Maria Spencer. 

10 
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<ANITA MARIA SPENCER, affirmed [1.45 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR RADICH [1.46 pm] 

 

MR RADICH:   Now, your full name is Anita Maria Spencer? 

 

MS SPENCER:   Yes. 5 

 

MR RADICH:   You hold the position of biodiversity ranger the Mahaanui 

office of the Department of Conservation? 

 

MS SPENCER:   Yes. 10 

 

MR RADICH:   And you have given a brief of evidence, a statement of 

evidence, Ms Spencer, dated 10 December 2015? 

 

MS SPENCER:   Yes, I have. 15 

 

MR RADICH:   And do you have an amendment to make to that statement of 

evidence? 

 

MS SPENCER:   Yes, I would like to make an amendment to page 13 on the 20 

first paragraph. 

 

MR RADICH:   Page 13, the first paragraph.  Is the paragraph 8.1? 

 

MS SPENCER:   7.1. 25 

 

MR RADICH:   Sorry. 

 

MS SPENCER:   The last paragraph on page 12 over to - - - 

 30 

SJH:   7.10 or 7.1? 

 

MS SPENCER:   It is 7.1. 

 

MR RADICH:   7.1. 35 

 

SJH:   So that is on page 10. 

 

MR RADICH:   Page 10. 

 40 

DR MITCHELL:   7.1 – 0. 

 

MS SPENCER:   It is my third to last paragraph, the one before the conclusion. 

 

MR RADICH:   At 7.1 – 0, yes, 7.10 and the amendment please is? 45 
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MS SPENCER:   Oh, sorry, yes, 7.10.  So the amendment is the revised topic 

9.1 at 9.1.2.3 should be 9.1.3.2. 

 

MR RADICH:   I see, just transpose 3.2, the second to last line, 

paragraph 7.10, thank you.   5 

 

MS SPENCER:   Yes, thank you. 

 

MR RADICH:   Do you have a summary now of your evidence? 

 10 

MS SPENCER:   Yes, I do. 

 

MR RADICH:   Please would you read that for the Panel. 

 

MS SPENCER:   The indigenous biodiversity of New Zealand is characterised 15 

by species found nowhere else in the world due to the length of time 

since our landmass separated from Gondwanaland. 

 

 The arrival of humans in New Zealand resulted in extinctions and 

population declines for the majority of our unique species.  Habitat 20 

clearance and wetland modification and drainage have been particularly 

devastating on the Canterbury Plains and on Banks Peninsula.  Less 

than 0.5 percent of indigenous vegetation remains on Plains and on 

Banks Peninsula old growth forest was reduced to 1 percent of its pre-

human extent.  Combined with other threats this devastation has 25 

resulted in New Zealand having a globally high proportion of 

threatened species. 

 

 There is widespread recognition in New Zealand of the need for action 

to protect our special biodiversity but the scale of the task has meant 30 

despite current efforts we are still largely failing.  The Department of 

Conservation undertakes regular reviews of the number and threat 

classifications of our native species so that we maintain current 

information.  These reveal that increasing numbers of species are 

becoming threatened including those once thought common such as 35 

red-billed gulls and inanga which is the main whitebait species in 

Canterbury. 

 

 We have a pattern of species becoming more endangered over time 

until they are sufficiently threatened to receive specific conservation 40 

management.  To stop this conveyor belt of endangered species we 

need to address the problem at all levels from on the ground 

intervention up to policy and legislation.   

 

 The replacement plan improves the legal protection for the majority of 45 

habitat of indigenous species.  In my evidence I gave the examples of 
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jewelled gecko and tui where indigenous fauna will benefit from these 

improvements, particularly for those species that use seral 

communities, those that are in an intermediate stage in ecological 

succession which in my opinion are underappreciated for their 

biodiversity value and are often the target of destruction by 5 

landowners. 

 

 The indigenous vegetation provisions do not protect all indigenous 

fauna as not all species of fauna are reliant on indigenous vegetation 

and they still require protection.  This is particular the case with species 10 

using our coastal fringe such as white-flippered penguins and 

New Zealand fur seals. 

 

  [1.50 pm] 

 15 

 Scott Hooson in his rebuttal evidence on behalf of the Council states 

that he has assessed Banks Peninsula’s coastal cliffs and the area 

between the cliffs and the sea will be included in an updated schedule 

of SES through a plan change.  This will cover the majority of penguin 

and seal habitat and in my opinion is a satisfactory outcome. 20 

 

MR RADICH:   Thank you, now please answer any questions. 

 

MS SPENCER:   I have not finished. 

 25 

MR RADICH:   My apologies. 

 

MS SPENCER:   Sorry. 

 

MR RADICH:   Sorry, sir. 30 

 

MS SPENCER:   The other group of indigenous fauna which fall outside of 

indigenous vegetation provisions are lizards.  Our knowledge of them 

is incomplete, particular for their distribution. Canterbury gecko, which 

have a threat ranking of declining, are now largely restricted to refuge 35 

sites, which offer a high level of protection against predators as well as 

provides them more properties which allow them to be active as they 

are ectotherms, they regulate body temperature by exchanging heat 

with their surroundings.  This is typically rock outcrops with fissures 

and cracks where geckos can live in communal retreats which hold 40 

numerous animals. 

 

 The three species of skink found in an area covered by the Replacement 

Plan, which includes the Central Canterbury Spotted Skink, ranked as 

nationally vulnerable, are also found in areas where exotic vegetation 45 

may predominate.  The key factor to their continued presence appears 
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to be the lack of disturbance to the area combined with a complex 

enough habitat that it provides protection from predators and sufficient 

food.   

 

 The unassuming appearance of many of these lizard sites has led to 5 

destruction of them with no consideration of their natural values.  

Prioritising surveys for these species so they can be added to the SES 

schedule will help to prevent this from happening in the future.  

Caution needs to be taken in publicly identifying these sites, however, 

as jewelled geckos in particular are the target of international wildlife 10 

smugglers who have targeted the Peninsula recently.  Mr Hooson and I 

are in agreement that these sites should be documented in general terms 

only. 

 

 Outside of proposal 9 I support other provisions that address the 15 

habitats of indigenous fauna.  I understand that the parties have agreed 

that the parties have agreed that the provisions in topic 9.1 of 

proposal 9 are to apply to utilities and note that this would address the 

concern in my statement about the protection of indigenous 

biodiversity in the utilities and energy proposal. 20 

 

MR RADICH:   Thank you very much, now would you please answer any 

questions. 

 

SJH:   Mr Conway? 25 

 

MR CONWAY:   Thank you, sir, and thank you, Ms Spencer.  Your highlights 

package has resolved the questions I was going to ask of you so I have 

no questions, sir. 

 30 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   No questions, thank you, Ms Spencer. 

 

SJH:   Dr Mitchell? 35 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Thank you, sir, I have just got two questions.  You have a 

table 1 in your evidence, I am just trying to find the page number, 

page 8, where you list five lizard species.  Just focusing on Banks 

Peninsula as opposed to the district as a whole, can you break down 40 

that table to say what is found on Banks Peninsula, as opposed to the 

district as a whole? 

 

MS SPENCER:   Sure.  All five of those species are found on Banks Peninsula. 

 45 
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DR MITCHELL:   And in relative terms is Banks Peninsula more important 

than the balance of the district or equally important, how would you 

rate that? 

 

MS SPENCER:   For Canterbury gecko and jewelled gecko Banks Peninsula 5 

would be probably of higher importance, possibly for spotted skink as 

well. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   You have said in your evidence and I marked it but I now 

cannot find the paragraph reference, but the proposition that you have 10 

put are that, putting lizards to one side, that habitat for seals and 

penguins need to be better represented in SES areas.  But you also go 

on to say that particularly in relation to seals, they do not appear to be 

under any particular threat at the moment.  If that is the case, and given 

that the numbers of seals, as I understand it at least, have increased 15 

quite dramatically in recent years, why would you do that? 

 

MS SPENCER:   I think you get quite concentrated populations of seals, they 

form colonies at sites and some sites are haul out and others their 

breeding, so I think that you could have quite an impact on the Banks 20 

Peninsula population if there was disturbance to those sites. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   And if you did do that, what would you do?  How would 

you protect those sites?  What physical would you do once you had 

identified them? 25 

 

MS SPENCER:   Well I think just preventing development at them would be 

the key thing. 

 

DR MITCHELL:  So if you apply that principle more broadly, is your 30 

recommended approach to managing SCSs to identify them and then 

essentially fence them off and prevent activities on them, or is it to 

encourage a more multi-use regime? 

 

  [1.55 pm] 35 

 

MS SPENCER:   I think with some species it can be a more multi-use regime.  

Fencing is not always necessary but I think primarily making sure the 

habitat is physically protected does protect most of the species that are 

within it. 40 

 

DR MITCHELL:   How do you see the potential conflict then developing 

between that public good and a private individual’s use of their land 

and in some cases something that they may well have been doing for a 

considerable period of time, and the economic burden of that.  How 45 

would you see that being addressed? 



 Page 630 

  

Ch9: Natural and Cultural Heritage Commenced 18.01.16 

 

MS SPENCER:   I think for many landowners if it is something they have been 

doing for some time and they still have those values existing, then 

possibly it is compatible. 

 5 

DR MITCHELL:   Okay, all right, thank you.  Thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   No, thank you, sir. 10 

 

SJH:   Judge? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, now Ms Spencer, before I ask you a question I was 

just going to get a couple of things sorted.  Mr Langman, do you have a 15 

copy of the revised utilities and energy proposal that you can put on the 

screen?  And my first question is going to be to you, Mr Conway. 

 

 Your election not to cross-examine, I had a couple of questions for 

Ms Spencer in regard to her paragraph 4.4 where she expresses concern 20 

about the revised utilities and energy proposal.  Can you help me to 

understand whether or not that is a matter that has been settled with the 

Council?  And if so, I will ask you to take me to what has changed 

materially in this. 

 25 

MR CONWAY:   Sir, my understanding was that was linked to the question of 

further assessment, although I appreciate this particularly it does talk 

about outside identified SES.  I did not have that on my list of things 

that I was wishing to speak to Ms Spencer about on the basis of my 

understanding that there was not a point of disagreement. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well I will just check that.  Ms Spencer, is this something 

you withdraw as an opinion at this point, paragraph 4.4? 

 

MS SPENCER:   It is. because as I understand it has been addressed. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  I do not have any further questions. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Anything arising? 

 40 

MR RADICH:   No, thank you, your honour. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Thank you, Ms Spencer, you may stand down and you may 

be excused. 

 45 

MS SPENCER:   Thank you. 
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<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [1.57 pm] 

 

SJH:   Yes, Mr Radich? 

 5 

MR RADICH:   Thank you, sir, I call Peter Rough. 
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<PETER ROUGH, affirmed [1.58 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR RADICH [1.58 pm] 

 

MR RADICH:   Your full name is Peter Rough? 

 

MR ROUGH:   That is correct. 5 

 

MR RADICH:   And you are a landscape architect employed by Rough and 

Milne Landscape Architects? 

 

MR ROUGH:   That is correct. 10 

 

MR RADICH:  And you have given a statement of evidence, dated 

10 December 2015? 

 

MR ROUGH:   Yes. 15 

 

MR RADICH:   Do you have amendments you would like to make to that 

statement? 

 

MR ROUGH:   Yes, I have five minor but nonetheless reasonably important 20 

corrections. 

 

MR RADICH:   Thank you. 

 

MR ROUGH:   The first is on page 11, paragraph 6.17. 25 

 

MR RADICH:   Page 11, yes. 

 

MR ROUGH:   In the first line of that, the words “coastal environment” should 

be “Coastal Zone” with a capital C and a capital Z. 30 

 

MR RADICH:   Thank you. 

 

MR ROUGH:   The next one is on page 24, paragraph 8.14. 

 35 

MR RADICH:   Yes. 

 

MR ROUGH:   The third line of the quotation, “section 8” should read 

“section 6”. 

 40 

MR RADICH:   Yes. 

 

MR ROUGH:   Page 35, paragraph 9.18. 

 

MR RADICH:   Yes. 45 
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MR ROUGH:   On the first line after the comma insert the word, “have”.  And 

in the last line “25 cubic metres” should be “25 cubic metres per 

hectare”.   

 

MR RADICH:   Yes.  5 

 

MR ROUGH:   Page 36, paragraph 9.22. 

 

  [2.00 pm] 

 10 

MR ROUGH:   Page 36, paragraph 9.2.2.  In the first line the word “piles” 

should be “poles” and finally, page 42, paragraph 9.3.5.  The last line 

the rules has in brackets the letter “k”, it should be the letter “i”.   

 

MR RADICH:   Thank you.  Having made those changes, do you confirm the 15 

content of your evidence to be true and correct? 

 

MR ROUGH:   I do. 

 

MR RADICH:   Thank you, would you please now provide a summary of your 20 

evidence for the Panel. 

 

MR ROUGH:   The first section of my evidence addresses the evolution of the 

landscape of the Christchurch district.  I did this in brief as I considered 

important to provide context for values associated with natural 25 

character, natural features and landscapes as well as amenity features. 

 

 I noted in broad terms the district is composed of two landscape types 

being the plains which is a portion of the Canterbury Plains formed of 

outwash gravels and Banks Peninsula which is an eroded volcanic 30 

landform.  The Plains and the Peninsula each have a distinctive coastal 

environment and the overall character of each landscape type has 

evolved from a combination of natural processes and human activities. 

 

 On both the Plains section of the district and on the Peninsula, natural 35 

features in areas of natural landscape that have prevailed since the time 

of Māori and early European settlement, are now mostly just small 

remnants or are now considerably modified and most requiring 

managing. 

 40 

 The key points in my evidence relating to the revised versions of the 

natural and cultural heritage provisions are, in essence, a) I generally 

concur with the way in which natural character, outstanding natural 

features and landscapes and other features and landscapes have been 

mapped as overlays on Stage 3 planning maps.   45 
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 I generally consider the provisions in revised topic 9.2 are appropriate 

for the management of effects on landscape features and natural 

character values.  However, I agree with Ms Cameron that the structure 

and layout of this topic is complex and includes a high level of 

duplication.   5 

 

 I support the addition of a new rule addressing quarrying with the 

natural character areas and at least high natural character areas with 

regard to the activity status for the construction of new roads. 

 10 

 In terms of other proposals that form part of this hearing I generally 

support the revised versions.  However, I consider that the revised 

versions of the utilities in the Energy proposal, the Subdivision 

Development Earthworks proposal and Rural proposal require better 

links to landscape features and natural character assessment matters. 15 

 

 It is my opinion that the assessment matters in revised topic 9.2 are 

appropriate to address these matters.  I consider that it is important that 

utilities be controlled in the replacement plan due to their potential 

adverse effects on landscape features and natural character values.  I do 20 

not consider that the rules in the Utility and Energy proposal are 

adequate to address these adverse effects and accordingly, do not agree 

with Ms Ferguson that Utility should be exempt from the rules in 

revised topic 9.2. 

 25 

 My final point is that earthworks can give rise to adverse landscape and 

visual effects.  To avoid such effects within outstanding natural 

features and landscapes and within natural character areas in the coastal 

environment, I would support earthworks in such areas involving no 

more than 25 cubic metres per hectare every five years. 30 

 

MR RADICH:   Thank you, please now answer any questions. 

 

SJH:   Mr Conway. 

 35 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR CONWAY [2.04 pm] 

 

MR CONWAY:   Thank you, sir.  Good afternoon, Mr Rough. 

 

MR ROUGH:   Good afternoon. 40 

 

MR CONWAY:   Now I understand from what you just said that the key area 

where there is still disagreement is in relation to the links between 

chapter 11 and chapter 9.2 in relation to utilities. 

 45 

MR ROUGH:   That is correct. 
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MR CONWAY:   And as you have indicated, Ms Ferguson’s evidence is that 

she wished to rely on chapter 11 for utilities in the overlay areas? 

 

MR ROUGH:   Yes. 5 

 

MR CONWAY:   And I am just wanting to know have you been involved in 

any further discussions about that since evidence has been prepared? 

 

MR ROUGH:   No, I have not. 10 

 

MR CONWAY:   If there was a proposal to include new rules into chapter 11 

essentially covering the matters in 9.2 so that those matters applied to 

utilities, would that be something that you would support, so in 

essence, there were controls on landscape matters in the utilities 15 

chapter? 

 

  [2.05 pm] 

 

MR ROUGH:   Yes but perhaps - the structure of plans is not really an area of 20 

my expertise but from discussions I have had with the Crown planner 

that the idea that all rules etcetera relating to landscape should, perhaps, 

be in proposal 9 rather than spread across various chapters and that they 

could be then cross-referenced to the Utilities and Energy chapter. 

 25 

MR CONWAY:   So, in essence, provided there are some controls on utilities 

in relation to landscape that would satisfy you? 

 

MR ROUGH:   Yes, at least. 

 30 

MR CONWAY:   Thank you, sir, no further questions. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   You have outlined a few matters, Mr Rough, of concern but 35 

generally do I take it from your evidence that you agree with 

Ms Pfluger’s evidence in the main? 

 

MR ROUGH:   Yes, I do. 

 40 

MS DAWSON:  Thank you.  That is all I want to ask Mr Rough. 

 

SJH:   Dr Mitchell? 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Thank you, sir, hello, Mr Rough, just one question.  As it 45 

relates to Banks Peninsula, what is the purpose of the rural amenity 
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landscape provisions, what is it seeking to achieve that the rural zoning 

does not achieve? 

 

MR ROUGH:   Perhaps a higher level of assessment matters relating to that in 

its considerations being a more higher value amenity landscape than, 5 

say, the general rural landscape. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   But the general rural landscape as it has been explained this 

morning, applies to that part of the rural zone that is not outstanding, is 

all rural amenity landscape and the wording in the policies only 10 

mention protecting ridge lines so if that is the case, why have it all? 

 

 Why not just say in the rural zone, when you are looking at the 

assessment of whatever it is you are assessing, make sure that you 

protect ridge lines, why do you need all the other stuff?  Especially 15 

given that there are no rules that relate to in chapter 9 which was 

helpfully clarified earlier today. 

 

MR ROUGH:   When you say “all the other stuff” could you? 

 20 

DR MITCHELL:   Well, if you have a look at, could you bring that up please, 

policy 9.2.  The point is that those provisions relate to, and I am 

paraphrasing from memory, things like protection of significant 

vegetation dealt with in another part of the chapter. 

 25 

  [2.10 pm] 

 

 The predominance of rural activities in the landscape are dealt with by 

the rural zoning, and the only specific criterion that relates to landscape 

in the provisions is protection of ridgelines.  Just taking that, if you 30 

accept that as a proposition – there we go, that is the one. 

 

 If you just look at (a), predominantly farming, the rims of the craters, 

the presence of indigenous vegetation, Ngāi Tahu matters which have 

been dealt with elsewhere, natural patterns.  It seems to me, given that 35 

there is no rules that relate to that, why do you have to have a chapter 

or a subchapter within landscape that relates to all those provisions 

when they are dealt with elsewhere other than the protection of crater 

rims and ridgelines? 

 40 

MR ROUGH:   In my view that, as you have pointed out, that is recognising 

the qualities in the rural amenity landscapes and my recollection is that 

the recognition or the identification of the Banks Peninsula having 

amenity value goes right back to the 1994 Canterbury Landscape 

Study, where the whole of the Banks Peninsula was identified as an 45 
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outstanding natural feature and landscape, and part of the assessment 

criteria was that it had amenity value. 

 

 And then I believe that was followed up with the 2007 Banks Peninsula 

Landscape Study which identified, one of its principal aims was to 5 

identify what was outstanding natural landscape and as a result of that 

there was an environment, or in that process of that landscape study 

going through the Environment Court; there was an Environment Court 

directive for the community to be consulted on matters of amenity on 

Banks Peninsula and the same with in the mediation there was a 10 

(INDISTINCT 2.23)   

 

 So it all just stems from there and whether, from what you are saying, 

there is enough grunt, if you like, in that to protect or ensure that the 

amenity value remains I am not quite sure.  But I still think it is 15 

important that the rural amenity landscape value of Banks Peninsula be 

acknowledged and that is different from, say, the rural landscape on the 

Plains. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Can we just go down, I don’t want to belabour the point, but 20 

can we just go down to just immediately below that.  If we look at B, A 

that we have just looked at is sort of preamble, that is setting out what 

the qualities are, but B is what the policy direction is and it says “To 

maintain the qualities of the rural amenity landscape by…” and then it 

lists some things, “… avoiding development that breaks the skyline”, 25 

that is pretty simple.  “Avoiding visually prominent uses and 

development”, well, that is a simple rule matter that is already 

addressed in the rural section.  “Ensuring subdivision use and 

development does not result in over domestication of the landscape”, 

well, that is in the Rural zone rules as well.  “On Banks Peninsula 30 

required development to be separated from ridgelines”, the point we 

were discussing before.  “Enabling farm conservation and recreation 

activities and managing or avoiding specific activities and avoiding 

adverse effects”.   

 35 

 There is no rules that are related to that so why bother with it other than 

saying, when you are looking at whether development is appropriate in 

a rural context, stay away from the ridgelines, why does it need all this 

other puffery? 

 40 

MR ROUGH:   In my view it is keeping – I think those are all valid points – 

and it is keeping in focus the rural landscape, the general rural 

landscape and Banks Peninsula outside outstanding natural landscapes 

and features, outside the coastal environment has amenity value which 

perhaps needs to be kept in focus. 45 
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SJH:   I am sorry, this is twice now you are not really answering the question.  

The effect of the question is if these things are covered elsewhere in 

other chapters why do they need to be repeated here?  I think would 

that summarise it? 

 5 

DR MITCHELL:   That is a very helpful summary, thank you, sir. 

 

MR ROUGH:   I am not sure that I can answer that in terms of the structure of 

the plan but I accept that as long as it is mentioned somewhere it is a 

valid point. 10 

 

  [2.15 pm] 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Thank you. 

 15 

MR ROUGH:   But worthwhile. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   That is all, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Ms Huria? 20 

 

MS HURIA:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Judge? 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just one matter I think, sir.  Just if we could just keep on 

that policy 9.2.2.4 and just scroll back to the start again.  Thank you, 

Mr Rough, I am just going to pose this question to you first from your 

perspective as a landscape expert but it may well be that part of this 

will be explored with the planners later in terms of the choice of 30 

language.   

 

 A bit of nervousness I have about the choice of words, and it was 

explained I think early in the piece, it may have been by Ms Hogan I 

can’t recall, perhaps Ms Ferguson – yes, it was Ms Ferguson – a choice 35 

of words between “protect” in regard to outstanding natural landscapes 

and this word “maintain” being used here.   

 

 And just so that you know where I am coming from my own 

nervousness is, if we analyse those words for what they mean, one 40 

might well say that they are actually one and the same.  Just read 

literally, if you are going to maintain things unchanged effectively you 

are protecting.   

 

 Am I right to understand, just in terms of the relative importance of the 45 

landscapes that we are dealing with here, that this is a type of landscape 
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where change is acknowledge as being able to be accommodated 

landscape change, but that landscape change has to be managed in a 

way that recognises these values rather than the concept of “maintain” 

being one and the same as “protection”? 

 5 

MR ROUGH:   Yes, I would accept that; that the idea of managing change, say 

to protect rural amenity values would be an important point.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just in terms of where I am coming from from that and 

Dr Mitchell has explained, you know, some of the higher priority 10 

ridgelines.  For instance, if I look at Banks Peninsula as a person 

latterly of Wellington but a mainlander, I might say that that is a 

defining piece of landscape for Christchurch’s identity in the broad 

scale but then I look at it in finer print and see that it has changed over 

time quite significantly to accommodate all sorts of things and that is 15 

what I see is a dynamic of managing change.  In other words it is not 

about protection and precluding development but acknowledging 

development and requiring attention to matters and qualities and values 

and enablement of change or management of change.  Too many words 

but am I more or less on the same page as you on that? 20 

 

MR ROUGH:   Yes, I would accept that. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 25 

SJH:   Anything arising, Mr Conway? 

 

MR CONWAY:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Mr Radich? 30 

 

MR RADICH:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, you may stand down and you may be excused.  Yes, 

Mr Radich? 35 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [2.18 pm] 

 

MR RADICH:   Thank you, sir.  We call Anna Mary Cameron. 

40 
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<ANNA MARY CAMERON, affirmed [2.18 pm] 



 Page 642 

  

Ch9: Natural and Cultural Heritage Commenced 18.01.16 

<EXAMINATION BY MR RADICH [2.19 pm] 

 

MR RADICH:   Now, your full name is Anna Mary Cameron? 

 

MS CAMERON:   Yes, it is. 5 

 

MR RADICH:   And you have the position of resource management planner at 

the Department of Conservation? 

 

MS CAMERON:   Actually it has changed since I prepared my evidence.  I 10 

have now been appointed the South Island planning manager. 

 

MR RADICH:   Thank you.  And you have given, Ms Cameron, a statement of 

evidence dated 10 December 2015 and a statement of rebuttal evidence 

dated 18 December 2015? 15 

 

MS CAMERON:   Yes. 

 

MR RADICH:   Do you have any changes you would like to make? 

 20 

MS CAMERON:   No. 

 

MR RADICH:   Thank you very much.  Please would you now present a – and 

you confirm the evidence, I should add, to be true and correct? 

 25 

MS CAMERON:   Yes, it is. 

 

MR RADICH:   Thank you, please would you now provide a summary of your 

evidence for the Panel. 

 30 

  [2.20 pm] 

 

MS CAMERON:   My planning evidence addresses proposal 9 and the other 

provisions that are being heard as part of the natural and cultural 

heritage hearing as they relate to indigenous biodiversity and 35 

landscapes, features and coastal natural character values. 

 

 In the preparation of my evidence I have relied on evidence of Nicholas 

Head, Anita Spencer, and Peter Rough.  In this summary I address the 

provisions and/or topics where there is still disagreement between the 40 

relevant Council planner and me, or where additional movement has 

occurred since the preparation of rebuttal. 

 

 Proposal 8, Subdivision and Earthworks: I had sought that the word 

“significant” be deleted from objective 8.1.1.1, however I agree with 45 

Mr Long, it is appropriate to include it because non-significant values 
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are addressed in objective 8.1.2(b).  I consider that minor amendments 

are required to both these objectives for clarity and consistency 

reasons.  These amendments are shown in the revised table of 

recommended amendments attached to the Crown’s opening legal 

submissions. 5 

 

 Under the provisions as drafted, the permitted volume of earthwork can 

be carried out annually, regardless of whether earthworks activity is 

taking place within or outside a natural value overlay. 

 10 

 In respect of that outstanding natural landscape, outstanding natural 

features, outstanding natural character overlays or within a site of 

ecological significance, I sought the permitted volume of earthworks 

not exceed the volumes in table 1 over a five year period and where 

that volume was exceeded, a non-complying will be triggered. 15 

 

 Mr Long has not accepted either of these points, but I consider that 

these amendments to the provisions are necessary to give effect to the 

Higher Order planning documents and to assist with the consistency 

across the Plan where the same values are being managed. 20 

 

 A minor amendment is sought to policy 8.1.1.1 and rule 8.2.2.2 RD 13 

to update the terminology to reflect the fact that the term rural amenity 

landscapes is now used instead of term visual amenity landscapes. 

 25 

 Topic 9.1, Biodiversity: I agree with the revised provisions that were 

provided to the Panel yesterday as exhibit 5.  However, I do note that 

the Panel has indicated that they have a number of issues with these 

amendment provisions.   

 30 

 I am happy to assist the Council and other parties in amending these 

provisions to address the points raised by the Panel. 

 

 Farm environmental management plans or biodiversity management 

plans have been discussed as a mechanism to assist in the management 35 

of biodiversity values. 

 

 I agree that this tool could be appropriate, and note that if this tool is to 

be adopted to ensure clarity and certainty for all parties and the Council 

there are a number of factors that will need to be worked through. 40 

 

 Furthermore, I note that the activity status of clearance has also been 

discussed including whether or not a non-complying activity status is 

appropriate.  I consider that a non-complying activity status is 

appropriate because this activity status sends a clear signal to plan 45 

readers that the values are of national importance. 
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 However, I listened to a cross-examination of Mr Chrystal and I agree 

with him that it may be possible to achieve the same outcomes with the 

restricted discretionary framework provided that the matters of 

discretion, the objectives and policies are appropriate.  However, it 5 

remains my preference to retain the non-complying activity status. 

 

 With regard to the definition of improved pasture: I agree with the 

version of the definition as attached to Ms Hogan’s rebuttal provided 

that the date is changed from 2000 to 2005. 10 

 

 Topic 9.2, Landscapes, Features and Natural Character: In my 

evidence-in-chief I supported the Crown’s proposed restructure of 9.2 

in its submission and I continue to do so.  I acknowledge Mr 

Ferguson’s point that in the Crown’s proposal there are four policies 15 

that apply to both natural character and landscapes. 

 

 I consider that it would be possible to redraft these provisions in a 

manner that is specific to either landscape or natural character values. 

 20 

 There may be a small degree of duplication in the proposed policies 

which address education and assistance and other methods.  I believe 

that the significant advantages in terms of usability, clarity and ease of 

use, achieved through the Crown’s proposal, outweigh this minor 

duplication. 25 

 

 With regard to the format of the activity status tables, Ms Ferguson has 

not amended these.  I continue to prefer the amended structure attached 

to my evidence-in-chief. 

 30 

 I remain of the view that the objective addressing outstanding natural 

features can be simplified by deleting the descriptive detail and the 

option of enhancement should remain within the objective.  In addition, 

I consider that the “How to use the rule” section can be simplified to 

address interpretation issues. 35 

 

 Proposal 11, Utilities and Strategic Infrastructure: I understand that Ms 

Jenkin will be presenting her evidence in the second week of this 

Hearing and will present a further revised version of proposal 11.  Ms 

Jenkin, Ms Hogan and myself have been working together since the 40 

lodgement of the Council’s rebuttal to address residual points of 

disagreement. 
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  [2.25 pm] 

 

 As a result of these discussions, there are no remaining points of 

disagreement.  However, I note that further discussions are required 

with other interested submitters and it is possible that once these 5 

discussions have taken place, the Panel or submitters may have further 

questions for me. 

 

 In summary, it has been agreed in principle, that topic 9.1 will manage 

the clearance of indigenous vegetation with regard to utility and 10 

strategic infrastructure activities, therefore the reference to significant 

indigenous vegetation and habitats of fauna including sites of 

ecological significance in policy 11.1.2.1 will be deleted. 

 

 11.3 How to use the rules will be amended to address a formatting issue 15 

which will provide greater clarity with regard to a relationship between  

proposal 11 and proposal 9.1. 

 

 And there are restricted discretionary rules in proposal 11, the reference 

to, “with the exception of activity specific standard 1F” will be deleted 20 

and assessment matter 11.4.1F will be deleted. 

 

 These amendments to proposal 11 necessitate a consequential 

amendments to topic 9.1, and these are redrafting policy 9.1.1.1 2(e) 

and amending rule 9.1.2.2.3 RD 3, to cover both strategic infrastructure 25 

and utilities. 

 

 The relationship between topic 9.2 and proposal 11 is currently 

managed differently to the relationship between 9.1 and proposal 11.  

Topic 9.2 defers to proposal 11 for the management of utility and 30 

strategic infrastructure activities and the landscape features in coastal 

natural character overlays. 

 

 In preparing for this Hearing I discussed this issue with both 

Ms Ferguson and Ms Jenkin.  Both Ms Jenkin and I agree that the 35 

different approach creates a plan consistency interpretation issues.  It is 

my opinion that the relationship between topic 9.2 and proposal 11 

should be the same as the relationship between 9.1 and proposal 11. 

 

 I understand that Ms Jenkin and Ms Ferguson are working together to 40 

address this issue. 

 

 Thanks. 

 

MR RADICH:   Thank you, please answer any questions. 45 
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SJH:   Ms Limmer? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS LIMMER [2.27 pm] 

 

MS LIMMER:   Thank you, sir.  Ms Cameron, I want to ask you some 5 

questions on topic 9.1 in respect of my client Fulton Hogan’s 

submission.  You know, a large number of those questions related to 

policy 2 in the area outside the coastal environment I understand you 

support the Exhibit 5 in that regard. 

 10 

 I would like to ask you though about policy 5 on that exhibit, and 

particularly (b)(ii).  I think you were here yesterday when I asked 

Mr Davis whether an unlike trade can ever have no net loss, and his 

answer as an ecologist was “no”.  I again asked him if the effect of that 

policy would be to close the door to unlike trades if the word “or’ was 15 

replaced with “and”.  He could not answer that so I will ask you that. 

 

 If he is correct, that an unlike can never achieve no net loss, would the 

effect of making “or”, “and”, be to close the door to unlike trades? 

 20 

MS CAMERON:   I think this is pushing a little bit beyond my knowledge of 

biodiversity offsetting.  However, when we have an unlike trade, so for 

trading up, technically I understand that it is not actually an offset, so - 

- - 

 25 

MS LIMMER:   My question is, Ms Cameron, I am not asking you to make an 

assessment of what an unlike trade can or cannot achieve, but if an 

ecologist’s opinion was that it could never achieve no net loss, and if 

that word “or” became “and”, would not the effect of that policy be to 

say you cannot have unlike trades because they can never achieve 30 

policy 5 (b)(ii).  

 

 I am asking you about the effect of the wording change? 

 

MS CAMERON:   Yes.  I am sorry, I do not know. 35 

 

SJH:   Well, is it not obvious on language, it is just a language question. 

 

MS CAMERON:   Yes. 

 40 

SJH:   On the assumption that an offset can never achieve no net loss, if it then 

reads the offset can achieve no net loss and preferably a net gain, then 

an offset is out of the question. 
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  [2.30 pm] 

 

MS CAMERON:   Yes, I agree. 

 

SJH:   Because that will never be achieved, with that wording.  Now whether 5 

that is the right or wrong outcome is another matter altogether but on 

the language, if “and” is inserted, you would accept that you would 

never achieve an offset? 

 

MS CAMERON:   Yes, I accept that. 10 

 

MS LIMMER:  Thank you.  Moving on, my next question relates to objective 1 

in the revised proposal and the objective as it now reads seeks to 

protect areas rather than values and ecosystem functions, and I want to 

ask you as a planner, do you think the aspiration to protect an area is 15 

more protectionist than an aspiration to protect their values and 

ecosystem functions? 

 

MS CAMERON:   Sorry, do I think it is more? 

 20 

MS LIMMER:   Protectionist; does it go further than protecting values and 

ecosystem functions? 

 

MS CAMERON:   No, because it is my understanding that when you identify 

the area using the significance criteria, ecological functions is one of 25 

the criterion that you use.  So it is inherently caught within the site as it 

is identified. 

 

MS LIMMER:   So your understanding as a planner looking at that objective is 

that it means the same thing whether it says areas or values and 30 

ecosystem functions?  There is no difference in the effect as to what the 

aspiration is? 

 

MS CAMERON:   Other than if you refer to ecosystem functions separately 

you are elevating a value of that site above the other values that may or 35 

may not make up its significance. 

 

MS LIMMER:   I do not know if I understand the answer to that.  Are you 

saying there is or is not a difference between protecting areas and 

protecting their values and ecosystem functions? 40 

 

MS CAMERON:   I think there is a difference. 

 

MS LIMMER:   There is a difference; and my question is, are we going further 

if we seek to protect an area, that if the provision at the top of the 45 
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hierarchy tells the Council to protect the area is that more protectionist 

than an objective that seeks to protect the values and functions? 

 

MS CAMERON:   Yes, it is. 

 5 

MS LIMMER:   Do you agree with Mr Parish that the requirement to give 

effect to an RPS requires an authority to give effect to its enabling and 

protectionist elements? 

 

MS CAMERON:   Yes, I do. 10 

 

MS LIMMER:   And you would accept the RPS seeks to protect the values and 

ecosystem functions of areas? 

 

MS CAMERON:   Yes, I do. 15 

 

MS LIMMER:   So in your evidence there is a difference between this plan and 

the RPS on that? 

 

MS CAMERON:   Yes, however in saying that - - - 20 

 

MS LIMMER:   The question is simply that there is a difference. 

 

MS CAMERON:   Yes, there is a difference, so objective 9.2.3 is the objective 

that you are referring to. 25 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes, yes. 

 

MS CAMERON:   I do consider it is unfortunate wording of the objective that 

they have chosen to use the words “values and ecosystem functions”, 30 

because of the reasons I have explained earlier. 

 

MS LIMMER:   So you disagree with the RPS?  That is your evidence on that 

provision, objective 1 in the revised proposal? 

 35 

MS CAMERON:   It is not that I disagree the objective, because it is what it is, 

it is just that I consider that it is an unfortunate way to draft the 

objective. 

 

MS LIMMER:   I am going to turn to my last topic, Ms Cameron, which is the 40 

matter of activity status.  Were you here when I asked Ms Hogan a 

series of questions about the consenting pathway for a restricted 

discretionary consent? 

 

MS CAMERON:   I was here, but my memory may not be too good. 45 
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MS LIMMER:   Well do you recall that Ms Hogan responded, “depending on 

the matters of discretion”; if they were limited to just chapter 9 and the 

effects on biodiversity, the status alone would not give grounds to grant 

a consent that failed to avoid a net loss, do you recall that? 

 5 

MS CAMERON:   Yes. 

 

MS LIMMER:   So you would agree with the proposition that the matters of 

discretion for that status play a very important role in determining the 

difficulty or ease of the outcome from that pathway? 10 

 

MS CAMERON:   I agree with that. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Thank you, sir, I have no further questions. 

 15 

SJH:  Thank you.  Ms Garvan?  Sorry, Mr Conway. 

 

MR CONWAY:   Sorry, sir, my learned friend has just noted to me that our 

name has been omitted from that list of cross-examination. 

 20 

  [2.35 pm] 

 

SJH:   My apologies. 

 

MR CONWAY:   Now I am happy to wait until after Ms Garvan. 25 

 

SJH:   No, no, go ahead now you are on your feet. 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR CONWAY [2.35 pm] 

 30 

MR CONWAY:   Good afternoon, Ms Cameron.  Now I want to talk to you 

about three documents that we will need to bring up on screen if it is 

possible.  The first is revised proposal 8 which is the attachment to 

Mr Long’s rebuttal evidence. 

 35 

 And then the other two are the two alternative wordings for chapter 9.2.  

So the first of those is Ms Ferguson’s rebuttal version and then there is 

your evidence-in-chief, AMC3, so those are the three documents I 

would like to take you to. 

 40 

 If we could start with chapter 8 and page 21 of that chapter.  Have you 

got that in front of you? 

 

MS CAMERON:   Yes, I do. 

 45 
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MR CONWAY:   Now table 1 on page 21 of that document has a series of 

earthworks maximum volumes in different overlays.  The bottom part 

of that table, third line up says, “Sites of ecological significance” and it 

says, “Nil”, so no earthworks are allowed in a site of ecological 

significance, that is right, is it not? 5 

 

MS CAMERON:   Yes, it is. 

 

MR CONWAY:   And your requested change to that would have that line say, 

“Significant indigenous vegetation and in significant habitats of 10 

indigenous fauna including sites of ecological significance, that is right, 

is it not? 

 

MS CAMERON:   Sorry, is that in my evidence-in-chief? 

 15 

MR CONWAY:   Yes, 10.11(b), page 38. 

 

MS CAMERON:   38? 

 

MR CONWAY:   Yes. 20 

 

MS CAMERON:   Yes, that is right. 

 

MR CONWAY:   Would you accept that the difficulty with that, in a situation 

where we do not have all significant indigenous vegetation mapped, is 25 

that a landowner with indigenous vegetation would not know without 

having an assessment carried out, whether they are allowed to carry out 

any earthworks? 

 

MS CAMERON:   I would accept that. 30 

 

MR CONWAY:   And that could create issues in terms of certainty, could it 

not? 

 

MS CAMERON:   Yes. 35 

 

MR CONWAY:   Now turning to revised proposal 9.2; were you here this 

morning when Ms Ferguson gave evidence? 

 

MS CAMERON:   Yes. 40 

 

MR CONWAY:   And she was asked a number of questions about structural 

matters.  I understand you and Ms Ferguson, in terms of the content of 

this proposal, you are essentially in agreement, apart from the structure, 

is that a fair summary? 45 
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MS CAMERON:   I think so, yes.  There might be a few issues around how the 

chapters are working together, but other than that I think we are on the 

same page. 

 

MR CONWAY:   Yes and there has been indication from the Panel that it may 5 

be worthwhile to have some further discussions around matters of 

structure, so I do not intend to take too long here but I just want to step 

through a couple of matters on that.  And in fact before I go there – 

there is this reference to, in terms or rural amenity landscapes and the 

objective to maintaining those landscapes, and you would like it to say 10 

“maintain and enhance”? 

 

MS CAMERON:  Mm’hm. 

 

MR CONWAY:   You would accept that if that requirement was added back 15 

in, as it was in the notified proposal, that would require someone who 

wanted to build a house in one of these areas, if they require a consent 

one of the things they would need to cover off in their consent 

application is how they are proposing to address that policy or 

objective; in other words how they are proposing to enhance the rural 20 

amenity landscape? 

 

MS CAMERON:   I think there is one point that I would like to make.  In the 

version of the plan that was presented to us pre preparing our evidence-

in-chief, it did not include a qualifier before “enhanced”, so in my 25 

evidence-in-chief, on page 68, so on the table, you will see that I have 

inserted – it says “where practicable” but it should say “enhanced”. 

 

 So it is not, I am not seeking that in all circumstances it will be 

appropriate for enhancement but in some circumstances I understand it 30 

could be, if there was a small patch of gorse or a small stand of exotics 

it may be deemed appropriate and practical to remove those and 

therefore you are enhancing those values.  So it is not intended to be an 

overly onerous obligation on the consent to applicant. 

 35 

  [2.40 pm] 

 

MR CONWAY:   Those words “where practical” might be a step in the right 

direction in terms of reducing concern, I have indicated they would still 

require a person applying for consent to show that it was not 40 

practicable to enhance? 

 

MS CAMERON:   Yes, I accept that. 

 

MR CONWAY:   Now, going to this topic of structuring.  You have addressed 45 

the policy duplication matter and so I do not propose to go through that 
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with you because it sounds like that is something you think could be 

addressed through further discussions. 

 

 Now, the first part I therefore wanted to take you to is the description 

of, I guess the characteristics of these different types of landscapes, and 5 

the policies. 

 

 So if we turn to, for example page 4 of the revised proposal that was on 

screen there, under the wording “Proposed by Ms Ferguson”, if 

someone wanted to know or is looking to see what the plan said about 10 

Kaitorete Spit and subject to the comments the Panel has made about 

terminology earlier today, someone would be able to look at that policy 

and see that the qualities or features, whatever we say, from Kaitorete 

Spit that are to be recognised and protected are there on the same page 

so they would not actually turn to an appendix under this, would they? 15 

 

MS CAMERON:   No, they would not.   

 

MR CONWAY:   So that could be seen as an advantage of this approach in 

terms of someone’s navigation of their way through the plan to find out 20 

what they were protecting? 

 

MS CAMERON:   It could be an advantage but I consider that the restructuring 

makes it more simple and I think that outweighs the advantage that you 

are referring to. 25 

 

MR CONWAY:   Except there are pros and cons of both approaches? 

 

MS CAMERON:   Yes, there are. 

 30 

MR CONWAY:   And you also want to reformat the rules and if I can take you 

to page 26 which has the landscape overlay rules in table form – this is 

page 26 of Ms Ferguson’s version. 

 

 Do you accept there that if a person wanted to find out what they could 35 

do in a particular ONF for example, they would go to the top of the 

table, they would find the relevant ONF and they can trace their way 

down the table until they find the activity that they want to do and then 

they have got the activity specification there, haven’t the? 

 40 

MS CAMERON:   Yes, they do.  However, there are some boxes in there that 

refer to “NA” which I think as a plan reader it would leave you in a bit 

of an uncertainty as to what is referred to as “NA”, even though there is 

an advice note stating what “NA” is, I would still consider that is 

confusing to our reader.  It was confusing to me. 45 
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MR CONWAY:   In terms of some of those, Ms Ferguson’s confirmed today 

that she thought some of those should be changed to refer to permitted, 

didn’t she, to clarify that? 

 

MS CAMERON:   Sorry, I did not hear that? 5 

 

MR CONWAY:   If that happened, that would assist to resolve that concern. 

 

MS CAMERON:   Yes, it would. 

 10 

MR CONWAY:   So the advantage of this table approach or one advantage of 

it is that all of the rules for a particular overlay are contained in that one 

column that someone can glance their eye down and they can find their 

activity – would you accept that that is an advantage having them all in 

one place? 15 

 

MS CAMERON:   I guess it depends upon how the plan reader is using the 

plan so if I was a landholder on the Peninsula and I wanted to know, all 

I wanted to do was build a farm building, I think the way that I have 

got it structured in my evidence is easy because he or she can just go 20 

through, look for “farm building”.  Here, I just think it is slightly more 

confusing.  There are pros and cons to both structures, but it is my 

opinion that the structure that is attached to my evidence is clearer. 

 

  [2.45 pm] 25 

 

MR CONWAY:   Yes, and Ms Ferguson prefers her version. 

 

MS CAMERON:   Yes, I am aware of that. 

 30 

MR CONWAY:   Now, just turning quickly to yours and if we can turn to – I 

think the page number at the bottom is page 90 of AMC3, and if we 

cast our eye down here and you have described how you would find 

your way through this and you would look for your activity and go 

from there, would you accept looking at this that you may need to cast 35 

your eye over several of the rule tables to see if there is any exception 

in there? 

 

MS CAMERON:   Are you referring to if there is a higher activity status that 

you may trigger? 40 

 

MR CONWAY:   Yes. 

 

MS CAMERON:   Yes, I accept that and that is the same as anywhere else in 

the plan. 45 
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MR CONWAY:   Thank you, sir.  Thank you, Ms Cameron. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Ms Garvan? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS GARVAN [2.47 pm] 5 

 

MS GARVAN:   Ms Cameron, do you accept there should be an exemption 

from the rules in 9.1.2 for the minor upgrading of existing utilities? 

 

MS CAMERON:   Yes, I do. 10 

 

MS GARVAN:   And you would accept that this exemption should be reflected 

in the policy framework? 

 

MS CAMERON:   Yes. 15 

 

MS GARVAN:   Just one point of clarification; Ms McLeod has proposed a 

new RDA rule in 9.1.2.2.3, which addresses indigenous vegetation 

clearance for utilities both within and outside of sites of ecological 

significance. 20 

 

 Do you agree this means the reference to sites of ecological 

significance and the rules in proposal 11 do not have to be replaced 

with significant indigenous vegetation and significant habitats of 

indigenous fauna? 25 

 

MS CAMERON:   Sorry, can you repeat the rule? 

 

MS GARVAN:   Sure, sorry, it is 9.1.2.2.3.  This is at paragraph 31 of 

Ms McLeod’s evidence. 30 

 

MS CAMERON:   And is that the rule that is reflected in Ms Hogan’s revised 

rebuttal evidence?  So on page 14 of that? 

 

MS GARVAN:   Sorry, I will just turn to that.  Yes, that is correct. 35 

 

MS CAMERON:   Sorry, what was your question? 

 

MS GARVAN:   So I was just saying in your earlier evidence, you had stated 

to the reference to sites of ecological significance needed to be replaced 40 

with reference to significant indigenous vegetation and significant 

habitats of indigenous fauna.  When you gave your summary I think 

you clarified that that did not have to be replaced in relation to the 

policies.  I just wanted to confirm that did not need to be replaced in 

relation to the rules. 45 
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MS CAMERON:   In terms of RD 3 I am happy with the way that is written in 

Ms Hogan’s revised provisions attached to her rebuttal. 

 

MS GARVAN:   As a planner, you would agree that policy should be clear and 

directive? 5 

 

MS CAMERON:   Yes. 

 

MS GARVAN:   Have you read Ms McLeod’s proposed provisions in 

Exhibit 4 from Tuesday? 10 

 

MS CAMERON:   Yes, I have. 

 

MS GARVAN:   And you would agree that Ms McLeod’s proposed 

9.1.1.1.2(e) provides a greater level of direction in terms of how 15 

recognition is achieved compared to a policy which simply stated, 

“recognise the locational, operational and technical requirements of 

new or more than minor upgrades to strategic infrastructure and 

utilities”? 

 20 

  [2.50 pm] 

 

MS CAMERON:   I consider when you read the policies you need to read them 

as a package.  If we take the policies that were presented yesterday or 

the day before as exhibit 5, they should be read alongside this 2E 25 

policy.  Therefore, I consider that the final sentence Ms McLeod has 

added which starts “where the avoidance of adverse effects”, I do not 

consider it is necessary because it has already been repeated or that is 

already is covered in the revised policy 2A and will be into 2B. 

 30 

MS GARVAN:   And in preparing your evidence-in-chief you did not review 

the National Policy Statement on electricity transmission, did you? 

 

MS CAMERON:   I have read it. 

 35 

MS GARVAN:   Did you do that for preparing your evidence-in-chief? 

 

MS CAMERON:   Yes, I would have. 

 

MS GARVAN:   It is not listed in your attachment ANC1 which is the list of 40 

documents you considered. 

 

MS CAMERON:  No, I do not think it is in there. 

 

MS GARVAN:   If we could just bring up the NPS on the screen, please.  You 45 

would accept that policy 3 of the NPS means decision makers must 



 Page 656 

  

Ch9: Natural and Cultural Heritage Commenced 18.01.16 

consider the constraints imposed by the technical and operational 

requirements of the network when considering measures to avoid, 

remedy or mitigate adverse environmental effects. 

 

MS CAMERON:   Yes. 5 

 

MS GARVAN:   And you would agree policy 4 of the NPS means that when 

considering the environmental effects of new transmission 

infrastructure or major upgrade of existing transmission infrastructure, 

decision makers must have regard to the extent to which any adverse 10 

effects have been avoided, remedied or mitigated by the route, site and 

method selection. 

 

MS CAMERON:   Yes. 

 15 

MS GARVAN:   The RNA does not refer to offsetting, does it? 

 

MS CAMERON:   No. 

 

MS GARVAN:   And neither does the NZCPS? 20 

 

MS CAMERON:   No. 

 

MS GARVAN:   Or the National Policy Statement on electricity transmission? 

 25 

MS CAMERON:   No. 

 

MS GARVAN:   And do you agree there could be a range of methods by which 

offsetting could be encouraged in the Plan? 

 30 

MS CAMERON:   Can you please give me an example? 

 

MS GARVAN:   For example, instead of having it in the policy itself which 

you have drafted in exhibit 5, you could have it as an assessment matter 

to consider the extent to which effects have been offset. 35 

 

MS CAMERON:   Yes, that could be a mechanism. 

 

MS GARVAN:  And have you assessed the costs and benefits of policies 

which encourage offsetting compared to policies which compel 40 

offsetting? 

 

MS CAMERON:   No, I have not. 

 

MS GARVAN: If I could just take you to policy 16.3.4 in the Canterbury 45 

Regional Policy Statement.  So if we just look at sub policy 3 (a).  So 
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this relates to enabling the operational maintenance, upgrade and 

development of the electricity transmission network provided that as a 

result of route, site and method selection - - - 

 

SJH:    Sorry, policy 3 (a)?  Right, we have got it now, thank you. 5 

 

MS GARVAN:   So in that 3 (a) it refers to you are going to enable it but 

where the adverse effects and significant natural and physical resources 

or cultural values are avoided or where this is not practicable, remedied 

or mitigated, does it not? 10 

 

MS CAMERON:   Yes. 

 

MS GARVAN:   And if I could contrast that with policy 16.3.5 2 (b) on the 

next page, page 175.  So instead of relating to electricity transmission, 15 

this policy relates to electricity generation and we have got there in 

2 (b) a specific reference to avoiding adverse effects, again on 

significant natural and physical resources or cultural values or where 

this is not practicable remedied, mitigated or offset, do we not? 

 20 

MS CAMERON:   Yes. 

 

MS GARVAN:   And have you discussed these policies in your evidence? 

 

MS CAMERON:   No I have not. 25 

 

MS GARVAN:   And do accept that there is a distinction here between the 

approach the Canterbury Regional Policy Statement makes for 

electricity transmission compared to electricity generation in regards to 

offsetting? 30 

 

  [14.55 pm] 

 

MS CAMERON:   Yes. 

 35 

MS GARVAN:   And the RNA is not a not a no effects statute, is it? 

 

MS CAMERON:   No. 

 

MS GARVAN:   If I could just turn now to the assessment matters for 9.1.  40 

You would accept that policy 1 of the NPS on electricity transmission 

requires decision makers to recognise and provide for the benefits of 

secure and efficient electricity transmission? 

 

MS CAMERON:   Is that referring to the NPS? 45 
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MS GARVAN:   Yes, in policy 1. 

 

MS CAMERON:   Yes it does but as with before, the NPS is to be read as a 

package.  You cannot pluck one policy out and read it independently of 

the others. 5 

 

MS GARVAN:  No, so if we turn to, though, the policy in here relating to 

considering measures to avoid, remedy or mitigate adverse effects, 

sorry. 

 10 

MS CAMERON:  Are you reading from the NPS or from the revised proposal? 

 

MS GARVAN:   If I take you to policy 4 of the NPS.  So you said that policy 1 

cannot be read in isolation so if we go to policy 4 which focuses on 

when considering the environmental effects of new transmission 15 

infrastructure on major upgrades, there we have only got a reference to 

“decision makers must have regard to the extent to which adverse 

effects have been avoided, remedied or mitigated”, do we not? 

 

MS CAMERON:   Yes, and in the preamble it states that the objectives and 20 

policies are intended to guide decision makers and draft any plans and 

rules so I consider even though the NPS is going to give you a very 

clear indication of what is required, it does state that it is a guide and, 

therefore, I think it is appropriate to take into account the provisions 

that are in the RPS as well at a local level. 25 

 

MS GARVAN:  But the Hearings Panel has to give effect to the NPS on 

electricity transmission does it not? 

 

MS CAMERON:   Yes, that is right. 30 

 

MS GARVAN:   And it also has to give effect to the Canterbury Regional 

Policy Statement. 

 

MS CAMERON:   Yes, the Regional Policy Statement as a whole so with you 35 

referring me to chapter 16, it is also appropriate to be looking at 

chapter 9 where he provisions on biodiversity offset are set out clearly.   

 

MS GARVAN:  But those provisions do not actually compel biodiversity 

offsetting, do they? 40 

 

MS CAMERON:   In chapter - - - 

 

MS GARVAN:   In chapter 9. 

 45 

MS CAMERON:   - - - 9. 
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SJH:   Be conscious of your time, Ms Garvan, please. 

 

MS GARVAN:   Sir. 

 5 

MS CAMERON:   I am not sure if I totally agree with you given that policy 

9.3.1 (a) says “areas identified as significant will be protected to ensure 

a no net loss”. 

 

MS GARVAN:   And that relates to those areas. 10 

 

MS CAMERON:   And relates to biodiversity off-settings. 

 

MS GARVAN:   Do you accept that, as a planner, the benefits of new assets or 

upgrades the National Grid is an appropriate matter to assess when 15 

determining whether or not indigenous vegetation clearance is 

appropriate? 

 

MS CAMERON:   Yes I do. 

 20 

MS GARVAN:   Just turning now to the provisions relating to access tracks.  

Have you had an opportunity to read the rule Ms McLeod proposes in 

exhibit 4 relating to access tracks? 

 

MS CAMERON:   I have read it.  However, yes I have read it but I am still a 25 

little bit unsure of it. 

 

MS GARVAN:   So you do not agree with it? 

 

MS CAMERON:   I have questions around it in terms of I am not too sure the 30 

need for the 1 and the2 within the RDX on amended rule 11.3.1.2.  Just 

seems like there is a bit of overlap that may be able to be addressed. 

 

MS GARVAN:  Setting that aside though, do you accept that this rule 

addresses your concern that the adverse effects of the construction or 35 

extension of access track associated with utilities on the landscape or 

natural character overlays, has not been addressed? 

 

  [3.00 pm] 

 40 

MS CAMERON:   I still have a residual concern about policy 11.1.2.1, with 

the two qualifiers that are within that policy, that policy includes 

“where reasonably” and it also refers to significant adverse effects on 

those outstanding and significant values. 

 45 
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 So I think in answering your question, looking at the rule as it stands 

alone, I have no concerns, but when you look at it within the package I 

have concerns. 

 

MS GARVAN:   And will you be happy to discuss those concerns with Ms 5 

McLeod further? 

 

MS CAMERON:   Yes, I am. 

 

MS GARVAN:   This may also be just a point of clarification, but the revised 10 

proposal included in the Council’s evidence-in-chief included reference 

to strategic infrastructure and having regard to the location/technical 

and operational requirements in policy 9.2.2.7(f); do you agree to the 

additions of those?  Is that an admission? 

 15 

MS CAMERON:   Yes, it was. 

 

MS GARVAN:   Thank you.  So we had up on the screen earlier, reference to 

policy 16.3.43(a) of the Canterbury Regional Policy Statement - - -  

 20 

SJH:   Have you much more, Ms Garvan? 

 

MS GARVAN:   No, sir, just a few more questions. 

 

SJH:   If you need more than 10 minutes, you were told before if you want 25 

more than the default period ask for it, you did not, so bear that in mind 

in future. 

 

MS GARVAN:   Sorry, sir, we actually did and that was granted, I do not 

know if that has been reflected, I did not pick up a schedule this 30 

morning, but it was shown yesterday 20 minutes. 

 

SJH:   My fault, it is down there, yes, my apologies – but you are getting close 

to the longer limit at the moment. 

 35 

MS GARVAN:   Yes, only a few more questions left. 

 

SJH:   Well, could they be put somewhat more directly, it would be better. 

 

MS GARVAN:   Okay, yes, sir.  So if I just take you then to policy 8 of the 40 

NPS and electricity transmission, this is in the context of policy 

11.1.2.1. 

 

 So policy 8 states that in rural environments planning and development 

of the transmission system should seek to avoid adverse effects on 45 
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outstanding natural landscapes, areas of high natural character and 

areas of high recreation value and amenity, does it not? 

 

MS CAMERON:   Yes, it does. 

 5 

MS GARVAN:   And this policy does not require no effects, does it? 

 

MS CAMERON:   No. 

 

MS GARVAN:   And we have established the Replacement Plan has to give 10 

effect to the NPS? 

 

MS CAMERON:   Yes. 

 

MS GARVAN:   Thank you, no further questions. 15 

 

SJH:   Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, Ms Cameron, in answer to questions from Ms 

Limmer, you accepted that it may well be possible to achieve the same 20 

outcomes with restricted discretionary activity status as noncomplying 

status for tenants of indigenous vegetation in SES? 

 

MS CAMERON:   Yes. 

 25 

MS DAWSON:   But you still said that you preferred noncomplying activity 

status, and I think in answer, sorry, another question you said, “As long 

as if the matters of discretion are clearly define then there would be no 

need to look at wider matters so long as they are comprehensive 

enough”. 30 

 

 So why do you continue to prefer - - -  

 

MS CAMERON:   The noncomplying activity status? 

 35 

MS DAWSON:   As noncomplying as being more appropriate? 

 

MS CAMERON:   Just that the noncomplying activity status, as it is written, 

applies to the SESs, and so those are the areas that have been identified 

as being significant, they are matters of national importance, and in 40 

terms of the sites that had been identified and the sites that are yet to be 

identified, it is a small, small number. 

 

 So putting those things together, it is my opinion that the 

noncomplying activity status is appropriate, as well as sending a clear 45 
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message that these places are matters of national importance and 

therefore they need to be treated in a way that is a harder test. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So where in the Act does it say that a noncomplying activity 

has any relationship to a matter of national importance? 5 

 

MS CAMERON:   It does not. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And you are satisfied the same outcomes could be achieved 

as no reason why one will be granted more than another? 10 

 

  [3.05 pm] 

 

MS CAMERON:  No, I accept that, I Just, it is my opinion that, I guess it is 

more commonly – if a layperson is reading the Plan and they see a non-15 

complying activity status, they get that impression that it is a harder test 

and it is more important value that needs to be tested in a more 

thorough way.  

 

MS DAWSON:  So is it more the impression that it gives and the common 20 

usage of non-complying rather than any technical planning outcome 

related reason? 

 

MS CAMERON:   Yes.  

 25 

MS DAWSON:  All right, thank you.  I just want to take you to the exemptions 

in 9.1 something 216, some of which you have supported.  In some of 

these exemptions such as tracks and fences and tanks, there is a 

distance each side of those that limits the extent of vegetation 

clearance, which I understand you support, is that correct? 30 

 

MS CAMERON:   Yes.  

 

MS DAWSON: So why do you think it is appropriate to have a distance 

defined for those sorts of activities which we have heard are commonly 35 

undertaken farming activities, but not for clearance related to a new 

access to an existing electricity infrastructure or the utilities, which do 

not have those sort of confined boundaries to them. 

 

MS CAMERON:  Yes, I guess with the latter, because it is not an existing 40 

activity, the existing track will not be there, so it kind of becomes a 

moot point as to whether you can have a one metre or a five metre 

buffer either side of the track, because the point is, is that the track has 

to be formed in the first place. 

 45 
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MS DAWSON:   So it is sort of like a good luck for the utilities new track and 

bad luck for the others because they have got something that a distance 

can be defined around.  I mean is there a good planning reason for 

saying a farmer must not go more than one metre outside their existing 

track, but if you are putting a new track in there is no distance?  I mean 5 

how do the benefits and costs weigh up that one is appropriate and the 

other is not appropriate in terms of defining limits? 

 

MS CAMERON:   So in terms of the purpose of the track, if it is to service the 

utility or if it is servicing a farm track it should not matter what the 10 

purpose of the track is, is just should be the same.  

 

 In terms of your second point, the intent is to capture new tracks in 

rules and to protect maintenance and existing use rights by the 

extensions. 15 

 

MS DAWSON:   But Roman 13 is a similar rule for a repair and maintenance 

of existing utilities for example and they don’t have any limits placed 

around them. 

 20 

MS CAMERON:   Yes, I see.  

 

MS DAWSON:   Why do the benefits and costs weigh up as being limitations 

on farmer extent for normal activities is appropriate but for these other 

activities relating to utilities – the electricity infrastructure, et cetera it 25 

is not appropriate?  Is there any rationale for that? 

 

MS CAMERON:   So the way that I understand it, and maybe it has not come 

across as being written as such, is that for the utilities and strategic 

infrastructure it was meant to be more enabling to recognise the 30 

direction that was in the RPS and the National Policy Statements, so 

that is why there is the extension for minor upgrading.  

 

MS DAWSON:   So utilities and infrastructure get an easier road - - - 

 35 

MS CAMERON:   An easier road. 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - because of high order documents 

 

MS CAMERON:   That is right. 40 

 

MS DAWSON:   And that is the sole reason that you are aware of? 

 

MS CAMERON:   Yes. 

 45 
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MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you.   Now, I just want to talk to you about 

these dates, because you talked about the dates for improved pasture, 

there are dates for grazing, whether it is permitted grazing and 

maintenance and improvement of pasture, inside or outside of 

ecological SES’s. 5 

 

MS CAMERON:   Yes.   

 

MS DAWSON:  Have you have heard the evidence about the difficulty of 

knowing in 10 years’ time what level of activity was carried out at that 10 

date, whether it was improved pasture at that time, what grazing was 

undertaken at that time.  And you have heard– and did you hear the 

evidence from farmers about the fact that they do not do the same thing 

every year, they change their activities and one year they will be doing 

something one way and another will be slightly different. 15 

 

  [3.10 pm] 

 

MS CAMERON:   I did not hear the evidence, but I understand. 

 20 

MS DAWSON:   All right, I am interested in why are you firm about these 

dates and having dates, why they are needed, what risks they relate to 

and how you balance the benefits of having a date versus the 

uncertainty, the difficulties of applying them and the difficulties that 

might bring for a farmer in carrying out the activities that are intended 25 

to be allowed? 

 

MS CAMERON:   In terms of the improved pasture definition that date we 

have proposed with Isaacs to change to 2005, and so it is my 

understanding that the justification for the 2005 date is that between 30 

2005 and now - - -  

 

MS DAWSON:   My question was about any date, not whether it should be 

2005 – why is that whole clause about dates that has just come in on 

improved pasture which has come in through the Crown’s submission.  35 

Why is there any need for dates given the difficulties associated with 

them? 

 

MS CAMERON:   The need is to capture those areas that may have 

regenerated and the value has become of such that they are now 40 

significant and that a permitted activity framework may no longer be 

appropriate for activities that might adversely affect those values that 

are there, that are now located there. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So were you here yesterday to hear some of the farmer 45 

evidence why they said that the kanuka can grow so quickly that they 
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can only afford to get back to clear it every 10 years say given the 

amount that has to be managed on their farms, and to have a date that 

sets in stone their ongoing cycle of farming activities will be a 

considerable cost and not a benefit to them. 

 5 

 Have you weighed those sorts of costs against the benefits of capturing 

the sorts of issue you have talked about? 

 

MS CAMERON:   No, I have not, but I would be interested to know if a farmer 

does not undertake an activity within the 10 year cycle – I am sorry, I 10 

am going to go back to the 2005, I know you do not want about 

specifics but in terms of that given it was 2005 and we have progressed 

10 years on, or 11 years on now from that date, I wonder if a farmer 

would have done his or her activity within the 10 years, so I am just 

wondering if the dates are theoretical or a practical issue. 15 

 

MS DAWSON:   My question is; have you in discussion with the people that 

are going to be impacted by this rule other than Isaacs have obtained 

enough information that you have weighed up the benefits and costs to 

the people affected by it versus the vegetation that might be protected 20 

by it? 

 

MS CAMERON:   No, I have not. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you.  Now my last question is similar, you 25 

have supported quite a number of changes to the rules that have come 

over outside the significant areas from the Banks Peninsula mediated 

agreement.  They have come over in the notified proposal, they have 

been amended through submissions and you seem to support many of 

those amendments and the amendments already done by the Council, 30 

have you weighed up the benefits and costs of making those changes 

versus the risks or costs of those compared with staying the same, like 

the change per se has benefits and costs have you weighed those up? 

 

MS CAMERON:   No, I have not. 35 

 

MS DAWSON:   Have you seen anywhere that has been weighed up? 

 

MS CAMERON:   No, I have not. 

 40 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you very much, that is all my questions. 

 

SJH:   Dr Mitchell? 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Thank you, sir. 45 
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 Hello Ms Cameron, just to start off with the provisions that you are 

supporting if the outcome of those were to place an SES on a particular 

property such that the ongoing farming operations on that property 

were significantly curtailed to the point that they were uneconomic, if 

that was the scenario that resulted how does that promote sustainable 5 

management? 

 

  [3.15 pm] 

 

MS CAMERON:   I guess it doesn’t, however, a farmer would be able to rely 10 

on existing use rights and provided that they did not intend on 

intensifying, I don’t know if it would actually change their operation. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Well, let us say it did. 

 15 

MS CAMERON:   So they wanted to up - - - 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Well circumstances change, we had evidence yesterday that 

one of the farmers on Kaitorete Spit said we have undertaken our 

operation in a certain way for a long period of time, here are some 20 

circumstances that might arise where we would have to change those 

because of, the example he used, was that the potato crop area might 

become blighted with nematodes or something. 

 

 If that were the case he said I would have no choice but to go to this 25 

area here, that area would potentially be covered by an SES.  If that 

were the case, would you see the SES provisions trumping the ability 

for him to say well, that’s what I need to do? 

 

MS CAMERON:   That would make it very hard for him. 30 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Is that what your intention would be with the provisions that 

you have had, that you are supporting, it would be tough luck for the 

farmer? 

 35 

MS CAMERON:   No, I think, Mr Bayley – his is a unique situation given the 

percentage of his property that is covered - - - 

 

DR MITCHELL:   I accept that, but we have heard evidence from a number of 

farmers, all of whom have said several things.  One is these have been 40 

imposed on our property without consultation. 

 

 Second of all, they have the potential to significantly alter or curtail the 

operations that we either currently undertake or may wish to undertake 

in the future and we have already done a significant amount of 45 

enhancement works without the necessity for rules. 
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 And I am not expressing any view on that, but if that is the case and 

they then say, well notwithstanding that situation, you impose an SES 

on our land that has significant implications on the way that we run our 

operation, is your evidence that it is tough luck for the farmer, that the 5 

SES provision should prevail? 

 

MS CAMERON:   I don’t know if tough – I don’t want to say yes because you 

are using the words ‘tough luck’ - - -   

 10 

DR MITCHELL:   Let us say he makes a resource consent application to do 

something which is what he is forced to do under these provisions. 

 

MS CAMERON:   Yes. 

 15 

DR MITCHELL: And the implication for what he wants to do is to have a 

significant effect on the SES but it is a balance between the two.  

Presumably, you would be coming along and saying well the SES 

provisions prevail, because there are no provisions that I am aware of, 

that would allow him to make the argument as to the implications of 20 

him. 

 

 Because as a non-complying activity in the first place, he would be 

reliant on either minor effects which he would not be able to satisfy or 

not contrary to the objectives and policies, all of which relate to 25 

protecting the SES, so it is tough luck, isn’t it?   

 

MS CAMERON:   It is a hard road for him, yes, I agree. 

 

DR MITCHELL: Do you think that is the intention in promoting sustainable 30 

management that we should be adopting in relation to SESs? 

 

MS CAMERON:  Yes, and no.  Yes, just because these section 6C matters, but 

I do note that it is still subject to section 5, so in terms of sustainable 

management but it may not be a (INDISTINCT 3.55) test. 35 

 

DR MITCHELL:   All right, thank you, I do not think I can take it any further.  

Looking at it – this particular question from a planning point of view 

rather than an ecological point of view, when assessing no net loss of 

biodiversity relating to a particular proposal on a particular site, at what 40 

scale is no net loss to be assessed? 

 

MS CAMERON:   I do not know, I guess within the boundary of the site, but 

sorry, sir, I do not know. 

 45 
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DR MITCHELL:   All right, okay, I cannot take that any further either.  One of 

the suggestions that the farming folk have raised with us as an 

alternative to the SES and resource consent approach, is to make 

greater use of (a) consultation, and (b) what they call farm environment 

plans, and they accepted that the farm environment plans that they 5 

currently have address a multitude of things but are not specifically 

focused on chapter 9.1 matters. 

 

  [3.20 pm] 

 10 

 But assuming that they were modified in that regard, can you envisage 

a regime where a more voluntary process, focused on the development 

of those farm environmental plans, might better facilitate the protection 

of biodiversity than a much more strongly regulated approach might? 

 15 

MS CAMERON: Yes, and I consider it would need to be considered within a 

package of tools, so that there may be regulatory controls sitting 

alongside. 

 

DR MITCHELL: All right, thank you. You have, in your attachment 3, 20 

suggested a restructuring of chapter 9 to put common issues within a 

single place. 

 

MS CAMERON:   In 9.2. 

 25 

DR MITCHELL:   In 9.2, sorry. 

 

MS CAMERON:   Yes. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   If that is the case, and you will have heard the questions I 30 

have asked about rural amenity landscapes on Banks Peninsula. 

 

MS CAMERON:   Yes. 

 

DR MITCHELL:  Given that there is only one policy and given that that policy 35 

repeats a large amount of material that sits in the rural provisions 

anyway, the approach of putting that new policy into the rural section 

and leaving it out of landscape altogether, because it is at a lower 

threshold anyway, you would presumably support that? 

 40 

MS CAMERON:   Yes, I would. 

 

DR MITCHELL:  Thank you, and just lastly, relating to Exhibit 5, which is the 

amended provisions that you were a party to the other day. 

 45 

MS CAMERON:   Yes. 



 Page 669 

  

Ch9: Natural and Cultural Heritage Commenced 18.01.16 

 

DR MITCHELL:  Policy 2 takes a different approach to land within the coastal 

environment and outside the coastal environment and I think the reason 

for that is because of policy 11 of the New Zealand Coastal Policy 

Statement, do you agree with that? 5 

 

MS CAMERON:   Yes, that is right, yes. 

 

DR MITCHELL:  If policy 2A(i) the avoiding adverse effects on indigenous 

ecosystems or species in relation to sites of ecological significance, and 10 

there is this test of avoiding effects, based on the New Zealand Coastal 

Policy Statement, then presumably you would agree that the criteria 

used in the District Plan to determine sites of ecological significance 

would need to line up with those in policy 11 of the NZCPS in order to 

ensure that you do not either over or under - - - 15 

 

MS CAMERON:   I understand and, yes, I agree. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   - - - constrain a decision on those.  Do you agree with that? 

 20 

MS CAMERON:   Yes, I do. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   All right, thank you.  Thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Huria? 25 

 

MS HURIA:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:  Judge and just to record the Judge has already earlier indicated he 

recuses himself from matters relating to Transpower and the national 30 

grid. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Thank you, sir.  Ms Cameron, I have just got a targeted 

few questions for you.  If you could go to paragraph 2.4 of your 

evidence-in-chief just to help frame a brief discussion. There you 35 

explain that you have been authorised by the Department of 

Conservation to give this evidence. So the Department of Conservation, 

under the Conservation Act, has got a specific advocacy function, has it 

not? 

 40 

MS CAMERON:   Yes, it does. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, and as part of the CERA team, am I right to 

understand that DoC’s participation is pursuant to its statutory 

functions? 45 
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MS CAMERON:   I guess so.  I am not aware of any conversations deviating 

from that. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, and as an officer of DoC you are giving evidence 

also in accordance with the Department’s statutory functions? 5 

 

MS CAMERON:   Yes, I am. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 10 

MS CAMERON:   But not – when I prepared the evidence I was employed by 

the Department of Conservation as a planner. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 15 

MS CAMERON: And I have been engaged to prepare an independent planning 

- - - 

 

SJH:   Well, we will have to determine the level of independence in the 

circumstances. 20 

 

MS CAMERON:   Okay. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN: Was there an explicit conversation by anyone in the 

management of the Department of Conservation to say you were 25 

authorised to give evidence that went outside the statutory advocacy 

function? 

 

MS CAMERON:   No. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you. 

 

  [3.25 pm] 

 

SJH:   Ms Cameron, just following on from Ms Dawson’s questions about the 35 

time limit and you referred to the ten year turnaround and said you 

would be interested to know from the farmers why that was not an 

adequate timeframe.  Have you personally engaged with farmers and 

talked to them about how they operate? 

 40 

MS CAMERON:   Not for this evidence, but I was born and raised on a farm 

and my parents still live on that farm so even though I am a planner I 

have kind of got a little bit of farming experience behind me as well. 
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SJH:   Well we will leave that out of the independence question as well.  You 

would understand then the need for flexibility and that farming 

practices change? 

 

MS CAMERON:   Yes. 5 

 

SJH:   And have you talked to all of the Banks Peninsula farmers that are 

involved as submitters to be able to say that Mr Bayley’s situation is 

unique? 

 10 

MS CAMERON:   No, not at all, however I have spoken with Dr Hooson about 

- - - 

 

SJH:   Well, we know Dr Hooson did a desktop study, that is not what I am 

asking you.  Have you engaged with them? 15 

 

MS CAMERON:   No, I have not. 

 

SJH:   And you have not spoken to Mr Hutchinson? 

 20 

MS CAMERON:   No, I have not. 

 

SJH:   And you would be aware that existing use rights are very hard to 

establish? 

 25 

MS CAMERON:   Yes, and I think probably particularly for farming activities. 

 

SJH:   Close to impossible? 

 

MS CAMERON:   I guess so. 30 

 

SJH:   Given they have to be flexible? 

 

MS CAMERON:   I guess so. 

 35 

SJH:   Just while we are bringing up policy 9.3.1 of the RPS, you would have 

heard my exchange this morning with Mr Head? 

 

MS CAMERON:   Yes, I did. 

 40 

SJH:   And do you agree with what I put to Mr Head? 

 

MS CAMERON:   In terms of method three? 

 

SJH:   In terms of what I put to Mr Head this morning, you were here? 45 
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MS CAMERON:   Yes, but sorry, sir, can you please - - - 

 

SJH:   So you want me to go through it again? 

 

MS CAMERON:   If you do not mind. 5 

 

SJH:   All right.  The bold wording of the policy does not require rules, does it? 

 

MS CAMERON:   No, it does not. 

 10 

SJH:   And it sets out a method whereby significance in relation to areas or 

habitats are to be determined in accordance with appendix 3. 

 

MS CAMERON:   Yes. 

 15 

SJH:   And that is an activity that Mr Head agreed with me, is something that 

would need to be carried out by ecologists. 

 

MS CAMERON:   Yes. 

 20 

SJH:   Then if we go to methods, the territorial authority and the first paragraph 

of three has to have objectives and policies to provide for identification 

and protection of significant indigenous vegetation and habitats of 

indigenous fauna and may include methods and then if we go to the 

next one it requires the territorial authority to have appropriate rules to 25 

manage the clearance of indigenous vegetation, do you accept that? 

 

MS CAMERON:   Yes, I do. 

 

SJH:   The need to provide for a case by case assessment, correct? 30 

 

MS CAMERON:   Yes. 

 

SJH:   Where there are significant areas of indigenous vegetation or significant 

habitat of indigenous fauna, to determine whether they warrant 35 

protection. 

 

MS CAMERON:   Yes. 

 

SJH:   So it is for the territorial authority to determine whether or not the 40 

significant areas of indigenous vegetation or a habitat of indigenous 

fauna warrant protection? 

 

MS CAMERON:  Yes, and I would assume that they would do that after 

receiving advice from the appropriate qualified person. 45 
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SJH:   But it is inherent in the terms “warrants protection” that the local 

authority could determine after the case by case assessment that an area 

did not warrant protection. 

 

MS CAMERON:   Yes. 5 

 

SJH:   You would accept that? 

 

MS CAMERON:   Yes. 

 10 

SJH:   And it is also inherent in that, is it not, that that is a wider judgement call 

than simply whether or not there are areas of significant indigenous 

vegetation or significant habitat?  

 

MS CAMERON:   I think policy 9.3.1.3 where it states areas identified 15 

significant will be protected - - -  

 

  [3.30 pm] 

 

SJH:   I am asking you about that second paragraph. 20 

 

MS CAMERON:   I think if you read the paragraph in isolation, yes. 

 

SJH:   Not even reading it in isolation; if it is simply that they must have 

appropriate rules to manage the clearance where there is significant 25 

indigenous vegetation or habitat, there would be no need to add the 

words “that warrants protection”, would it? 

 

MS CAMERON:   No. 

 30 

SJH:   So you agree my interpretation must be correct? 

 

MS CAMERON:   Yes. 

 

SJH:   It must involve a wider consideration of whether or not there significant 35 

vegetation or habitat? 

 

MS CAMERON:   Yes. 

 

SJH:   And ultimately that is a decision for the territorial authority? 40 

 

MS CAMERON:   Yes. 

 

SJH:   The ultimate decision maker of the territorial authority is the community 

through its elected representatives is it not? 45 
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MS CAMERON:   Yes, it is. 

 

SJH:   Just to repeat it is inherent in that that the following a case by case 

assessment the territorial authority can decide an area or a habitat does 

not warrant protection? 5 

 

MS CAMERON:   That would be right. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Anything arising, Ms Garvan? 

 10 

MS GARVAN:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Mr Conway? 

 

MR CONWAY:   No, thank you, sir. 15 

 

SJH:   Ms Limmer? 

 

MS LIMMER:   No, thank you. 

 20 

SJH:   Mr Radich, re-examination? 

 

MR RADICH:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Ms Cameron, you may stand down. 25 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [3.31 pm] 

 

SJH:   Thank you everybody, we have all got out of school early today, so 

thank you for that and we will adjourn until 9.30 am tomorrow 30 

morning. 

 

MATTER ADJOURNED AT 3.31 PM UNTIL 

FRIDAY, 22 JANUARY 2016 


